Aus dem Institut für Medizinische Informationsverarbeitung, Biometrie und Epidemiologie

(IBE) der Universität München



Dissertation

zum Erwerb des Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.) in Epidemiology und Public Health

an der Medizinischen Fakultät der

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

Mental Health in Dermatology: Addictions in Psoriasis and an Outlook on the Psychosocial Burden of Chronic Skin Diseases

vorgelegt von

Maximilian Christian Schielein

aus

Nürnberg, Deutschland

Jahr

Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität München

PrivDoz. Dr. Dr. med. Alexander Zink, MPH
Prof. Dr. Eva Grill, MPH
Prof. Dr. med. dent. Reinhard Hickel

Datum der Verteidigung: 23. März 2021

Affidavit

I, Maximilian Christian Schielein, hereby declare, that the submitted thesis entitled

Mental Health in Dermatology: Addictions in Psoriasis and an Outlook on the Psychosocial Burden of Chronic Skin Diseases

is my own work. I have only used the sources indicated and have not made unauthorized use of services of a third party. Where the work of others has been quoted or reproduced, the source is always given.

I further declare that the submitted thesis or parts thereof have not been presented as part of an examination degree to any other university.

Munich, April 6th 2021

Maximilian Christian Schielein

Confirmation of congruency between printed and electronic version of the doctoral thesis

I, Maximilian Christian Schielein, hereby declare, that the submitted thesis entitled

Mental Health in Dermatology: Addictions in Psoriasis and an Outlook on the Psychosocial Burden of Chronic Skin Diseases

is congruent with the printed version both in content and format.

Munich, April 6th 2021

Maximilian Christian Schielein

Table of Contents

List of Abbreviations
Publication List7
Doctoral Thesis: Introductory Summary
References
Publication I: PeakPASI: A new measurement tool in psoriasis care
Publication II: Always Online? Internet Addiction and Social Impairment in Psoriasis across Germany
Publication III: People-centered care for psoriasis and urticaria: Are we overlooking Internet addiction while only considering patients and physician settings?
Publication IV: Genital psoriasis and associated factors of sexual avoidance – a people-centered cross-sectional study in Germany
Appendix I: Psoriasis and addictions: assessing mental health in a cross-sectional study across Germany
Appendix II: Stigmatization caused by hair loss – a systematic literature review
Acknowledgements
Scientific Publications

List of Abbreviations

BMG	Bundesministerium für Gesundheit (Federal Ministry of Health)				
BVDD	Bundesverband der Deutschen Dermatologen (Association of the German Dermatologists)				
CU	Chronic urticaria				
DLQI	Dermatology Life Quality Index				
DSM-5	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition				
НСР	Health care professional				
MOOSE	Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology				
OR	Odds Ratio				
PASI	Psoriasis Area and Severity Index				
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-analyses report				
WHA	World Health Assembly				
WHO	World Health Organization				

Publication List

Tizek L, **Schielein MC**, Zink, A. PeakPASI: A new measurement tool in psoriasis care. J Am Acad Dermatol 2020; [epub ahead of print]

Schielein MC, Tizek L, Schuster B, Ziehfreund S, Liebram C, Eyerich K et al. Always Online? Internet Addiction and Social Impairment in Psoriasis across Germany. J Clin Med 2020; 9(6):1818.

Schielein MC, Tizek L, Baeumer D, Hillmann E, Romer K, Wagner N, Zink A. People-centered care for psoriasis and urticaria: Are we overlooking Internet addiction while only considering patients and physician settings?. J Dermatol 2020; [accepted]

Schielein MC, Tizek L, Schuster B, Ziehfreund S, Biedermann T, Zink A. Genital Psoriasis and Associated Factors of Sexual Avoidance - A People-centered Cross-sectional Study in Germany. Acta Derm Venereol 2020; 100(10):adv00151.

Apendix List

Schielein MC, Tizek L, Knobloch L, Maaßen D, Bidermann T, Zink A. Psoriasis and addictions: assessing mental health in a cross-sectional study across Germany; [under review]

Schielein MC, Tizek, L, Ziehfreund S, Sommer R, Biedermann T, Zink, A. Stigmatization caused by hair loss – a systematic literature review. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges. 2020; [epub ahead of print]

Doctoral Thesis: Introductory Summary

Skin diseases are common throughout society and up to 60% of individuals are affected at any point in time (1). In general, they represent the fourth most common cause of non-fatal disease, and due to their morbidity, the burden of skin diseases is high (2, 3). Many skin diseases like psoriasis, chronic urticaria (CU), and alopecia are chronic in nature and require professional treatment. Psoriasis affects about 100 million individuals worldwide, and its prevalence in developed countries ranges from 1.5% to 5.0% (4), with a reported prevalence of 2.5% for Germany (5). In addition to many other comorbidities like psoriatic arthritis and cardio metabolic diseases, psoriasis is also associated with substantial mental burden (6). In 2014, psoriasis was identified as one of the five most impairing non-communicable diseases by the World Health Assembly (WHA) (7). Subsequently, the World Health Organization (WHO) issued and released the global report on psoriasis in 2016, which sheds light on the comprehensive burden of psoriasis (8).

Regarding the mental burden of skin diseases in general, a European study among 13 countries showed that people with skin diseases have an approximately twofold risk for depression and anxiety disorder compared to healthy individuals (9). For individuals with psoriasis, the risk is three times higher. Furthermore, several studies have found psoriasis to be associated with addictions (10–12). A meta-analysis suggested that patients with psoriasis have a pooled Odds Ratio (OR) of 1.78 for smoking in comparison to healthy controls (10). A systematic review suggested that alcohol consumption is higher among patients with psoriasis (11). However, evidence about other addictions hardly exists. Thus far, one monocentric study among 102 psoriasis patients indicated higher values for compulsive gambling and drug abuse in addition to a higher prevalence of smoking and alcohol dependency in patients with psoriasis compared to the general population (12). Other addictions, such as Internet addiction, have not yet been studied.

Along with the mental burden of the disease, the WHA and WHO emphasized the occurring stigmatization of psoriasis (7, 8). To illustrate the need for action, the WHO provided the example of a man who was ejected from a public pool due to other guest complaining about his psoriatic skin lesions. Despite knowing that the lesions were non-contagious, the lifeguards requested him to leave to satisfy the other guests (8). As psoriasis can cover any amount of body surface and any body localization including the genital and anal area, social impairments can occur in various situations, including very intimate situations such as sexual contact. While patients with psoriasis in general tend to have impaired quality of life and tend to avoid sexual contact, patients with genital

involvement report even poorer outcomes in both (13–15). Prevalence estimates for genital involvement are highly heterogeneous and range from 7% to 42% of all patients with psoriasis (16). Furthermore, 60% of affected patients from a French study indicated that they were aware of the genital involvement of their psoriasis; however, this genital involvement was not previously examined by an health care professional (HCP) (17). Affected individuals often hide this additional, personal, and very intimate burden rather than discuss it with their HCP, which could lead to an underestimation of the prevalence of genital psoriasis (17). However, despite effective treatments being available (15, 18), still many individuals with psoriasis do not seek medical care at all and therefore do not receive appropriate treatment (19).

Within their report, the WHO emphasized the importance of people-centered care approaches, especially for chronic skin diseases like psoriasis (8). The corresponding call for action addressing governments and policy makers included early detection as well as adequate medical treatment (8). Addressing HCPs, the WHO further emphasized the detection of psoriasis and comorbidities in all medical disciplines and the need to provide comprehensive care in multidisciplinary teams of specialists (e.g. dermatologists, rheumatologists, psychologists) using a holistic approach (8, 20). Another call for action of the WHA resolution addressed all member states directly and demanded to raise awareness for the psychosocial burden of psoriasis (7). Therefore, prevention programs should be implemented to reduce stigmatization, which had been identified as a major factor for mental burden in chronic skin diseases. These programs ideally have the potential to be extended to other visible skin manifestations like atopic dermatitis, alopecia, and CU, which all are accompanied by a substantial burden (2, 21-23). One example for the implementation of this demand is a nationwide task force founded by the Federal Ministry of Health (Bundesministerium für Gesundheit; BMG) in Germany, which aimed to widen the horizon of dermatological research and focus to not only include psoriasis, but include all visible skin diseases and their potential stigmatization (24, 25).

Subsequently, the aim of this doctoral thesis was to follow the WHO's call for action and to further characterize the mental burden of chronic skin diseases. This thesis therefore focused on (I) addictions in psoriasis, especially Internet addiction, using both patient-physician settings and a people-centered care approach, (II) genital psoriasis and sexual avoidance, and (III) stigmatization of people with alopecia as part of a nationwide BMG project and as an outlook for diseases other than psoriasis.

Psoriasis and addictions: assessing mental health in a cross-sectional study across Germany (Appendix I)

While many studies suggested a high prevalence of alcohol dependency and cigarette smoking in patients with psoriasis (9–11, 26, 27), Zink et al. performed the first study that investigated further addictions in a single-center study and revealed a high positive screening rate for compulsive gambling and drug abuse in 102 patients with psoriasis (12). Subsequently, the aim of this study was to estimate the prevalence of six common addictions (smoking, alcohol, gambling, Internet, food, and drugs) among patients with psoriasis to generate findings in a multi-center approach across Germany. Additionally, clinical factors associated with the occurrence of the respective addictions were to be identified, which were thought to function as indicators of poor mental health in time-restricted clinical practice.

In this cross-sectional study, 32 dermatological practices and 4 dermatological clinics across south-western Germany recruited a total of 502 patients (mean age: 49.7 ± 14.6 years; 43.4%women) between September 2018 and November 2019. Screenings for all mental health outcomes were performed using standardized and validated questionnaires and a one-question item on tobacco smoking. First findings by Zink et al. were confirmed, and positive screening rates for pathological gambling and drug abuse exceeded those reported for the general population (gambling: 1.2% vs. 0.2% (28); drug abuse: 6.0% vs. 3.2%-5.2% (29)). Furthermore, the rate of positive screenings regarding Internet addiction was higher than in a representative sample of German adolescents (3.8% vs. 3.2%) (30). This rate was surprisingly high considering that Internet addiction decreases with rising age (31, 32) and that the participants' mean age in this study (49.7 years) was considerably higher than the participants' mean age in the comparison study (14.9 years). With limited time per patient in clinical practice, the second aim of this study was to identify certain influencing factors for the occurrence of the respective addictions. Younger age was associated with a higher chance for the occurrence of most addictions. Other associated factors were however inconsistent. Therefore, standardized and not too time-consuming assessments of mental comorbidities might be of high value for future psoriasis care.

This study was also used to test the hypothesis of a pervious published study (12). As the 'Psoriasis Area and Severity Index' (PASI), the most common used measurement to assess the characteristics of psoriasis, only represents disease severity at one time point, it might not be conclusive for a lifetime burden, which potentially cumulate throughout patients' medical history

(33, 34). Therefore, we aimed to determine the association of patients highest ever documented PASI, the 'PeakPASI', and patient reported outcomes.

PeakPASI: A new measurement tool in psoriasis care

All participating dermatologists were asked to provide the PeakPASI for each patient. Overall, PeakPASI values for 398 patients were recorded. To assess differences in the study population, two PeakPASI thresholds were chosen: ≥ 10 , based on clinical practice and ≥ 13.6 , based on a median split. According to the median split-based analyses, patients having a higher PeakPASI were more likely to show higher 'Dermatology Life Quality Index' (DLQI) values, indicating higher disease related impairment of quality of life, and lower values of heuristic happiness. Even though, the PeakPASI holds some limitations, this letter represents the first report trying to evaluate its potential and to improve comprehensive and patient-centered disease characterization by including a measure for lifetime disease burden.

As a result of the main subject of this study, Internet addiction was found to be of enormous interest. This rising phenomenon of our century was only recently added to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5) as the most potent problem in need of further research and it is showing rising trends with the omnipresence of the Internet and online possibilities (35, 36). As this first study was carried out in a typical medical setting and only considered patients who were in medical care, the study partially neglected the principle of people-centered care demanded by the WHO. Therefore, the second study of the Ph.D. thesis was performed to access individuals who may be neglected by more conventional study methodologies. This study also investigated Internet addiction in conjunction with established addictive comorbidities (alcohol dependency and tobacco smoking) in a more diverse sample of individuals with psoriasis.

Always Online? Internet Addiction and Social Impairment in Psoriasis across Germany

To reach affected individuals, a cross-sectional online survey was designed in collaboration with the online self-help organization 'Psoriasis Netz,' which provides up-to-date information on psoriasis and related topics. The questionnaire was shared via the self-help organization's newsletter, webpage, and social media channels, including Facebook and Twitter. Additionally, it was distributed via the patient organization 'Farbenhaut' and a campaign of the Association of the German Dermatologists (Berufsverband der Deutschen Dermatologen; BVDD) called 'Bitte berühren.' This method was used to reach individuals who (i) were affected by psoriasis and (ii) felt the need for further support and therefore turned to a respective entity. To further emphasize the people-centered nature of this investigation and acknowledge potential psychological components of Internet addictions (37), information about the social impairment of participants as well as activities avoided due to psoriasis was collected.

Overall, 460 individuals (mean age: 45.9±13.7 years; 62.4% women) participated in this study. Of these, 22.8% indicated to do not utilize medical health care at the time of study participation and 88.3% stated to be at least rarely socially impaired. When considering leisure activities, participants with psoriasis most frequently stated swimming as the activity from which they abstained the most. As this is in line with first findings reported in the 1980's (38), these results emphasize the need for interventions such as those planned and conducted by the aforementioned BMG initiative and the importance of reducing stigmatization (24). Free text answers like avoiding 'Any activity requiring short clothing' (woman; 21 years) or 'Roughhousing with my son' (man; 34 years) furthermore underlined the substantial individual burden under which affected individuals often suffer.

The positive screening rate for Internet addiction was 8.5%. This was substantially higher than the positive screening rates reported in the first conducted study and in the literature on the German general population (3.8% vs. 1.0-1.5% (31)). As this study was based on an online approach, one could have anticipated higher positive screening rates, as affected individuals without Internet access were not able to participate. However, a prior study on 245 healthy individuals recruited in an online setting also revealed a prevalence of only 1.2% (39), which increases the meaningfulness of our data among individuals with psoriasis.

Furthermore, 40.0% of participants had positive screenings for depression, 17.1% for alcohol dependency, and 32.6% for daily smoking. When compared to the first study of this thesis and to the general population, respectively, results for smoking were comparable to the results in psoriasis patients in clinics and practices (32.6% vs. 30.3% vs. 15.1% (29)). In contrast, alcohol dependency was found to be more prevalent than in psoriasis patients reported before and the general population (17.1% vs. 8.6% vs. 3.1% (29)). The positive screening rate of depression slightly exceeded previous questionnaire-based findings among patients with psoriasis (40.0% vs. 13.8-39.2% (27)).

While the approach of this study mainly targeted people who subscribed to newsletters or social media channels of certain webpages or who visited the self-help organization's website during the study period, another online study that included short versions of screening questionnaires for

Internet addiction and depression was conducted. As many individuals search for health-related information using search engines (40–43) or social media (44), we decided to target individuals who recently searched for psoriasis or CU using advertisements on Google and Facebook. People with CU were also included in the study, as it is an additional chronic inflammatory skin disease that affects 0.5% of the general population in Europe (45) and is also accompanied by a high mental burden (21, 22). No data on Internet addiction was available for CU so far.

People-centered care for psoriasis and urticaria: Are we overlooking Internet addiction while only considering patients and physician settings?

This cross-sectional study comprises self-reported data from individuals with psoriasis and CU living in Germany using an online survey advertised via Facebook and Google from December 2018 to January 2019.

Overall, 1,686 participants (mean age: 36.9 ± 12.9 years; 74.0% women; 38.5% having psoriasis) were included in this study. More than half of the participants (54.7%) were currently not receiving medical care for their skin disease, with substantially more individuals with CU currently not utilizing medical care (60.3% vs. 45.9%; p<0.001). This proportion was considerably higher than in the third study of this thesis. Overall, 16.0% of participants were screened positive for Internet addiction. This positive screening rate again exceeded that of the online study among individuals reached via self-help groups for psoriasis (8.5%) as well as the positive screening rate among the multi-center study of patients with psoriasis (3.8%) and that of a representative sample of more than 8,130 individuals living in Germany (1.0-1.5%) (31). The inherent characteristics of an online approach might explain the higher positive screening rates in this sample and the sample of participants from an online self-help group. This potential effect, however, was as previously mentioned partly invalidated by Eichelberg et al., who found a prevalence for Internet addiction of only 1.2% among regular Internet users who were recruited, among others, from Facebook (39). This prevalence in turn does not exceed the results for the general German population, which might indicate that individuals with chronic skin manifestation are more likely to be affected by Internet addiction. A comparison of the positive screening rates in the three conducted studies furthermore suggests that individuals reached online might have a greater disease burden than those individuals seen in dermatological clinics and practices.

The results illustrate that the mental burden of individuals affected by psoriasis is high and that addictions, especially Internet addiction, are common among affected individuals. However, this

already high burden of disease increases when the genital area of individuals is affected (13–15, 46). Meanwhile, information on affected individuals outside of a conventional patient-physician setting is nonexistent. Furthermore, previous studies focused on the presence of intimacy avoidance without further qualitative analyses of respective reasons for avoidance. For example, a European cross-sectional study used only one question within the DLQI, stating 'Over the last week, how much has your skin caused any sexual difficulties?' and thus neglecting individual reasons for avoidance (9). Subsequently, the aims of the next study were to investigate the occurrence of genital psoriasis in a non-clinical setting and to determine factors related to the avoidance of sexual activities due to psoriasis.

Genital Psoriasis and Associated Factors of Sexual Avoidance – A People-centered Crosssectional Study in Germany

This article was published in *Acta Dermato-Venereologica* (ISI Citation Report 2019: Impact factor: 4.016, Ranking: 7/68 [Dermatology]), where it was selected as a 'research highlight of the month,' and subsequently featured in their monthly newsletter (05/2020). The recruitment was carried out mostly via the patient self-help organization 'Psoriasis-Netz' and other institutions from March to June 2019 using a similar methodology as the one described in the second project of this thesis.

Overall, 344 individuals with psoriasis participated (mean age: 44.6 ± 13.2 years; 59.3% women). Of those, 83 (24.1%) did not currently utilize medical care and 198 (57.6%) stated that their genital area was affected. Compared to the prevalence reported in the literature (7-42%) (16), the occurrence of genital psoriasis was considerably higher in this study. In our study, individuals with genital psoriasis also more frequently reported pain (58.6% vs. 26.0%; p<0.001) and avoidance of sexual activities because of their psoriasis (74.2% vs. 52.7%; p<0.001) than those without genital involvement. In line with the limited preexisting literature (46, 13), the most common reason for avoiding sexual activities was shame, followed by pain and the fear of rejection. However, the presence of shame as the most common category implies that focusing on the stigmatization of skin lesions, especially in areas that highly affect individuals' private life, might be beneficial for future people-centered care in psoriasis. Additionally, this study underlined the role of patient organizations in reaching out to highly vulnerable patient groups and individuals who do not seek medical help while promoting people-centered care.

Finally, as an outlook for skin manifestations which should be further considered with regard to stigmatization and social withdrawal and as part of the aforementioned BMG-project (24), a systematic review on stigmatization in individuals with alopecia was conducted.

Stigmatization caused by hair loss – a systematic literature review (Appendix II)

The aim of this additional paper in the scope of the thesis was to systematically summarize existing literature on the stigmatization of hair loss. Alopecia can be present as a symptom due to different pathogeneses and has varying severities (47–49). The most common forms of alopecia are androgenetic alopecia and alopecia areata (47). Additionally, hair loss is a common side effect of cancer treatments (49). According to the WHA resolution (7), psoriasis was selected as a model disease for planning interventions, which would then to be expanded to include other skin diseases. This literature review generated significant attention within the BMG's project initiative, as it was the first review on further dermatological diseases to be conducted, finished, and published.

Stigmatization describes a phenomenon that excludes affected individuals from total social acceptance (50). This problem can be triggered by the patients themselves (internal stigma) or be induced by their environment (external stigma) (50, 51). With regard to the social stigmatization of dermatological diseases, society's point of view may be biased. While analyzing dermatologic findings among all-time top 10 American film villains and heroes, it appeared that substantial skin alterations were only present in villains (52). Subsequently, three out of ten villains showed substantial signs of alopecia, and this characterization of evil characters using alopecia dates as far back as 1921 in the film Nosferatu (53). Further examples for notable alopecic villains include Dr. Hannibal Lecter (The Silence of the Lambs; 1991), Dr. Evil (Austin Powers in Goldmember; 2002), and Lord Voldemort (Harry Potter; 2005-2011). While this association is only exemplary, it might contribute to prejudice and stigmatization, which in turn can lead to reduced mental health and severely impair the quality of life of affected individuals (25, 54). To generate evidence-based knowledge about stigmatization in hair loss, the presented systematic review was planned thoroughly in accordance with the respective 'Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-analyses report' (PRISMA) (55) and 'Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology' (MOOSE) guidelines (56), and was registered within the PROSPERO database (Identification number: CRD42019122966) (57).

Within four databases on medical and psychological scientific literature, 98 publications were identified and entered the screening. After reviewing the publications, 11 articles were included in the review. The identified studies showed a high degree of heterogeneity. Five articles investigated therapy induced alopecia after preexisting cancer, four androgenetic alopecia, three alopecia areata, and one diffuse alopecia. Only four studies shared a common questionnaire for the quantification

of stigmatization; the '*Hairdex*' (58). In combination with the high heterogeneity and partly flawed methodological approaches by different authors, evidence on stigmatization due to alopecia was weak and difficult to compare. Single studies, however, stated perceived stigma of hair loss to be similar to the stigma of psychiatric conditions (59) and more severe than that of vitiligo (60). Although the resulting psychological stress is very high for those affected, stigmatization is often considered as one of many factors that impair quality of life. Overall, the review showed that specific studies on stigmatization in hair loss are rare and that longitudinal studies are non-existent, although they are strongly recommended.

In summary, this Ph.D. thesis contributes to the fundamental characterization of the mental burden of chronic skin diseases, with a focus on psoriasis. It introduced Internet addiction as a possible addictive comorbidity and demonstrated high impairment in chronic skin diseases, particularly in genital psoriasis. Future studies should seek to validate these findings using claims data or suitable control groups. Standardized routine screening could be introduced to detect potential mental health impairments. Additionally, the thesis introduced a measure for disease severity beyond the conventional PASI, the PeakPASI. Even though, it includes limitations, this additional measure has the potential to better characterize disease burden that might accumulate throughout the disease history. Furthermore, the studies of this thesis represent one of the first approaches that focused on people-centered health care in chronic skin diseases as demanded by the WHO. Individuals reached using people-centered approaches showed a substantially higher rate of positive screenings for mental comorbidities than participants recruited from a traditional medical setting. Outreach programs and patient-journey approaches that are personalized and that contact affected individuals in the context of their everyday lives represent a highly promising approach when considering the possibilities of mental burden reduction in individuals affected by chronic skin diseases. Moreover, by exploring the stigmatization of alopecia, the thesis included evidence-based groundwork on another highly stigmatized chronic skin disease. Altogether, the thesis illustrates how chronic skin disorders can influence mental health and that further information on possible psychological comorbidities, like addictions, needs to be covered in future research including patient- and people-centered health care approaches.

Specification of the personal contribution

For the first study and Appendix I, I was responsible for the conceptual design, adaptation according to the comments from all co-authors and my thesis advisory committee, designing a

suitable data protection model, preparing and reaching an ethical approval, and contacting over 200 dermatologists. Furthermore, contracts with all 35 centers had to be implemented. I coordinated all reception of data, payments, data digitalization and validation, data analysis, and preparation of the first manuscript. Lastly, all coauthors revised the manuscript and I submitted it. For the first manuscript, Dr. Linda Tizek and I handled all data analysis and writing likewise, wherefore we shared the first authorship.

For the second and fourth study, I was responsible for the initial founding of the cooperation with the involved patient self-help group, 'Psoriasis Netz'. After several discussions, I created a conceptual study design and adapted it according to the reviews by the patient organization and our working group. Furthermore, I obtained ethics committee approval and programmed the online questionnaire together with Barbara Schuster. After data collection, I was responsible for the data preparation, statistical analyses, and writing of the initial manuscript as well as submission of the final version that was approved by all co-authors.

In the third study, my contributions included conceptual design and data analysis. I further wrote the first draft of the manuscript, adapted it to all coauthors' comments, and submitted it.

For the systematic review (Appendix II), I was responsible for planning the review, defining and amending the search terms, defining the inclusion and exclusion criteria, and preparing and registering the review protocol. Furthermore, I was responsible for applying the search terms, extracting and sorting all data, removing duplicates, and preparing titles, abstracts, and full papers for screening and evaluation. I conducted the screening of all abstracts, titles, and full publications. I systematically reviewed all publications and evaluated them according to the respective guidelines that I defined in the study protocol. I compared them with those of Dr. Linda Tizek and created the first draft of the final publication, which I amended according to all comments of the co-authors.

References

1. Tizek L, Schielein MC, Seifert F, Biedermann T, Böhner A, Zink A. Skin diseases are more common than we think: screening results of an unreferred population at the Munich Oktoberfest. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019; 33(7):1421–8.

2. Seth D, Cheldize K, Brown D, Freeman EF. Global Burden of Skin Disease: Inequities and Innovations. Curr Dermatol Rep 2017; 6(3):204–10.

3. Karimkhani C, Dellavalle RP, Coffeng LE, Flohr C, Hay RJ, Langan SM et al. Global Skin Disease Morbidity and Mortality: An Update From the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. JAMA Dermatol 2017; 153(5):406–12.

4. Michalek IM, Loring B, John SM. A systematic review of worldwide epidemiology of psoriasis. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2017; 31(2):205–12.

5. Augustin M, Reich K, Glaeske G, Schaefer I, Radtke M. Co-morbidity and age-related prevalence of psoriasis: Analysis of health insurance data in Germany. Acta Derm Venereol 2010; 90(2):147–51.

6. Takeshita J, Grewal S, Langan SM, Mehta NN, Ogdie A, van Voorhees AS et al. Psoriasis and comorbid diseases: Epidemiology. J Am Acad Dermatol 2017; 76(3):377–90.

7. World Health Assembly. Resolution WHA67.9 [cited 2020 Apr 25]. Available from: URL: http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/wha67/a67_r9-en.pdf.

8. Michalek IM, Loring B, John SM. Global report on psoriasis. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2016.

9. Dalgard FJ, Gieler U, Tomas-Aragones L, Lien L, Poot F, Jemec GBE et al. The psychological burden of skin diseases: a cross-sectional multicenter study among dermatological out-patients in 13 European countries. J Invest Dermatol 2015; 135(4):984–91.

10. Armstrong AW, Harskamp CT, Dhillon JS, Armstrong EJ. Psoriasis and smoking: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Dermatol 2014; 170(2):304–14.

11. Brenaut E, Horreau C, Pouplard C, Barnetche T, Paul C, Richard M-A et al. Alcohol consumption and psoriasis: a systematic literature review. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2013; 27 Suppl 3:30–5.

12. Zink A, Herrmann M, Fischer T, Lauffer F, Garzorz-Stark N, Böhner A et al. Addiction: an underestimated problem in psoriasis health care. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2017; 31(8):1308–15.

13. Ryan C, Sadlier M, Vol E de, Patel M, Lloyd AA, Day A et al. Genital psoriasis is associated with significant impairment in quality of life and sexual functioning. J Am Acad Dermatol 2015; 72(6):978–83.

14. Yang EJ, Beck KM, Sanchez IM, Koo J, Liao W. The impact of genital psoriasis on quality of life: a systematic review. Psoriasis (Auckl) 2018; 8:41–7.

15. Kelly A, Ryan C. Genital Psoriasis: Impact on Quality of Life and Treatment Options. Am J Clin Dermatol 2019; 20(5):639–46.

16. Meeuwis KAP, Potts Bleakman A, van de Kerkhof PCM, Dutronc Y, Henneges C, Kornberg LJ et al. Prevalence of genital psoriasis in patients with psoriasis. J Dermatolog Treat 2018; 29(8):754–60.

17. Larsabal M, Ly S, Sbidian E, Moyal-Barracco M, Dauendorffer J-N, Dupin N et al. GENIPSO: a French prospective study assessing instantaneous prevalence, clinical features and impact on quality of life of genital psoriasis among patients consulting for psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 2019; 180(3):647–56.

18. Ryan C, Menter A, Guenther L, Blauvelt A, Bissonnette R, Meeuwis K et al. Efficacy and safety of ixekizumab in a randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled phase IIIb study of patients with moderate-to-severe genital psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 2018; 179(4):844–52.

19. Schielein MC, Tizek L, Seifert F, Biedermann T, Zink A. Versorgung von chronisch entzündlichen Hauterkrankungen : Gehen Betroffene zum niedergelassenen Dermatologen? Hautarzt 2019; 70(11):875–82.

20. World Health Organization. People-centred health care: A policy framework. Manila: World Health Organization, Western Pacific Region; 2007.

21. Maurer M, Abuzakouk M, Bérard F, Canonica W, Oude Elberink H, Giménez-Arnau A et al. The burden of chronic spontaneous urticaria is substantial: Real-world evidence from ASSURE-CSU. Allergy 2017; 72(12):2005–16.

22. Balp MM, Khalil S, Tian H, Gabriel S, Vietri J, Zuberbier T. Burden of chronic urticaria relative to psoriasis in five European countries. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2018; 32(2):282–90.

23. Villasante Fricke AC, Miteva M. Epidemiology and burden of alopecia areata: a systematic review. Clin Cosmet Investig Dermatol 2015; 8:397–403.

24. Augustin M, Mrowietz U, Luck-Sikorski C, Kiedrowski R von, Schlette S, Radtke MA et al. Translating the WHA resolution in a member state: towards a German programme on 'Destigmatization' for individuals with visible chronic skin diseases. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019; 33(11):2202–8.

25. Topp J, Andrees V, Weinberger NA, Schäfer I, Sommer R, Mrowietz U et al. Strategies to reduce stigma related to visible chronic skin diseases: a systematic review. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019; 33(11):2029–38.

26. Fleming P, Bai JW, Pratt M, Sibbald C, Lynde C, Gulliver WP. The prevalence of anxiety in patients with psoriasis: a systematic review of observational studies and clinical trials. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2017; 31(5):798–807.

27. Koo J, Marangell LB, Nakamura M, Armstrong A, Jeon C, Bhutani T et al. Depression and suicidality in psoriasis: review of the literature including the cytokine theory of depression. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2017; 31(12):1999–2009.

28. Erbas B, Buchner UG. Pathological gambling: prevalence, diagnosis, comorbidity, and intervention in Germany. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2012; 109(10):173–9.

29. Atzendorf J, Rauschert C, Seitz N-N, Lochbühler K, Kraus L. The Use of Alcohol, Tobacco, Illegal Drugs and Medicines. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2019; 116(35-36):577–84.

30. Wartberg L, Petersen K-U, Kammerl R, Rosenkranz M, Thomasius R. Psychometric validation of a German version of the compulsive Internet use scale. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2014; 17(2):99–103.

31. Rumpf H-J, Vermulst AA, Bischof A, Kastirke N, Gürtler D, Bischof G et al. Occurence of internet addiction in a general population sample: a latent class analysis. Eur Addict Res 2014; 20(4):159–66.

32. Carli V, Durkee T, Wasserman D, Hadlaczky G, Despalins R, Kramarz E et al. The association between pathological internet use and comorbid psychopathology: a systematic review. Psychopathology 2013; 46(1):1–13.

33. Kimball AB, Gieler U, Linder D, Sampogna F, Warren RB, Augustin M. Psoriasis: is the impairment to a patient's life cumulative? J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2010; 24(9):989–1004.

34. Warren RB, Kleyn CE, Gulliver WP. Cumulative life course impairment in psoriasis: patient perception of disease-related impairment throughout the life course. Br J Dermatol 2011; 164 Suppl 1:1–14.

35. Mihajlov M, Vejmelka L. Internet Addiction: A Review of the First Twenty Years. Psychiatr Danub 2017; 29(3):260–72.

36. Young KS. The evolution of Internet addiction. Addict Behav 2017; 64:229–30.

37. Suissa AJ. Cyber addictions: toward a psychosocial perspective. Addict Behav 2015; 43:28–32.

38. Ramsay B, O'Reagan M. A survey of the social and psychological effects of psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 1988; 118(2):195–201.

39. Eichenberg C, Schott M, Decker O, Sindelar B. Attachment Style and Internet Addiction: An Online Survey. J Med Internet Res 2017; 19(5):e170.

40. Zink A, Rüth M, Schuster B, Darsow U, Biedermann T, Ständer S. Pruritus in Deutschland – eine Google-Suchmaschinenanalyse. Hautarzt 2019; 70(1):21–8.

41. Zink A, Schuster B, Rüth M, Pereira MP, Philipp-Dormston WG, Biedermann T et al. Medical needs and major complaints related to pruritus in Germany: a 4-year retrospective analysis using Google AdWords Keyword Planner. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019; 33(1):151–6.

42. Tizek L, Schielein M, Rüth M, Ständer S, Pereira MP, Eberlein B et al. Influence of Climate on Google Internet Searches for Pruritus Across 16 German Cities: Retrospective Analysis. J Med Internet Res 2019; 21(7):e13739.

43. Tizek L, Schielein MC, Rüth M, Szeimies R-M, Philipp-Dormston WG, Braun SA et al. Interest in Skin Cancer in Urban Populations: A Retrospective Analysis of Google Search Terms in Nine Large German Cities. Acta Derm Venereol 2019; 99(9):797–804.

44. Schuster B, Ziehfreund S, Biedermann T, Zink A. Psoriasis 2.0: Facebook als Quelle krankheitsbezogener Informationen für Patienten mit Psoriasis. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 2020; 18(6):571–81.

45. Fricke J, Ávila G, Keller T, Weller K, Lau S, Maurer M et al. Prevalence of chronic urticaria in children and adults across the globe: Systematic review with meta-analysis. Allergy 2020; 75(2):423–32.

46. Meeuwis KAP, Hullu JA de, van de Nieuwenhof HP, Evers AWM, Massuger LFAG, van de Kerkhof PCM et al. Quality of life and sexual health in patients with genital psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 2011; 164(6):1247–55.

47. Blume-Peytavi U, Weisshaar E. Erkrankungen der Kopfhaut. Hautarzt 2017; 68(6):430.

48. Mubki T, Rudnicka L, Olszewska M, Shapiro J. Evaluation and diagnosis of the hair loss patient: part I. History and clinical examination. J Am Acad Dermatol 2014; 71(3):415.e1-415.e15.

49. West HJ. Chemotherapy-Induced Hair Loss (Alopecia). JAMA Oncol 2017; 3(8):1147.

50. Goffman E. Stigma. Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity London: Penguin; 1963.

51. Corrigan PW, Larson JE, Rüsch N. Self-stigma and the "why try" effect: impact on life goals and evidence-based practices. World Psychiatry 2009; 8(2):75–81.

52. Croley JA, Reese V, Wagner RF. Dermatologic Features of Classic Movie Villains: The Face of Evil. JAMA Dermatol 2017; 153(6):559–64.

53. Reese V. Dermatology in the cinema. J Am Acad Dermatol 1995; 33(6):1030-5.

54. Heilig M, Epstein DH, Nader MA, Shaham Y. Time to connect: bringing social context into addiction neuroscience. Nat Rev Neurosci 2016; 17(9):592–9.

55. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 2009; 6(7):e1000097.

56. Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D et al. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA 2000; 283(15):2008–12.

57. National Institute for Health Research. PROSPERO - International prospective register of systematic reviews [cited 2020 May 11]. Available from: URL: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?ID=CRD42019122966.

58. Fischer TW, Schmidt S, Strauss B, Elsner P. Hairdex. Ein Instrument zur Untersuchung der krankheitsbezogenen Lebensqualität bei Patienten mit Haarerkrankungen. Hautarzt 2001; 52(3):219–27.

59. Kacar SD, Soyucok E, Bagcioglu E, Ozuguz P, Coskun KS, Asık AH et al. The Perceived Stigma in Patients with Alopecia and Mental Disorder: A Comparative Study. Int J Trichology 2016; 8(3):135–40.

60. Temel A, Bozkurt S, Senol Y, Alpsoy E. Internalized stigma in patients with acne vulgaris, vitiligo, and alopecia areata. Turk J Dermatol 2019; 13(3):109.

Publication I: PeakPASI: A new measurement tool in psoriasis care

Tizek L, **Schielein MC**, Zink, A. PeakPASI: A new measurement tool in psoriasis care. J Am Acad Dermatol 2020; [epub ahead of print]

Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology

ISI Journal Citation Reports 2019

Impact Factor: 8.277 Ranking: 1/68 (Dermatology)

PeakPASI: A new measurement tool in psoriasis care

Linda Tizek, MPH, Maximilian Christian Schielein, MPH, Alexander Zink, MD, MPH, PhD

PII: S0190-9622(20)32493-2

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2020.08.096

Reference: YMJD 15161

To appear in: Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology

Received Date: 16 June 2020

Revised Date: 19 August 2020

Accepted Date: 20 August 2020

Please cite this article as: Tizek L, Schielein MC, Zink A, PeakPASI: A new measurement tool in psoriasis care, *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* (2020), doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2020.08.096.

This is a PDF file of an article that has undergone enhancements after acceptance, such as the addition of a cover page and metadata, and formatting for readability, but it is not yet the definitive version of record. This version will undergo additional copyediting, typesetting and review before it is published in its final form, but we are providing this version to give early visibility of the article. Please note that, during the production process, errors may be discovered which could affect the content, and all legal disclaimers that apply to the journal pertain.

© 2020 Published by Elsevier on behalf of the American Academy of Dermatology, Inc.



- 1 Article type: Research Letter
- 2 Title: PeakPASI: A new measurement tool in psoriasis care
- 3
- 4 Linda Tizek, MPH^{1*}, Maximilian Christian Schielein, MPH^{1,2*}, Alexander Zink, MD, MPH, PhD¹
- ¹ Technical University of Munich, School of Medicine, Department of Dermatology and Allergy,
- 6 Biedersteiner Strasse 29, 80802 Munich, Germany
- 7 ² Karolinska Institutet, Department of Medicine, Karolinska University Hospital, Unit of Dermatology
- 8 and Venerology, Solnavägen 1, 171 77 Solna, Sweden.
- 9 *shared first author

10 **Corresponding author**:

- 11 Alexander Zink, MD, MPH, PhD
- 12 Technical University of Munich, School of Medicine
- 13 Department of Dermatology and Allergy
- 14 Biedersteiner Str. 29, 80802 Munich, Germany
- 15 Tel: +49 89 4140 3176
- 16
 Fax:
 +49 89 4140 3349
- 17 E-Mail: <u>alexander.zink@tum.de</u>
- 18
- 19 Funding sources: Parts of this study were supported by an unrestricted research grant by Novartis
- 20 Pharma GmbH.

21 Conflicts of Interest: LT was financially supported for the presentation of scientific posters and 22 received unrestricted research grants by Novartis Pharma GmbH. MCS was financially supported for 23 the presentation of scientific posters and/or received speaker's honoraria by Novartis Pharma GmbH 24 and Janssen-Cilag. AZ has been an advisor and/or received speaker's honoraria and/or received 25 grants and/or participated in clinical trials of the following companies with psoriasis products: 26 AbbVie, Almirall, Amgen, Celgene, Eli Lilly, Janssen-Cilag, Novartis Pharma GmbH.

27

IRB approval: Reviewed and approved by the local ethical committee of the Medical Faculty of
 Technical University of Munich (Reference 485/17 S).

- 30
- 31 Reprint requests: Alexander Zink
- 32 Manuscript word count: 499 words
- 33 References: 5
- 34 Figures: 1
- 35 Supplementary figures: 0
- 36 Tables: 1
- 37 Supplementary tables: 2
- 38
- 39 Keywords: psoriasis, measure tool, quality of life, happiness, health care, PASI
- 40

Dear Editor: Psoriasis can impair happiness and quality of life,¹ with people having a longer disease duration and a more severe psoriasis showing higher impairment.² The 'Psoriasis Area and Severity Index' (PASI) is a commonly used measuring tool, but it represents only a snapshot of a single visit. Accordingly, important factors like treatment outcomes or the individual lifetime burden may not be fully reflected.^{3,4} Thus, we suggest to implement a stable long-term score and to use the highest ever documented PASI, the 'PeakPASI'.⁵

To test its feasibility, a cross-sectional study including psoriasis patients aged ≥ 18 years from 36 dermatological settings was performed in Germany between 09/2018 and 11/2019. Dermatologists were asked to recruit patients consecutively with any severity and to report their PeakPASI documented in the patient's file. Additionally, patients answered questions on 'Dermatological Life Quality Index' (DLQI) and happiness.¹ To assess differences in patients, two classifications were calculated: (i) PeakPASI <10/ \geq 10; (ii) PeakPASI <13.6/ \geq 13.6, based on a median split.

Overall, 398 patients (mean age 49.1 ± 14.5, 42.5% women) were included (Table 1, Supplementary Table 1: https://data.mendeley.com/datasets/2jxyvxw6t8/3). At study examination 302 patients had a higher PeakPASI than PASI. In both classifications, people with a higher PeakPASI were more likely to be male, to have a higher PASI, to receive systemic treatment, and to have previously received UV therapy (Table 1, Supplementary Table 2: https://data.mendeley.com/datasets/2jxyvxw6t8/3). Additionally, people having a PeakPASI ≥13.6 had significantly higher DLQI and lower happiness (Figure 1).

The mean value of PeakPASI was twice as high as the mean PASI, indicating that the cumulative burden is likely to be higher than one snapshot at a specific moment could depict. The PeakPASI might also be important when thinking about future treatment options and their effectiveness as people with a higher PeakPASI were more likely to having received a higher number of previous systemic treatments. Possible explanations for that might be that people with a certain PeakPASI value have delayed responses to treatment, need early changes of treatment more often, were off

treatment when the PeakPASI was documented, or that they did not adhere to the prescribedtreatment.

68 One limitation is that the PeakPASI is a rather theoretical approach. It is not routinely documented 69 and information about the real highest lifetime PASI may get lost as patients consult several 70 physicians which generally could be prevented by using electronic health records accessible for all 71 treating physicians. In this pilot study a few important factors were not considered: status of 72 treatment when PeakPASI was measured, time since onset of psoriasis, time span between PASI and 73 PeakPASI, time span during which PeakPASI was documented, intervals at which patients were seen, 74 duration of current treatment. Additionally, in some patients with a generally mild psoriasis a high 75 PeakPASI might be measured during a severe flare, which would overestimate the effect.

Future research should examine factors like after which length of time a change of therapy was
initiated and whether the PeakPASI is helpful in determining the need for more comprehensive
therapies.

79

80 **References**

- Schuster B, Ziehfreund S, Albrecht H, et al. Happiness in dermatology: a holistic evaluation of the
 mental burden of skin diseases. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*. 2019.
- 83 2. Strober B, Karki C, Mason M, et al. Characterization of disease burden, comorbidities, and
- 84 treatment use in a large, US-based cohort: Results from the Corrona Psoriasis Registry. J Am Acad
- 85 *Dermatol*. 2018;78(2):323-332.
- 3. Kimball AB, Gieler U, Linder D, et al. Psoriasis: is the impairment to a patient's life cumulative? J
- 87 *Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol.* 2010;24(9):989-1004.

	Journal Pre-proof
88	4. Warren RB, Kleyn CE, Gulliver WP. Cumulative life course impairment in psoriasis: patient
89	perception of disease-related impairment throughout the life course. Br J Dermatol. 2011;164
90	Suppl 1:1-14.
91	5. Zink A, Herrmann M, Fischer T, et al. Addiction: an underestimated problem in psoriasis health
92	care. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2017;31(8):1308-1315.
93	
94	Figures and Tables
95	Figure 1. Psoriasis. DLQI and happiness in the study population classified by two PeakPASI thresholds
96	
97	
98	PeakPASI = highest ever documented PASI, DLQI = Dermatology Life Quality Index (higher values
99	represent a lower perceived quality of life); happiness = heuristic happiness (higher values mean
100	higher happiness), * significant at alpha < 0.005

(here)	

		-	-		
	Total (n=398)	PeakPASI <10 (n=92)	PeakPASI ≥10 (n=306)	PeakPASI <13.6 (n=197)	PeakPASI ≥13.6 (n=201)
Age (mean ± SD)	49.1 ± 14.5	49.7 ± 14.7	48.9 ± 14.4, p=0.649	48.2 ± 14.1	50.0 ± 14.9, p=0.213
Gender					
Female	169 (42.5%)	58 (55.8%)	111 (37.8%), p=0.001	96 (48.7%)	169 (36.3%), p<0.001
Male	229 (57.5%)	46 (44.2%)	183 (62.2%)	101 (51.3%)	229 (63.7%)
PASI					
Mean	7.3 ± 7.7	3.3 ± 2.6	8.5 ± 8.3, p<0.001	4.6 ± 4.0	9.9 ± 9.5, p<0.001
Range	0 – 53.8	0.0 – 9.9	0.0 - 53.8	0.0 - 13.0	0.0 - 53.8
PeakPASI					
Mean	15.4 ± 9.2	5.8 ± 2.6	18.3 ± 8.4, p=0.001	9.0 ± 3.5	21.8±9.2, p<0.001
Range	0.1 - 53.8	0.1 - 9.9	10.0 - 53.8	0.1 - 13.5	13.6 – 53.8
DLQI	7.0±6.8	6.3 ± 6.7	7.2 ± 6.8, p=0.341	6.1 ± 6.2	7.9 ± 7.3, p=0.010
Happiness	6.9 ± 2.0	7.1 ± 1.9	6.8 ± 2.0, p=0.355	7.2 ± 1.9	6.6±2.0, p=0.005
Current UV therapy	47 (11.8%)	4 (4.3%)	43 (14.1%), p=0.011	19 (9.6%)	28 (13.9%), p=0.185
Number of current systemic therapies		18			
0	142 (35.7%)	43 (46.7%)	99 (32.4%), p=0.002	79 (40.1%)	59 (29.4%), p=0.030
1	256 (62.6%)	49 (53.2%)	211 (69.0%)	118 59.9%)	142 (70.7%)
Current Conventional Therapy	98 (24.6%)	17 (18.5%)	81 (26.5%), p=0.119	45 (22.8%)	53 (26.4%), p=0.414
Current Apremilast Therapy	16 (6.3%)	3 (3.3%)	13 (4.2%), p=0.672	7 (3.6%)	9 (4.5%)
Current TNF – Alpha Therapy	37 (9.3%)	8 (8.7%)	29 (9.5%), p=0.821	15 (7.6%)	22 (10.9%), p=0.253
Current IL-17 Therapy	69 (17.3%)	18 (19.6%)	51 (16.7%), p=0.520	34 (17.3%)	35 (14.4%), p=0.968
Current IL-23 Therapy	30 (7.5%)	5 (5.4%)	25 (8.2%), p=0.384	15 (7.6%)	15 (7.5%), p=0.954
Other biologics	12 (3.0)	1 (1.1%)	11 (3.6%), p=0.217	5 (2.5%)	7 (3.5%), p=0.582
Previous UV Therapy	61 (15.3%)	3 (3.3%)	58 (19.0%), p<0.001	21 (10.7%)	40 (19.9%), p=0.011
Number of previous systemic					
	102 /10 50/	40 (E2 2%)	70C 0-~ (701 ZV) VV 1	107 (E4 3%)	06 (13 0%)
C	TA3 (48.5%)	49 (53.3%)	144 (47.1%), p=0.28/	107 (54.3%)	GLU.U=0, (%2.2%) 80
1	95 (23.9%)	21 (22.8%)	74 (24.2%)	41 (20.8%)	54 (26.9%)
2	57 (14.3%)	13 (14.1%)	44 (14.4%)	30 (15.2%)	27 (13.4%)
≥ 3	53 (13.4%)	9 (9.8%)	44 (14.4%)	19 (9.6%)	34 (17.0%)

Table 1: Patient's characteristics separated by a PeakPASI >10 as well as by the median PeakPASI of 13.6.

a lower perceived quality of life), happiness = heuristic happiness (higher values represent a higher happiness); other biologics = for example include patients that are part of a SD = Standard deviation; PASI = Psoriasis Area and Severity Index; PeakPASI = highest ever documented PASI; DLQI = Dermatological Life Quality Index (higher values represent double-blind trial; Ustekinumab was included into the category of IL-23 therapies.



Publication II: Always Online? Internet Addiction and Social Impairment in Psoriasis across Germany.

Schielein MC, Tizek L, Schuster B, Ziehfreund S, Liebram C, Eyerich K et al. Always Online? Internet Addiction and Social Impairment in Psoriasis across Germany. J Clin Med 2020; 9(6).

Journal of Clinical MedicineISI Journal Citation Reports 2019Impact Factor: 3.664Ranking: 36/160 (Medicine, general & internal - science)





Article Always Online? Internet Addiction and Social Impairment in Psoriasis across Germany

Maximilian Christian Schielein ^{1,2,3,*}, Linda Tizek ^{1,2,3}, Barbara Schuster ^{1,2,3}, Stefanie Ziehfreund ¹, Claudia Liebram ⁴, Kilian Eyerich ^{1,5} and Alexander Zink ^{1,*}

- ¹ Department of Dermatology and Allergy, School of Medicine, Technical University of Munich, 80802 Munich, Germany; linda.tizek@tum.de (L.T.); barbara.schuster@tum.de (B.S.); stefanie.ziehfreund@tum.de (S.Z.); kilian.eyerich@ki.se (K.E.)
- ² Biometry and Epidemiology (IBE), Department of Medical Informatics, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, 81377 Munich, Germany
- ³ Pettenkofer School of Public Health, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, 81377 Munich, Germany
- ⁴ Psoriasis-Netz e.V., 13437 Berlin, Germany; redaktion@psoriasis-netz.de
- ⁵ Karolinska Institutet, Department of Medicine, Unit of Dermatology and Venerology, Karolinska University Hospital, 171 77 Stockholm, Sweden
- * Correspondence: maximilian.schielein@tum.de (M.C.S.); alexander.zink@tum.de (A.Z.); Tel.: +49-89-4140-3176 (M.C.S.); +49-89-4140-3551 (A.Z.)

Received: 19 May 2020; Accepted: 7 June 2020; Published: 11 June 2020



Abstract: With the World Health Organization (WHO) demanding further investigation of the social impairment and psychosocial burden of psoriasis, a first study identified a high prevalence of Internet addiction. The aim of this study was to assess social impairment and estimate the occurrence of Internet addiction along with depression, cigarette smoking, and alcohol dependency in individuals with psoriasis recruited online in a people-centered care approach. A cross-sectional online survey was carried out across Germany between March 2019 and June 2019. The questionnaire contained information on social impairment, smoking habits, as well as validated questionnaires on Internet addiction, depression, and alcohol dependency. Overall, 460 individuals (62.4% female; mean age: 45.9 ± 13.7 years) with psoriasis were included. Of those, 406 (88.3%) stated to be at least rarely socially impaired. The positive screening rate for Internet addiction was 8.5%. Furthermore, 40.0% had positive screenings for depression, 17.1% for alcohol dependency, and 32.6% for daily smoking. Positive screenings than in the German general population. In order to meet the demands of the WHO, Internet addiction could be considered as a potential comorbidity in psoriasis and a focus on people-centered care is advisable for further research.

Keywords: psoriasis; Internet addiction; people-centered care; social impairment; stigmatization

1. Introduction

Internet addiction is a phenomenon first appearing at the turn of the millennium that has since then begun to rise immensely in importance [1]. It was classified as the most potent problem within the revised Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) in 2013 [2]. In Germany, prevalence estimations range from 1.0% in the general population up to 3.2% in the subgroup of adolescents [3,4]. With regard to skin diseases, a recent study found that pathological Internet use and Internet addiction were substantially more frequent among a sample of 502 patients with psoriasis (3.8%) than in the general population (1.0%) [3,5].

Psoriasis is a chronic inflammatory skin disease affecting 1.2–3% of individuals in Germany [6–8]. Patients often have an impaired quality of life and reduced happiness [8,9]. Individuals with psoriasis

tend to avoid or reduce physical activities and often withdraw themselves from social activities [10,11] and intimate contact [12,13]. These social impairments are broadly individual for each patient and associated with various comorbidities [14]. Patients often suffer from a psychosocial burden due to stigmatization [15,16] as well as from comorbidities such as depression and addictions [17,18]. Subsequently, the World Health Organization (WHO) emphasized the importance of recognizing the stigmatization in psoriasis and its potential consequences for burden of disease and mental comorbidities [19]. While reviews indicate more frequent alcohol dependency and cigarette smoking in psoriasis patients [20,21], evidence on compulsive Internet use and Internet addiction remains limited to one study [5].

If treated appropriately, patients with psoriasis can benefit from highly effective therapies. Individuals treated effectively tend to have not only less severe skin lesions but also reduced depressive symptoms and social impairment [22,23]. The reduction of comorbidities and the promotion of mental health of individuals with psoriasis are essential according to the WHO [19]. However, not all patients receive therapies as recommended by guidelines [24,25], and, since not all affected individuals seek medical care, many affected individuals are not considered as psoriasis patients [26]. Hence, the WHO demands to focus on people-centered instead of patient-centered health care [27,28]. Despite this, most research still focuses on registries including mainly, moderately, and severely affected individuals and typical patient settings such as dermatological practices and clinics. To reach individuals, regardless of conventional settings, online approaches can be beneficial [13,29] as many individuals, regardless of contact to a physician, search for health-related information online [30–33].

The aim of this study was therefore to assess social impairment and to estimate the occurrence of Internet addiction along with depression, smoking, and alcohol dependency among individuals with psoriasis using a people-centered online approach.

2. Experimental Section

2.1. Study Design and Recruitment

This cross-sectional study was carried out as an online survey among individuals with psoriasis in Germany from March to June 2019. The online questionnaire was distributed via an online self-help platform "Psoriasis-Netz", a patient online platform "Farbenhaut" as well as a national campaign of the "Association of the German Dermatologists" (BVDD). The project was most promoted by "Psoriasis-Netz" on their website together with current information for individuals interested in psoriasis. Its monthly e-mail newsletter was sent to 2296 registered individuals across Germany. "Farbenhaut" and the BVDD shared the questionnaire on their social media channels one month before completion of recruitment for the study.

Only individuals who stated having psoriasis diagnosed by a physician were included in the analyses. Additional exclusion criteria were the presence of implausible data or more than 20% of missing values. Electronic informed consent from each participant was acquired prior to study inclusion. All study procedures were in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and were reviewed as well as approved by the local ethics committee of the Technical University of Munich (reference 25/19 S).

2.2. Questionnaire

The study questionnaire was developed in collaboration with "Psoriasis-Netz". One dermatologist, two epidemiologists, and two members of "Psoriasis-Netz" were involved in the process. Questions were only added if they were accepted unanimously. The questionnaire was pre-tested by three researchers and three individuals affected by psoriasis and adapted according to their comments.

Participants answered questions on sociodemographic variables and their medical history, including age, gender, disease severity in general and at time of participation (self-classification as "mild", "moderate", or "severe", respectively) as well as disease duration and current utilization of

medical care. Due to the nature of the chosen online approach, standardized reflection of disease severity using physician-based Psoriasis Area and Severity Index (PASI) or body surface affected (BSA) was not possible. In order to keep the questionnaire concise, social impairment was assessed with a one-question item asking "Does your psoriasis prevent you from pursuing certain leisure activities?", which could be answered on a five-point Likert scale ranging from "never" to "always". Participants who stated that their psoriasis prevents them from taking part in certain leisure activities were asked for the main restrictions using free-text comments. After revising the questionnaire, examples for possible answers were added ("e.g., swimming, sauna, sunbathing, … ").

Internet addiction was assessed using the Compulsive Internet Using Scale (CIUS; Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.93$) [34,35]. The questionnaire comprises 14 questions, which are to be answered on a five-point Likert-scale ranging from "never = 0" to "very often = 4". Subsequently, the score ranges from 0 to 56. A cutoff score of 21 was used to estimate the prevalence of Internet addiction [5,35]. Additionally, participants were asked to state the days per week and hours per day spent online in their leisure time.

Depressive behavior was assessed with the International Classification of Diseases (ICD)-10-based WHO-Five Well-Being Index (WHO-5, Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.88$) [36,37], a widely used, validated questionnaire comprising five questions on well-being. Answers range from "never" to "always" and are rated from zero to five, respectively. The resulting sum is multiplied by four, resulting in a score between 0 and 100. A cutoff value of ≤ 28 for depression showed a sensitivity of 0.94 and a specificity of 0.83 and, therefore, was used to determine depression as a study outcome [38].

To screen for alcohol use disorder, the DSM-based CAGE-questionnaire was used [39]. It comprises questions on "cutting down", "annoyed by criticism", "guilt about drinking", and alcohol as an "eye-opener" in the morning. Questions are answered with "no" or "yes". The subsequent score ranges from zero to four. The instrument showed good test-retest reliability (0.80–0.95) and the cutoff value of at least two questions answered with "yes" as a positive screening for alcohol use disorder previously showed a sensitivity of 0.71 and a specificity of 0.90 [40].

Smoking was assessed by one question: "Do you smoke cigarettes?". Participants who stated that they "never" or "seldom" smoke were classified as non-smokers. Participants who stated that they smoke daily, regardless of the stated amount, were considered smokers.

2.3. Statistical Analyses

As the online method of patient recruitment of this people-centered survey was explorative, study size was determined by the number of individuals recruited during a three-month time frame. Descriptive data were computed for all participants and stratified by social impairment. Group differences were calculated using unpaired t-tests or chi-square tests. Prevalence of positive screenings for Internet addiction along with those for depression, smoking, and alcohol dependency were determined. Results were stratified by gender, age (by median split; 46 years), and social impairment. To avoid confounding, possible influencing factors were assessed using univariate and multiple regression models. All factors that showed a significant association in the univariate analysis, were entered in the multiple regression model with backward selection. Independent variables included age, gender, disease duration, utilization of medical care, disease severity at time of study participation, severity in general, and social impairment. Odds ratios (OR) and respective 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs) were calculated. To analyze activities avoided due to psoriasis, free-text answers were categorized using an inductive analyzing procedure. Categories were descriptively quantified. Additionally, quantities of the 50 most commonly used words were visualized while excluding nonspecific words such as "I", "with", or "do". IBM SPSS Statistics (Version 25, IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA) was used for all analyses and alpha was set at 0.05.

3. Results

A total of 466 individuals with psoriasis participated in this study. Of these, six were excluded due to implausible data, resulting in a total of 460 participants being analyzed. The mean age was

 45.9 ± 13.7 years and 62.4% (n = 287) of the participants were female. The mean duration of disease was 21.0 ± 14.7 years and 22.8% (n = 105) of the participants were currently not in medical care. About half of the participants stated to have a moderate disease severity both at the time of study participation (55.0%; n = 253) and in general (56.3%; n = 259). When comparing general and current disease severity, 32.8% (n = 151) of the participants stated that their psoriasis was better at the time of study participation, while 13.0% (n = 60) indicated a worse disease severity (Table 1).

		Psoriasis is Preventing Leisure Activities				
	(n = 460)	Never or Rarely $(n = 130)$	Sometimes, Frequently, or Always $(n = 330)$	<i>p</i> -Value		
		Age (years)				
(Mean, SD)	45.9 ± 13.7	46.7 ± 14.1	45.6 ± 13.6	0.426		
Age group <46	222 (48.3%)	62 (47.7%)	160 (48.5%)	0.878		
Age group ≥46	238 (51.7%)	68 (52.3%)	170 (51.5%)			
Gender; <i>n</i> (%)						
Female	287 (62.4%)	86 (66.2%)	201 (60.9%)	0.00		
Male	173 (37.6%)	44 (33.8%)	129 (39.1%)	0.296		
Duration of psoriasis (years)						
(Mean, SD)	21.0 ± 14.7	21.9 ± 15.1	20.7 ± 14.6	0.416		
Currently in medical care; <i>n</i> (%)						
Yes	355 (77.2%)	95 (73.1%)	260 (78.8%)	0.100		
No	105 (22.8%)	35 (26.9%)	70 (21.2%)	0.189		
Severity at the time of study participation; n (%)						
Mild	102 (22.2%)	47 (36.2%)	55 (16.7%)			
Moderate	253 (55.0%)	74 (56.9%)	179 (54.2%)	< 0.001		
Severe	105 (22.8%)	9 (6.9%)	96 (29.1%)			
Severity in general; <i>n</i> (%)						
Mild	37 (8.0%)	22 (16.9%)	15 (4.5%)			
Moderate	259 (56.3%)	83 (63.8%)	176 (53.3%)	< 0.001		
Severe	164 (35.7%)	25 (19.2%)	139 (42.1%)			
	Severity at study p	participation compared t	o severity in general; <i>n</i> (%)			
Worse	60 (13.0%)	12 (9.2%)	48 (14.5%)			
Equal	249 (54.1%)	77 (59.2%)	172 (52.1%)	0.225		
Better	151 (32.8%)	41 (31.5%)	110 (33.3%)			

Table 1. Characteristics of study participants in total and stratified by influence of psoriasis on avoiding free-time activities.

SD = standard deviation.

3.1. Social Impairment

Overall, 330 (71.7%) stated that their psoriasis at least sometimes prevents them from certain leisure activities. Of these, 124 (27.0%) individuals answered this question with "frequently" and 92 (20.0%) with "always". Participants indicating that their psoriasis prevents them at least sometimes from certain leisure activities reported a higher rate of severe disease characteristics at the time of study participation (29.1% vs. 6.9%; *p* < 0.001) and in general (42.1% vs. 19.2%; *p* < 0.001) than participants who indicated no or rare impairment (Table 1).

Furthermore, 406 (88.3%) participants stated that their psoriasis at least rarely prevents them from any leisure activity. When asked which leisure activities were impaired with an open question, 394 participants (97.0%) provided 552 answers. After qualitatively categorizing all given answers, "swimming" (n = 273; 67.2%; e.g., "Swimming in public pools. The chlorine burns the skin."), "sport"
5 of 15

(n = 93; 22.9%; e.g., "I can't go jogging anymore as my knees were destroyed by psoriatic arthritis."), and "stigmatization and appearance" (<math>n = 49; 12.1%; e.g., "Whenever I can't put on anything long enough to hide my disease in public") were the three most mentioned categories (Table 2). Furthermore, many answers indicated a reduction in social contacts. For example, people used expressions such as "meeting new people" and "any activity among people is unpleasant because the strong itching leads to scratching and leaving dandruff everywhere". Many individuals also mentioned abstaining from activities that could exacerbate their symptoms, such as "drinking/eating/partying—all because of the fear of worsening condition following the consumption of unhealthy food/alcohol". Reasons given widely differ within the individuals and the 50 most commonly used words show a multifaceted sense of loss and preoccupation with daily life for participants due to psoriasis (Figure 1).

Category	Count <i>n</i> (%)	Example	Participant (Gender, Age)
Swimming	273 (67.2%)	"Sauna and swimming pool, but only because of the expected looks on the affected areas"	Woman, 32 years
		"Swimming in public pools. The chlorine burns the skin".	Man, 39 years
Sport	93 (22.9%)	"I can't go jogging anymore as my knees were destroyed by psoriatic arthritis".	Man, 32 years
		"Running"	Woman, 51 years
Stigmatization	49 (12.1%)	"Whenever I can't put on anything long enough to hide my disease in public"	Woman, 50 years
and appearance		"Any activity requiring short clothing"	Woman, 21 years
Sauna	32 (7.9%)	"Sauna, bathing"	Man, 73 years
Sauna	02 (10 /0)	"Sauna, swimming, nudism"	Woman, 57 years
Sunbathing	30 (7.4%)	"Sunbathing at the lake"	Man, 57 years
Subbuild	00 (1170)	"Sunbathing at the beach"	Man, 30 years
Movements	28 (6.9%)	"Going for a walk"	Woman, 52 years
and walking	20 (01) /0)	"Roughhousing with my son"	Man, 34 years
Going out and meeting friends	26 (6.4%)	"Any activity among people is unpleasant because the strong itching leads to scratching and leaving dandruff everywhere".	Woman, 27 years
		"Visiting restaurants with friends"	Man, 38 years
Other	21 (5.2%)	"Everything you need hands for"	Woman, 67 years
		"Living"	Man, 38 years

Table 2. Inductive categories of free-text answers on what leisure activities were avoided due to psoriasis. Quantity, two examples, and respective participant characteristics per category.

3.2. Internet Addiction

Participants reported spending 21.6 ± 12.5 h per week online excluding time at work. About four out of five participants stated being online for private reasons every day (n = 381; 82.8%). Overall, 8.5% (n = 39) of all participants were screened positive for Internet addiction, with no significant difference in gender (female: 8.5% vs. male: 8.7%, p = 0.935), age (<46 years: 9.1 vs. ≥46 years: 8.0%, p = 0.660), and social impairment due to psoriasis ("Never or rarely": 8.5% vs. "Sometimes, frequently, or always": 8.5%, p = 0.997; Figure 2, Table A1).



Figure 1. The 50 most common words in free-text answers on the question, which leisure activities were prevented by psoriasis. Words were ranked by frequency. Font size (fs) equals the sweeping break of the third root of word's rank (rx) times maximal font size (fs_{max}) [fs = $fs_{max}*rx^{-1/3}$]. As some words cannot be translated verbatim and free-text answers were given in German, some words are separated in two or more or appear as duplicates.

3.3. Depression, Smoking, and Drinking

Depressive tendencies were found in 40.0% (n = 180) of the participants (Figure 1). Social impairment due to psoriasis (at least "sometimes") was associated with a higher proportion of positive screening results for depression (45.8% vs. 25.2%; p < 0.001). Furthermore, 32.6% (n = 150) of all individuals stated to smoke cigarettes daily, and 17.1% (n = 77) were screened positive for alcohol addiction. More women reported a daily smoking habit (38.3% vs. 23.1%; p = 0.001; Figure 1), while more men were screened positive for alcohol addiction (25.9% vs. 11.8%; p < 0.001). Additionally, younger participants more frequently reported smoking cigarettes daily (41.4% vs. 24.4%; p < 0.001). These differences remained significant when controlled in a multiple regression model, resulting in ORs of 2.13 (95% CI: 1.36; 3.34) for women and 0.96 (95% CI: 0.95; 0.98) for age (Table A2).

J. Clin. Med. 2020, 9, 1818



Figure 2. Positive screenings for (A) Internet addiction, (B) depression, (C) cigarette smoking, and (D) alcohol dependency. Positive screenings are stratified by gender, age (median split), and social impairment. ¹ Measured using the Compulsive Internet Using Scale (CIUS; cutoff: 221; range: 0–56).² Measured using the World Health Organization (WHO)-Five Well-Being Index (WHO-5) questionnaire (cutoff: ≤ 29 ; range: 0-100).³ Measured using the CAGE questionnaire (cutoff: ≥ 2 ; range: 0-4).

4. Discussion

8 of 15

This study aimed to characterize social impairment and estimate the occurrence of Internet addiction along with depression, smoking, and alcohol dependency in individuals with psoriasis recruited via an online, people-centered care approach. Many participants indicated an impairment due to their psoriasis, with swimming and sports being the most commonly mentioned fields of daily life being avoided. Given reasons often focused on stigmatization and pain. Furthermore, a high positive screening rate for Internet addiction and alcohol dependency was found.

4.1. Social Impairment

Overall, 88.3% of participants indicated that their psoriasis prevents them from leisure activities and meeting other people. Thereby, individuals with more social impairment reported higher self-perceived disease severity. This finding is in line with a previous study, which found that individuals with moderate or severe disease severity engaged approximately 30% less in leisure activities than healthy controls did; no difference was observed for participants with little or no disease activity [10]. In our study, we not only found that people avoided specific leisure activities such as swimming and sports but that they also felt stigmatized. This confirms previous findings that stigmatization of skin lesions was associated with social impairment [16]. Most of the participants mentioned avoiding swimming. However, it should be noted that examples for leisure activities such as "Swimming, sauna, sunbathing, ... " were provided as suggestions to give participants ideas for possible answers, potentially resulting in biased free-text answers. The high number of mentions for swimming, however, reflect a problem identified decades ago [41]. In 1989, a study on 104 psoriasis patients found that 72% of patients avoided swimming, 60% avoided sunbathing, and 40% avoided sports. Although sunbathing was also mentioned as an example in this study, it was mentioned less frequently in this sample, while swimming remains an often avoided activity for affected individuals [41]. The stated reasons of shame, stigmatization, and physical sensations such as burning and itching are in line with previous literature [10,41]. The fact that patients still abstain from activities such as swimming because of possible stigmatization emphasizes the importance of current efforts to reduce stigmatization in psoriasis [15,16], which follows the call for action outlined by the WHO [19]. Another point that might be addressed in future research is a possible connection between skin and joint pain as well as itch, and social impairment. Skin pain is an often prevalent symptom [42] and was also frequently reported in the free-text answers.

4.2. Internet Addiction

Positive screening rates for Internet addiction exceeded those reported in the literature [3–5,43]. In comparison to a German representative study among adolescents, this study's results were considerably higher (8.5% vs. 3.2%) [4]. This is surprising, considering the difference in mean age (45.9 years vs. 14.9 years) and tendency for Internet addiction to occur in younger individuals and to decrease with age [3]. Even if we were to consider a higher cutoff value of 28, our detected prevalence of Internet addiction was higher (3.2%) than the prevalence of 1.0% in another German study among 8132 adolescents and adults (mean age: 39.9 years) [3]. Although a third study also used online recruitment via Facebook groups, they only detected a prevalence of 1.2% of Internet addiction in 245 regular Internet users [43]. Lastly, the prevalence of positive screening results also outnumbered the prevalence among 502 psoriasis patients recruited from various dermatological practices and clinics throughout southern Germany (8.5% vs. 3.6%) [5]. Since our results on Internet addiction exceed all previous reported numbers, this could imply that by recruiting participants online and via patient platforms as well as a nationwide physician-lead campaign, we were able to reach a highly vulnerable subgroup of individuals with psoriasis. As another study by Megna et al. found higher signs of inflammation in patients with psoriatic arthritis who practice smartphone overuse [44], future studies should include patient stratification by presence of psoriatic arthritis and differentiation between online

and smart phone addiction. This is, however, one of the first studies to investigate Internet addiction in psoriasis and further investigation should follow.

4.3. Depression, Smoking, and Alcohol Dependency

Our detected value for positive screenings for depression is similar to one of the highest prevalence rates reported by a systematic review on depression in patients with psoriasis (questionnaire-based prevalence: 13.8–39.2%) [17]. The high rate of depression in our study might be explained by the fact that a people-centered care approach was used instead of a patient-centered approach. This could be beneficial in reaching especially vulnerable subgroups of affected individuals. In accordance with preliminary studies in patients with psoriasis [5,18,20,21] and compared to a representative German sample, individuals with psoriasis reported a higher prevalence of daily smoking (32.6% vs. 15.1%) [45] and alcohol dependency (17.1% vs. 3.1%) [45]. The gender distribution for smokers was contrary to that of the general population in which men are more likely to smoke daily than women [45]. Positive screenings for alcohol dependency (17.1%) also exceeded values reported in two recent German studies in patients with psoriasis (8.6–13.5%) [5,18]. Possible explanations might include the anonymous environment of an online survey, a more vulnerable sample in this study, or both.

4.4. Limitations and Strengths

There are some study limitations. As this was an online survey, the truthfulness of participant answers cannot be verified and prevalences were estimated using screening tools, not diagnoses. Additionally, due to the anonymity provided by the online design of this study, social desirability bias could have been reduced. While this is desirable, it makes comparison with previous studies in medical settings more difficult. Selection bias must be taken into account when considering the generalizability of these findings. Mainly individuals receiving information, newsletters, or social media updates from the multiplier institutions were reached. Individuals who are not engaging with online content related to psoriasis, who are participating in other organizations, or who do not have an Internet connection were highly unlikely to participate in our study. However, this might have also led to an especially vulnerable subgroup of affected individuals, which can be desirable when evaluating mental and social impairment. Those with a high disease burden might be more likely to search for further information online and therefore have may have a higher chance of receiving a study invitation through a multiplier organization. Since a high proportion of participants in this study were not currently in medical care, this online-based recruitment strategy allowed us to reach a unique group of individuals, who may not have been considered in traditional clinical trials and registries, further showing the strengths of online outreach. This can broaden the horizon of dermatological research and strengthen people-centered care [29].

5. Conclusions

The study implicates that social impairment and Internet addiction are high among individuals with psoriasis recruited via patient networks in a people-centered care and online approach. Positive screening results for Internet addiction and the other mental health variables exceeded values found for the general population. The findings on social impairment and addictions emphasize the importance of mental burden in psoriasis [19] and, therefore, strengthen evidence on the need for programs to reduce stigmatization [15,16]. Internet addiction was confirmed as an aspect of mental health that should be considered in further research on individuals with psoriasis. Ultimately, the results indicate that inclusion of online self-help platforms and their users in health care research could be a key element in promoting people-centered and not only patient-centered care.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.C.S., L.T., B.S., S.Z., C.L., K.E., and A.Z.; methodology, M.C.S., B.S., C.L., and A.Z.; software, M.C.S. and B.S.; validation, L.T. and S.Z.; investigation, M.C.S., L.T., B.S., S.Z., C.L., K.E., and A.Z.; data curation, M.C.S. and B.S.; writing—original draft preparation, M.C.S.; writing—review and editing, M.C.S., L.T., B.S., S.Z., C.L., K.E., and A.Z.; visualization, M.C.S. and L.T.; supervision, K.E. and A.Z.;

project administration, M.C.S., B.S., C.L., and A.Z. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Acknowledgments: The authors want to thank all participating individuals with psoriasis and all multiplier institutions (Psoriasis Netz, Farbenhaut, and the BVDD) involved. Furthermore, we want to thank Alphina Kain for bilingual translation of free-text answers and English editing.

Conflicts of Interest: M.C.S. was financially supported for the presentation of scientific posters and/or received speaker's honoraria by Novartis Pharma GmbH and Janssen-Cilag. L.T. and B.S. were financially supported for the presentation of scientific posters and received unrestricted research grants by Novartis Pharma GmbH. S.Z. was financially supported for the presentation of scientific posters by Novartis Pharma GmbH. C.L. is a member and in charge of the non-profit online self-help network "Psoriasis Netz". K.E. received honoraria of or has been advisory board member at Abbvie, BMS Lilly, Janssen, Novartis, Sanofi, UCB, Leo. A.Z. has been an advisor and/or received speaker's honoraria and/or received grants and/or participated in clinical trials of the following companies with psoriasis products: AbbVie, Almirall, Amgen, Celgene, Eli Lilly, Janssen-Cilag, Novartis Pharma GmbH.

J. Clin. Med. 2020, 9, 1818

Appendix A

Table A1. Differences in positive screenings for depression, daily smoking, alcohol dependency, and Internet addiction when stratified by gender, age (median split), and social impairment.

			Gen	ıder		Ý	ge		Psoriasis is Pre Acti	venting Leisure vities	
		Total ($n = 460$)	Female $(n = 287)$	Male $(n = 173)$	<i>p</i> -Value	<46 years (<i>n</i> = 222)	\geq 46 years (<i>n</i> = 238)	<i>p</i> -Value	Never or Rarely $(n = 130)$	Sometimes, Frequently, or Always (n = 330)	<i>p</i> -Value
Internet addiction 3 ; n (%)	Yes No missing	39 (8.5%) 418 (91.5%) 3	24 (8.5%) 260 (91.5%) 3	15 (8.7%) 158 (91.3%) 0	0.935	20 (9.1%) 199 (90.9%) 3	19 (8.0%) 219 (92.0%) 0	0.660	11 (8.5%) 118 (91.5%) 1	28 (8.5%) 300 (91.5%) 2	766.0
Depression ¹ ; <i>n</i> (%)	Yes No missing	180 (40.0%) 270 (60.0%) 10	116 (41.1%) 166 (58.9%) 5	64 (38.1%) 104 (61.9%) 5	0.524	87 (40.3%) 129 (59.7%) 6	93 (39.7%) 141 (60.3%) 4	0.908	32 (25.2%) 95 (74.8%) 3	148 (45.8%) 175 (54.2%) 7	<0.001
Alcohol dependency ² ; <i>n</i> (%)	Yes No missing	77 (17.1%) 372 (82.9%) 11	33 (11.8%) 246 (88.2%) 8	44 (25.9%) 126 (74.1%) 3	<0.001	33 (15.1%) 185 (84.9%) 4	44 (19.0%) 187 (81.0%) 7	0.272	25 (19.7%) 102 (80.3%) 7	$52 (16.1\%) \\ 270 (83.9\%) \\ 4$	0.371
Smoking daily; $n (\%)$	Yes No missing	150 (32.6%) 310 (67.4%) 0	110 (38.3%) 177 (61.7%) 0	40 (23.1%) 133 (76.9%) 0	0.001	92 (41.4%) 130 (58.6%) 0	58 (24.4%) 180 (75.6%) 0	<0.001	29 (22.3%) 101 (77.7%) 0	121 (36.7%) 209 (63.3%) 0	0.003
¹ Measured using	; the Comp	ulsive Internet Usir	ng Scale (CIUS;	; cutoff: ≥21; rë	ange: 0–56).	² Measured us	ing the WHO-F	ive Well-Bei	ing Index (WHO-5)	questionnaire (cutof	: ≤29; range:

0-100). ³ Measured using the CAGE questionnaire (cutoff: ≥ 2 ; range: $\overline{0-4}$).

Dependent Variable	Independent Variables (Reference)	Crude OR (95% CI)	Adjusted OR (95% CI)
	Age	0.98 (0.96–1.01)	-
	Gender (male)	0.97 (0.50–1.91)	-
	Duration of psoriasis	0.97 (0.95–1.00)	0.97 (0.95–1.00)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Currently in medical care (yes)	0.99 (0.46-2.17)	-
Internet addiction ¹	Severity at the time of study participation (mild)	-	-
	moderate	1.34 (0.56–3.24)	-
	severe	1.29 (0.46-3.60)	-
	Severity in general (mild)	-	-
	moderate	0.54 (0.19–1.53)	-
	severe	0.61 (0.20-1.80)	-
	Social impairment (never or rarely)	1.00 (0.48-2.08)	-
	Age	0.99 (0.98–1.01)	-
	Gender (male)	1.14 (0.77–1.68)	-
	Duration of psoriasis	0.98 (0.97-1.00)	0.98 (0.97-1.00)
D . 2	Currently in medical care (yes)	1.32 (0.84–2.09)	-
Depression ²	Severity at the time of study participation (mild)	-	-
	moderate	1.53 (0.92–2.52)	1.34 (0.80–2.25)
	severe	2.77 (1.55-4.94)	2.13 (1.16–3.91)
	Severity in general (mild)	-	-
	moderate	1.11 (0.53–2.31)	-
	severe	2.08 (0.98-4.43)	-
	Social impairment (never or rarely)	2.51 (1.59-3.96)	2.12 (1.32–3.42)
	Age	0.96 (0.95–0.98)	0.96 (0.95–0.98)
	Gender (male)	2.07 (1.35-3.16)	2.13 (1.36–3.34)
	Duration of psoriasis	0.98 (0.96–0.99)	-
Daily amaking	Currently in medical care (yes)	0.96 (0.60–1.52)	-
Daily smoking	Severity at the time of study participation (mild)	-	-
	moderate	1.36 (0.81–2.26)	-
	severe	1.71 (0.95–3.09)	-
	Severity in general (mild)	-	-
	moderate	2.97 (1.12-7.89)	3.40 (1.24–9.31)
	severe	3.99 (1.48–10.78)	4.58 (1.62–12.96)
	Social impairment (never or rarely)	2.02 (1.26-3.23)	1.77 (1.07-2.94)

Table A2. Associated factors for positive screenings for depression, daily smoking of tobacco as well as alcohol and Internet addiction. Results as crude and adjusted odds ratios.

Dependent Variable	Independent Variables (Reference)	Crude OR (95% CI)	Adjusted OR (95% CI)
	Age	1.01 (0.99–1.03)	-
-	Gender (male)	0.34 (0.23–0.63)	0.34 (0.23–0.63)
	Duration of psoriasis	1.01 (1.00–1.03)	-
Alcohol dependency ³	Currently in medical care (yes)	1.08 (0.60–1.94)	-
Aconor dependency	Severity at the time of study participation (mild)	-	-
	moderate	1.71 (0.88–3.31)	-
-	severe	1.10 (0.49–2.48)	-
	Severity in general (mild)	-	-
-	moderate	2.76 (0.82–9.37)	-
	severe	1.86 (0.53–6.57)	-
	Social impairment (never or rarely)	0.79 (0.46-1.33)	-

Table A2. Cont.

OR = odds ratio; 95% CI = 95% confidence interval; bold values represent significant results at alpha 0.05. ¹ Measured using the Compulsive Internet Using Scale (CIUS; cutoff: \geq 21; range: 0–56). ² Measured using the WHO-Five Well-Being Index (WHO-5) questionnaire (cutoff: \leq 29; range: 0–100). ³ Measured using the CAGE questionnaire (cutoff: \geq 2; range: 0–4).

References

- 1. Young, K.S. The evolution of Internet addiction. Addict. Behav. 2017, 64, 229–230. [CrossRef]
- American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 5th ed.; International Version; American Psychiatric Association: Arlington, VA, USA, 2013.
- Rumpf, H.-J.; Vermulst, A.A.; Bischof, A.; Kastirke, N.; Gürtler, D.; Bischof, G.; Meerkerk, G.-J.; John, U.; Meyer, C. Occurence of internet addiction in a general population sample: A latent class analysis. *Eur. Addict. Res.* 2014, 20, 159–166. [CrossRef]
- Wartberg, L.; Kriston, L.; Kammerl, R.; Petersen, K.-U.; Thomasius, R. Prevalence of pathological internet use in a representative German sample of adolescents: Results of a latent profile analysis. *Psychopathology* 2015, 48, 25–30. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Schielein, M.C.; Tizek, L.; Knobloch, L.; Maaßen, D.; Biedermann, T.; Zink, A. Psoriasis and addictions: Assessing mental health in a cross-sectional study across Germany. under review.
- Michalek, I.M.; Loring, B.; John, S.M. A systematic review of worldwide epidemiology of psoriasis. J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 2017, 31, 205–212. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Tizek, L.; Schielein, M.C.; Seifert, F.; Biedermann, T.; Böhner, A.; Zink, A. Skin diseases are more common than we think: Screening results of an unreferred population at the Munich Oktoberfest. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol.* 2019, 33, 1421–1428. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 8. Greb, J.E.; Goldminz, A.M.; Elder, J.T.; Lebwohl, M.G.; Gladman, D.D.; Wu, J.J.; Mehta, N.N.; Finlay, A.Y.; Gottlieb, A.B. Psoriasis. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers* **2016**, *2*, 16082. [CrossRef]
- Schuster, B.; Ziehfreund, S.; Albrecht, H.; Spinner, C.D.; Biedermann, T.; Peifer, C.; Zink, A. Happiness in dermatology: A holistic evaluation of the mental burden of skin diseases. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol.* 2019. [CrossRef]
- Do, Y.K.; Lakhani, N.; Malhotra, R.; Halstater, B.; Theng, C.; Østbye, T. Association between psoriasis and leisure-time physical activity: Findings from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *J. Dermatol.* 2015, 42, 148–153. [CrossRef]
- Kouris, A.; Platsidaki, E.; Kouskoukis, C.; Christodoulou, C. Psychological parameters of psoriasis. *Psychiatriki* 2017, 28, 54–59. [CrossRef]
- 12. Da Silva, N.; von Stülpnagel, C.; Langenbruch, A.; Danckworth, A.; Augustin, M.; Sommer, R. Disease burden and patient needs and benefits in anogenital psoriasis: Developmental specificities for person-centred healthcare of emerging adults and adults. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol.* **2019**. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Schielein, M.C.; Tizek, L.; Schuster, B.; Ziehfreund, S.; Biedermann, T.; Zink, A. Genital psoriasis and associated factors of sexual avoidance—A people-centered cross-sectional study in Germany. *Acta Derm Venerol.* 2020. [CrossRef]
- 14. Auker, L.; Cordingley, L.; Pye, D.R.; Griffiths, C.E.M.; Young, H.S. What are the barriers to physical activity in patients with chronic plaque psoriasis? *Br. J. Dermatol.* **2020**. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Augustin, M.; Mrowietz, U.; Luck-Sikorski, C.; von Kiedrowski, R.; Schlette, S.; Radtke, M.A.; John, S.M.; Zink, A.; Suthakharan, N.; Sommer, R. Translating the WHA resolution in a member state: Towards a German programme on 'Destigmatization' for individuals with visible chronic skin diseases. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol.* 2019, 33, 2202–2208. [CrossRef]
- Topp, J.; Andrees, V.; Weinberger, N.A.; Schäfer, I.; Sommer, R.; Mrowietz, U.; Luck-Sikorski, C.; Augustin, M. Strategies to reduce stigma related to visible chronic skin diseases: A systematic review. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol.* 2019, 33, 2029–2038. [CrossRef]
- 17. Koo, J.; Marangell, L.B.; Nakamura, M.; Armstrong, A.; Jeon, C.; Bhutani, T.; Wu, J.J. Depression and suicidality in psoriasis: Review of the literature including the cytokine theory of depression. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol.* **2017**, *31*, 1999–2009. [CrossRef]
- Zink, A.; Herrmann, M.; Fischer, T.; Lauffer, F.; Garzorz-Stark, N.; Böhner, A.; Spinner, C.D.; Biedermann, T.; Eyerich, K. Addiction: An underestimated problem in psoriasis health care. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol.* 2017, *31*, 1308–1315. [CrossRef]
- 19. Michalek, I.M.; Loring, B.; John, S.M. *Global Report on Psoriasis*; World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2016; ISBN 9241565187.
- 20. Armstrong, A.W.; Harskamp, C.T.; Dhillon, J.S.; Armstrong, E.J. Psoriasis and smoking: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br. J. Dermatol.* **2014**, *170*, 304–314. [CrossRef]
- 21. Brenaut, E.; Horreau, C.; Pouplard, C.; Barnetche, T.; Paul, C.; Richard, M.-A.; Joly, P.; Le Maître, M.; Aractingi, S.; Aubin, F.; et al. Alcohol consumption and psoriasis: A systematic literature review. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol.* **2013**, *27*, 30–35. [CrossRef]
- 22. Takahashi, H.; Iinuma, S.; Tsuji, H.; Honma, M.; Iizuka, H. Biologics are more potent than other treatment modalities for improvement of quality of life in psoriasis patients. *J. Dermatol.* **2014**, *41*, 686–689. [CrossRef]
- 23. Maroti, M.; Ulff, E.; Wijma, B. Quality of life before and 6 weeks after treatment in a dermatological outpatient treatment unit. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol.* **2006**, *20*, 1081–1085. [CrossRef]
- 24. Eissing, L.; Radtke, M.A.; Zander, N.; Augustin, M. Barriers to guideline-compliant psoriasis care: Analyses and concepts. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol.* **2016**, *30*, 569–575. [CrossRef]
- Schielein, M.C.; Tizek, L.; Rotter, M.; Konstantinow, A.; Biedermann, T.; Zink, A. Guideline-compliant prescription of biologicals and possible barriers in dermatological practices in Bavaria. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol.* 2018, 32, 978–984. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Schielein, M.C.; Tizek, L.; Seifert, F.; Biedermann, T.; Zink, A. Versorgung von chronisch entzündlichen Hauterkrankungen: Gehen Betroffene zum niedergelassenen Dermatologen? *Hautarzt* 2019, 70, 875–882. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 27. Sheikh, K.; George, A.; Gilson, L. People-centred science: Strengthening the practice of health policy and systems research. *Health Res. Policy Syst.* **2014**, *12*, 19. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 28. Starfield, B. Is patient-centered care the same as person-focused care? Perm. J. 2011, 15, 63–69. [CrossRef]
- Arafa, A.E.; Anzengruber, F.; Mostafa, A.M.; Navarini, A.A. Perspectives of online surveys in dermatology. J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 2019, 33, 511–520. [CrossRef]
- Tizek, L.; Schielein, M.; Rüth, M.; Ständer, S.; Pereira, M.P.; Eberlein, B.; Biedermann, T.; Zink, A. Influence of Climate on Google Internet Searches for Pruritus Across 16 German Cities: Retrospective Analysis. *J. Med. Internet Res.* 2019, 21, e13739. [CrossRef]
- Tizek, L.; Schielein, M.C.; Rüth, M.; Szeimies, R.-M.; Philipp-Dormston, W.G.; Braun, S.A.; Hecker, C.; Eberlein, B.; Biedermann, T.; Zink, A. Interest in Skin Cancer in Urban Populations: A Retrospective Analysis of Google Search Terms in Nine Large German Cities. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 2019, *99*, 797–804. [CrossRef]
- 32. Zink, A.; Schuster, B.; Rüth, M.; Pereira, M.P.; Philipp-Dormston, W.G.; Biedermann, T.; Ständer, S. Medical needs and major complaints related to pruritus in Germany: A 4-year retrospective analysis using Google AdWords Keyword Planner. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol.* **2019**, *33*, 151–156. [CrossRef]
- 33. Schuster, B.; Ziehfreund, S.; Biedermann, T.; Zink, A. Psoriasis 2.0: Facebook as a source of disease-related information for patients with psoriasis. *J. Dtsch. Dermatol. Ges.* **2020**. [CrossRef]

- Wartberg, L.; Petersen, K.-U.; Kammerl, R.; Rosenkranz, M.; Thomasius, R. Psychometric validation of a German version of the compulsive Internet use scale. *Cyberpsychology Behav. Soc. Netw.* 2014, 17, 99–103. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Guertler, D.; Rumpf, H.-J.; Bischof, A.; Kastirke, N.; Petersen, K.U.; John, U.; Meyer, C. Assessment of problematic internet use by the Compulsive Internet Use Scale and the Internet Addiction Test: A sample of problematic and pathological gamblers. *Eur. Addict. Res.* **2014**, *20*, 75–81. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 36. Topp, C.W.; Østergaard, S.D.; Søndergaard, S.; Bech, P. The WHO-5 Well-Being Index: A systematic review of the literature. *Psychother. Psychosom.* **2015**, *84*, 167–176. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 37. World Health Organization. Wellbeing Measures in Primary Health Care: The DepCare Project. Available online: http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/130750/E60246.pdf (accessed on 7 April 2020).
- Löwe, B.; Spitzer, R.L.; Gräfe, K.; Kroenke, K.; Quenter, A.; Zipfel, S.; Buchholz, C.; Witte, S.; Herzog, W. Comparative validity of three screening questionnaires for DSM-IV depressive disorders and physicians' diagnoses. J. Affect. Disord. 2004, 78, 131–140. [CrossRef]
- 39. Mayfield, D.; McLeod, G.; Hall, P. The CAGE questionnaire: Validation of a new alcoholism screening instrument. *Am. J. Psychiatry* **1974**, *131*, 1121–1123. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 40. Dhalla, S.; Kopec, J.A. The CAGE questionnaire for alcohol misuse: A review of reliability and validity studies. *Clin. Investig. Med.* **2007**, *30*, 33–41. [CrossRef]
- 41. Ramsay, B.; O'Reagan, M. A survey of the social and psychological effects of psoriasis. *Br. J. Dermatol.* **1988**, *118*, 195–201. [CrossRef]
- 42. Patruno, C.; Napolitano, M.; Balato, N.; Ayala, F.; Megna, M.; Patrì, A.; Cirillo, T.; Balato, A. Psoriasis and skin pain: Instrumental and biological evaluations. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* **2015**, *95*, 432–438. [CrossRef]
- 43. Eichenberg, C.; Schott, M.; Decker, O.; Sindelar, B. Attachment Style and Internet Addiction: An Online Survey. *J. Med. Internet Res.* **2017**, *19*, e170. [CrossRef]
- 44. Megna, M.; Gisonni, P.; Napolitano, M.; Dell'Aversano Orabona, G.; Patruno, C.; Ayala, F.; Balato, N. The Effect of Smartphone Addiction on Hand Joints in Psoriatic Patients: An Ultrasound-Based Study. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol.* **2018**, *32*, 73–78. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. Atzendorf, J.; Rauschert, C.; Seitz, N.-N.; Lochbühler, K.; Kraus, L. The Use of Alcohol, Tobacco, Illegal Drugs and Medicines. *Dtsch. Arztebl. Int.* 2019, *116*, 577–584. [CrossRef] [PubMed]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Publication III: People-centered care for psoriasis and urticaria: Are we overlooking Internet addiction while only considering patients and physician settings?

Schielein MC, Tizek L, Baeumer D, Hillmann E, Romer K, Wagner N, Zink A. People-centered care for psoriasis and urticaria: Are we overlooking Internet addiction while only considering patients and physician settings?. J Dermatol 2020; [accepted]

The Journal of DermatologyISI Journal Citation Reports 2019Impact Factor: 3.072Ranking: 20/68 (Dermatology)

1	People-cent	ered care for Psoriasis and Urticaria: Are we overlooking Internet Addiction while
2		only considering Patients and Physician settings?
3		Internet Addiction in skin dieseases
4	Maximilia	an Christian Schielein ^{1,2,3} , Linda Tizek ^{1,2,3} , Daniel Baeumer ⁴ , Elena Hillmann ⁴ , Katrin
5		Romer ⁴ , Nicola Wagner ⁵ , Alexander Zink ¹
6 7	¹ Technical	University of Munich, School of Medicine, Department of Dermatology and Allergy, Munich, Germany
8 9	² Ludwig-Ma	aximilians-University Munich, Department of Medical Informatics, Biometry and Epidemiology (IBE), Munich, Germany
10	³ Ludwig	g-Maximilians-University Munich, Pettenkofer School of Public Health, Munich, Germany
11		⁴ Novartis Pharma GmbH, Nuremberg, Germany
12	⁵ Dep	artment of Dermatology, University Hospital Erlangen-Nürnberg;, Erlangen, Germany
13		
14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21	Correspondin PD Dr. Dr. m Department o Technical Un Biedersteiner Tel: Fax: E-Mail:	g author: ed. Alexander Zink, MPH and Maximilian Schielein, MPH f Dermatology and Allergy, School of Medicine iversity of Munich Str. 29, 80802 Munich, Germany +49 89 4140 3176 +49 89 4140 3572 alexander.zink@tum.de and maximilian.schielein@tum.de
22	Manuscript v	word count: 3,708
23	Tables: 2	
24	Figures: 3	

Supplementary Tables: 2

26 Abstract

Psoriasis and chronic urticaria (CU) are chronic skin diseases with a high impact on individuals' life and 27 28 mental health. Some studies indicate a high prevalence of Internet addiction and many affected individuals seem not to utilize health care, but rather search for health-related information online. Aims 29 30 of the study were to assess Internet addiction as a potential comorbidity in both diseases as well as identify differences in health care utilization between individuals with psoriasis and CU as well as. This 31 cross-sectional study is based on self-reported data from individuals with psoriasis and CU living 32 33 throughout Germany using the framework of an online survey from 12/2018 to 01/2019. Advertisements on Google and Facebook were used to address Internet users who searched online for information on 34 35 psoriasis or CU. The study questionnaire comprised questions on demographics, current contact to physicians, disease history as well as validated screening tools for well-being and Internet addiction. 36 37 Overall, 1,686 participants (74.0% female; 38.5% psoriasis) with a mean age of 36.9 ± 12.9 years were 38 analyzed. Participants with CU were more likely female (89.2% vs. 49.8%; p<0.001) and not in medical care compared to participants with psoriasis (60.3% vs. 45.9%; p<0.001). Sixteen percent of the 39 40 participants overall were screened positive for Internet addiction. Furthermore, not utilizing medical care showed a significant association with being screened positive for Internet addiction in participants 41 42 with CU (adjusted odds ratio (aOR)= 1.49; 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.10-2.02), but not in those with psoriasis. The study revealed a high proportion of affected individuals not being in medical care 43 44 and a high prevalence of Internet addiction, with individuals with CU not utilizing medical resources 45 having a higher chance of being screened positive for Internet addiction. This underlines the approach of people-centered care and highlights its importance for further research. 46

Keywords: Chronic skin diseases; Dermatology; Internet addiction; Depression; Mental Health;
Epidemiology; People-centered care

49 Introduction

In Europe, the prevalence of psoriasis ranges between 1.3% and 11.4%, with a reported prevalence of 50 2.0% in Germany [1,2]. Chronic urticaria (CU) has a point prevalence of 0.5% to 1.0% across Europe 51 [3]. The psychosocial burden of both diseases is high as individuals often experience stigmatization or 52 53 social and sexual avoidance [4,5] as well as suffer from comorbidities including mental diseases [6,7]. 54 For example, studies demonstrated that psoriasis patients showed an addictive behavior regarding cigarettes and alcohol [8–10]. First studies indicated that psoriasis is potentially associated with other 55 addictive behaviors such as Internet addiction [11,12]. As Internet addiction represents a rapidly rising 56 57 phenomenon of societies worldwide, the fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental 58 Disorders mentioned it as the most potent problem needing further research. Therefore, it is essential to 59 clarify its presence in people with chronic visible skin diseases, who often withdrawal themselves from social activities [5, 13, 14]. However, those studies used heterogeneous settings as one study included 60 patients recruited by dermatologists and the other people recruited via psoriasis self-help groups and 61 62 showed a wide variation in the Internet addiction rate. The association between CU and Internet addiction has not been investigated so far. 63

64 Adequate treatment can not only improve patients' symptoms, but may also reduce mental health burden [15,16]. However, there are barriers in the use of modern treatments and not every patient receives 65 therapy according to the respective national guidelines [17, 18]. Furthermore, it is important to 66 67 distinguish between patients and affected individuals as some persons do not contact a physician due to their skin disease [19, 20]. The World Health Organization (WHO) hence demands an improvement of 68 69 people-centered care in order to bridge the gap between physicians and affected individuals [21, 22]. Accordingly, psoriasis should be considered as model disease and according to the WHO other chronic 70 71 skin diseases were to be included if possible [21].

When reaching out for individuals suffering from their disease, but do not consult a doctor, prior research showed that usage of the Internet might be beneficial [23, 24] as it is a commonly used source for health information [25]. One study showed that 80% of affected people used the Internet to receive initial or additional information about their disease [26]. Additionally, online search analysis demonstrated that the burden of specific diseases is high and anonymous online settings might reduce social desirability bias [27]. Reaching out for affected individuals online showed first good results in the field ofdermatology [28].

The aims of this study were (I) to estimate the prevalence of Internet addiction in people suffering from psoriasis and CU reached online and (II) to identify differences in health care utilization between individuals with both diseases.

82 Methods

83 Study design and participants

84 This non-interventional cross-sectional study assessed self-reported data from individuals with psoriasis and CU living throughout Germany using the framework of an online survey from December 2018 to 85 86 January 2019. Recruitment was carried out through online banner advertisement on Facebook and 87 Google. The banners stated e.g. "Psoriasis Survey - participate now!" or "Urticaria - looking for participants in a survey," and specifically addressed individuals whose prior search behavior indicated 88 89 interest in these diseases and therefore represent a certain sub-population of individuals with the respective disease. Before starting the survey, participants gave their electronic informed consent. 90 91 Inclusion criteria were (I) 18 years and older, (II) self-stated physician diagnosis of psoriasis or CU and 92 associated symptoms within the last three months, and (III) self-stated ability to complete the German questionnaire. All these criteria had to be answered before being able to start with the questionnaire. If 93 94 one question was neglected, participants were guided to the respective self-help web-pages. To ensure 95 data quality, participants answering less than 80% of study questionnaire were excluded. Ethical 96 clearance for all analyses was sought from the Ethics Commission of the Faculty of Medicine of the 97 Technical University of Munich.

98 Questionnaire

99 The study was designed by a consortium of two experienced dermatologists and two epidemiologists 100 and variables were only added or deleted after consensus. Questions asked for general demographics 101 (age, gender, relationship status, current employment), current utilization of health care system, disease 102 history (duration of disease, time span from first symptoms to first diagnoses), and mental health aspects 103 including a short version of the patient health questionnaire (PHQ-D) [29] as well as the short version 104 of the Compulsive Internet Using Scale (CIUS) [30]. The PHQ-D is a screening tool for depression and

105 consists out of two dichotomous questions ('During the past month, ...': '(I) have you often been 106 bothered by feeling down, depressed, or hopeless?' or '(II) have you often been bothered by little interest 107 or pleasure in doing things?') [29]. The score ranges from 0 to 2 and a score of ≥ 1 is considered as a positive screening for further investigation towards depression. The CIUS is a screening tool for Internet 108 addiction and consists of five questions using a five-point Likert scale ranging from 'never' (0) to 'very 109 110 often' (4). It represents a reliable questionnaire (Cronbach's alpha: 0.77) and the suggested cut-off value is \geq 7 for a positive screening result, resulting in a sensitivity of 0.95 and a specificity of 0.87 [30, 31]. 111 112 To minimize false positive results and to increase reliability of prevalence estimations of Internet 113 addiction, the cut-off value for the estimation of prevalence was increased to ≥ 9 , whereby the specificity 114 increases to 0.96 [30]. Additionally, time spent online per day for leisure as well as days per week spent 115 online (both not including activities for work) were inquired and summarized as hours spent online per 116 week for further analyses. Disease severity was measured asking for participants self-stated affected 117 body surface area (BSA), which was to be estimated in hands (one hand = 1% of body surface) [32]. A value of ≥ 10 indicated a moderate to severe form of psoriasis. Disease control of CU was measured 118 119 using the 'Urticaria Control Test' (UCT), which consists of four questions being answered using a five-120 point Likert scale (range 0-16). It refers to participants' disease during the last four weeks and a cut-off of ≤ 11 indicates a poorly controlled CU [33]. To assure high quality of data and minimize bias due to 121 missing data, several plausibility checks were implemented before the analysis (e.g. the time since 122 123 diagnosis or onset of symptoms could not be higher than the age).

124 Statistics and data management

Descriptive data were generated. Data were stratified by disease as well as by utilization of medical care. 125 Linear variables were compared using unpaired t-test and categorical variables were compared using 126 Pearson's chi-squared test. To identify factors associated with compulsive Internet use, a logistic 127 regression was carried out, yielding the screening with literature recommended CIUS cut-off value (≥7) 128 129 as dependent variables. As independent variables, all reported variables available for psoriasis and CU were added (age, gender, disease (psoriasis/CU), disease duration, disease duration before consulting a 130 physician for the first time, utilization of health care system, PHQ-D, relationship status). Furthermore, 131 132 two disease specific models were calculated including BSA and UCT, respectively. All crude odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated. To visualize multicollinearity, correlations
were calculated and reported using the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient. To minimize it, all
variables were added in a multiple regression model and selected via backward selection. After
elimination, adjusted ORs (aOR) and respective 95% CIs were calculated. IBM SPSS Statistics (Version 25, IBM Corporation) Armonk, NY, USA) was used for all analyses and alpha was set to 0.05.

138 Results

- 139 Participants' characteristics and comparison of disease
- Overall, 3,222 individuals opened the first page of the survey and 1,686 completed it, resulting in a rate 140 141 of 50.8% (Fig. 1). Of the included 1,686 participants, 74.0% were females and the participants' mean age was 36.9 ± 12.9 years. More participants with CU took part ($n_{cu}=1,037$ vs. $n_{pso}=649$) and those had 142 a higher proportion of females (89.2% vs. 49.8%, p<0.001) as well as a younger mean age (33.4 ± 10.9 143 years vs. 42.5 ± 13.7 years; p<0.001). Mean UCT was 7.9 ± 3.9 , indicating that 79.6% of participants 144 145 with CU were uncontrolled. Mean BSA was 6.1 ± 8.0 , with a mild disease in 83.6% of participants with 146 psoriasis. Individuals with psoriasis indicated a longer disease duration $(18.1 \pm 12.7 \text{ years vs. } 10.0 \pm 9.3 \text{ s})$ years, p<0.001) and a longer timespan between the first symptoms and consulting a physician (7.0 ± 7.9) 147 148 years vs. 3.6 ± 5.4 years; p<0.001). Around 70% of participants in both groups scored ≥ 1 on the PHQ-D, which indicates a psychosocial disturbance, and about one in two participants scored two, which 149 indicates further investigation for the presence of a depressive tendency. 150 151 Estimated prevalence of Internet addiction
- 152 In the CU group, people not being in medical care had significantly higher CIUS score (5.0 ± 3.8 vs. 4.2
- 153 \pm 3.6; p=0.001) and a higher proportion of positive screenings for compulsive Internet use (cut-off: \geq 7)
- than those receiving medical care (29.4% vs 22.6%; p=0.014; Table 2). In the psoriasis group, no
- 155 difference was observed (Table 2). Participants not consulting a physician reported a longer time spent
- 156 online within a week (21.4 ± 20.2 h/week vs. 19.9 ± 18.8 h/week; p=0.130).
- 157 Overall, 16.0% of participants were screened positive for compulsive Internet use (cut-off: \geq 9)
- 158 indicating an Internet addiction. The proportion of positive screenings was not significantly higher
- among participants not receiving medical care (17.6% vs. 14.2%; p=0.058) and participants with CU
- 160 (16.9% vs. 14.6%; p=0.223; Fig. 2).

161 Associated factors for Internet addiction

- 162 Of all participants, 1,618 (96.0%) had complete datasets and were included in the first logistic regression
- 163 model. The chance of having a positive screening for Internet addiction decreased with rising age
- 164 (aOR=0.97; 95% CI 0.96-0.98; Table S1). Compared to that, being not in medical care (aOR=1.30; 95%
- 165 CI 1.03-1.63), not being in a relationship (aOR=1.32; 95% CI 1.02-1.70), and having higher scores in
- 166 the PHQ-D were associated with a positive screening for Internet addiction (aOR_{PHQ-D=1}=1.51; 95% CI
- 167 1.06-2.14; aOR_{PHQ-D=2}=2.35 95% CI 1.78-3.11; Fig. 3).

168 When stratified by disease, the association of gender vanished in both diseases. The high correlation

169 coefficient of gender and disease ($r_s=0.44$; p<0.001; Table S2) therefore indicated an effect modifying

- 170 nature of gender in this model. Furthermore, the association of medical care and compulsive Internet
- 171 use vanished in participants with psoriasis, while the aOR increased in CU (aOR=1.49; 95% CI 1.10-
- 172 2.02).
- 173 Stratification by the utilization of medical care

The proportion of people currently not in medical care was significantly higher among individuals 174 suffering from CU than psoriasis (60.3% vs. 45.9%; p<0.001; Table 1). In general, participants currently 175 receiving medical care were younger (35.6 ± 12.5 years vs. 38.5 ± 13.2 ; p<0.001) and had waited longer 176 after onset of symptoms until they consulted a physician (6.4 ± 7.7 years vs. 4.8 ± 6.6 years; p<0.001). 177 178 They showed a longer disease duration (13.6 ± 11.3 years vs. 12.3 ± 11.5 years; p=0.026) compared to individuals who reported not receiving medical care. Patients with CU in medical care showed a lower 179 UCT (6.9 ± 3.9 vs. 8.5 ± 3.8 ; p<0.001), indicating that they had a less controlled disease. Additionally, 180 participants with CU not seeking medical care showed an increased CIUS score (5.0 ± 3.8 vs. 4.2 ± 3.6 ; 181 p<0.001) and more positive screenings for compulsive Internet use (29.4% vs. 22.6%; p=0.014) 182 183 compared to those who were in medical care. Participants with psoriasis showed the same trend, however it was not significant. Furthermore, PHQ-D was more likely to be higher in participants seeing 184 185 a physician for their CU, while no significant difference was identified within participants with psoriasis (Table 2). 186

187 Discussion

The aims of this study were to (I) estimate the prevalence of Internet addiction among people with psoriasis and CU reached online and (II) to identify differences in health care utilization between both diseases. By using online advertisement, a high proportion of individuals who were currently not in medical care was reached. Positive screening rate for Internet addiction was high and the chance to have a positive screening was higher in younger participants, in individuals who were currently not seeing a doctor, and in individuals having depressive tendencies.

194 Stratification by disease

Although it is reported that females have a slightly higher prevalence for CU than men [3,34], the proportion of females with reported CU in this study was very high. One possible explanation might be the higher frequency of young individuals and women searching for health related information online [33-35]. However, this assumption is not supported by age and gender distribution compared to individuals with psoriasis participating in the survey. Yet, it remains unclear why these gender differences were reached and needs future research.

201 Estimated prevalence of Internet addiction

Reported values of Internet addiction in Germany among the general population range from 1.0 to 5.0%, 202 203 depending on age group [38, 39]. In 2014, a large German study including 8,130 individuals reported an Internet addiction prevalence of 1.0 to 1.5% [40]. Accordingly, the herein found rate for positive 204 205 screening of 16.0% appears to be tremendously high. One important reason for these considerable 206 differences could be that participants showing symptoms of an Internet addiction are more likely to 207 spend more time online and therefore being reached via an online survey or online advertisements. As 208 this study online included people reached online, individuals with no access to the Internet were not able to participate in this study. However, a comparable study reported a prevalence of 1.2% among 249 209 regular Internet users. The authors also relied on a web-based design using Facebook for recruitment 210 and the study period lasted less than two months [39]. The study results, however, did not only indicate 211 a higher rate of Internet addiction in comparison to the general population, but also in comparison with 212 213 two previous studies among people with psoriasis. For example, in a study among individuals with 214 psoriasis reached via online self-help groups the reported prevalence was 8.5% [12] and in a study 215 among psoriasis patients recruited offline, in clinics and dermatological offices, the prevalence was 3.8% [11]. Therefore, the way affected individuals are reached seems to be essential for the frequency of 216 positive screenings for Internet addiction. Although using an online setting to investigate Internet 217 218 addiction might overestimate the actual problem, this might not be the only reason for these large

differences, but also promotes the use of online tools and advertisements to reach a potentially vulnerable sub-sample of people with chronic skin diseases. While there is no evidence on rate of Internet addiction among people with CU in the literature so far, a previous study indicated compulsive tendencies in patients with urticaria [41]. This is an important finding and needs further investigation.

223 Associated factors for Internet addiction

Like in the literature, Internet addiction was associated with younger age [39] and showed no gender 224 differences [40]. Additionally, the study could confirm depressive tendency being positively associated 225 with Internet addiction [42, 43]. As this is the first study which investigate the issue in chronic skin 226 227 disease including individuals with and without contact to a physician, it is highly interesting that affected individuals who were currently not in medical care had a higher chance of a positive screening for 228 229 Internet addiction. When stratified by disease, this difference vanished in participants with psoriasis, 230 while it increased in participants with CU. In combination with diminishing effects of relationship status due to stratification, this indicated the role of disease as possible confounder. Therefore, the exact nature 231 of this association and potential causality should be investigated in future studies. Further studies are 232 needed and registry data or data including a suitable control group might be highly beneficial. 233

234 Stratification by the utilization of medical care

235 The study indicated that people being not in medical care had a milder disease form which might be due to the fact that their disease might be already controlled compared to those who are receiving medical 236 237 care. The mean UCT value of 8.5 was remarkably below the score indicating a controlled disease (=12). Indeed, three out of four people not being in medical care indicated an uncontrolled CU. However, 238 controlling the disease was reported to be a major aim in CU [34, 44, 45] and the proportions of poorly 239 controlled individuals was higher in this study than previously reported in the literature (79.6% vs. 240 36.5%) [34]. A possible explanation might be that individuals with a less controlled CU are more likely 241 242 to be bothered and therefore search for information online. Subsequently, the study's specific 243 advertisements might mainly have reached these individuals. By all means, modern and effective therapies do not have an added value if people do not receive them [46]. 244

The longer disease duration of participants of both groups not being in medical care underlines the necessity of medical advice and care. Furthermore, it could indicate a drop out of medical care as a result of long disease duration and frustrated expectations in sufficient and promising treatments. This would be in accordance with previous findings [47].

Participants with CU receiving medical care reported depressive tendencies more often. While about one in three participants not seeing a physician showed no signs of depressive tendency, in the subgroup of participants currently under medical care only one in five did. An explanation for this difference might be the high proportion of poorly controlled CU in the first group, which is reported to be highly burdening [48]. Furthermore, physicians, especially dermatologists could be sensitized to this issue.

254 Limitations and strengths

There are some study limitations. First of all, study participants stated self-reported that they suffer 255 either from psoriasis or CU and study fraud cannot be excluded. Measures to minimize the chance of 256 including bots and fraudsters were taken in accordance with existing literature (no "back" button, 257 258 plausibility checks) [49]. However, due to the anonymous study design measures including geolocation or the IP-address of participants were not feasible, even though they were shown to be highly effective 259 [49, 50]. Furthermore, all answers were self-stated and so, for example, BSA in participants with 260 261 psoriasis might differ from actual BSA measured by a dermatologist. Another limitation is that no exact response rate can be stated. It is known, that 50.8% of individuals who reacted via the advertisement 262 263 took part in the survey, however it is unclear for how many Internet users the survey was displayed. Additionally, there was a large potential of selection bias. The proportion of female participants was 264 extremely high, although there are no considerable differences in the prevalence of psoriasis and CU 265 266 among females and males. Furthermore, only individuals with Internet access and only those actively 267 searching for psoriasis or CU related topics have been reached. This substantially reduces the chance of 268 achieving a representative sample of all individuals with psoriasis and CU, respectively. However, this might also be a major strength of this study: participants might not be representative for all individuals 269 with psoriasis or CU, but it highlights the need to reach affected individuals. Those individuals suffering 270 271 from the symptoms of their disease might be more likely to search online and subsequently react to the advertised posts. Furthermore, more than half of all participants were not in medical care and therefore 272 are highly unlikely to be reached throughout conservative epidemiological studies and registries 273 focusing on patients instead of all affected people. Consequently, this approach might contribute to 274 275 broaden the horizon of medical research and could be promising to address individuals with high disease

burden and no contact to a physician, underlining its importance mentioned in a prior review [28].

277 Conclusion

In conclusion, many individuals with psoriasis and CU were reached through this online survey, of those 278 279 a large proportion reported to receive no medical care. The study revealed a high occurrence of Internet 280 addiction in participants, demonstrating that individuals with CU not being in medical care have a higher 281 chance of being screened positive. Accordingly, these findings underline the importance of a people-282 centered approach and the potential of online settings for dermatological research [28]. Additionally, it reveals that online surveys might be a valuable tool if vulnerable groups have to be included in future 283 research. Future studies could include an age and gender adjusted control group as well as health 284 insurance data to clarify whether the risk of Internet addiction is increased among patients with psoriasis 285 286 or CU. They should focus on identifying ways to reach individuals not seeking medical care despite 287 suffering from these diseases.

288 Acknowledgements

- 289 Funding sources
- 290 This study was financially supported by Novartis Pharma GmbH.

291 Conflict of Interest

- 292 MCS received personal fees from Novartis Pharma GmbH. LT received unrestricted research grants
- and personal fees from Novartis Pharma GmbH. NW acted as advisor, received lecture honoraria and
- 294 participated in clinical trials/studies of Novartis Pharma GmbH. AZ acted advisor, received lecture
- 295 honoraria, received unrestricted research grants and participated in clinical trials/studies of Novartis
- 296 Pharma GmbH. DB, EH and NW are employees of Novartis Pharma GmbH

- 297 References
- 298 1. Michalek, I.M.; Loring, B.; John, S.M. A systematic review of worldwide epidemiology of psoriasis.
- 299 J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 2017, 31, 205–212, doi:10.1111/jdv.13854.

2. Tizek, L.; Schielein, M.C.; Seifert, F.; Biedermann, T.; Böhner, A.; Zink, A. Skin diseases are more
common than we think: screening results of an unreferred population at the Munich Oktoberfest. J. Eur.
Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 2019, 33, 1421–1428, doi:10.1111/jdv.15494.

- 303 3. Fricke, J.; Ávila, G.; Keller, T.; Weller, K.; Lau, S.; Maurer, M.; Zuberbier, T.; Keil, T. Prevalence
 304 of chronic urticaria in children and adults across the globe: Systematic review with meta-analysis.
 305 Allergy 2020, 75, 423–432, doi:10.1111/all.14037.
- 4. van Beugen, S.; van Middendorp, H.; Ferwerda, M.; Smit, J.V.; Zeeuwen-Franssen, M.E.J.; Kroft,
 E.B.M.; Jong, E.M.G.J. de; Donders, A.R.T.; van de Kerkhof, P.C.M.; Evers, A.W.M. Predictors of
 perceived stigmatization in patients with psoriasis. Br. J. Dermatol. 2017, 176, 687–694,
 doi:10.1111/bjd.14875.
- 5. Schielein, M.C.; Tizek, L.; Schuster, B.; Ziehfreund, S.; Biedermann, T.; Zink, A. Genital Psoriasis
 and Associated Factors of Sexual Avoidance A People-centered Cross-sectional Study in Germany.
 Acta Derm. Venereol. 2020, 100, adv00151, doi:10.2340/00015555-3509.
- 313 6. Koo, J.; Marangell, L.B.; Nakamura, M.; Armstrong, A.; Jeon, C.; Bhutani, T.; Wu, J.J. Depression
- and suicidality in psoriasis: review of the literature including the cytokine theory of depression. J. Eur.
- 315 Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 2017, 31, 1999–2009, doi:10.1111/jdv.14460.
- 7. Konstantinou, G.N.; Konstantinou, G.N. Psychiatric comorbidity in chronic urticaria patients: a
 systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin. Transl. Allergy 2019, 9, doi:10.1186/s13601-019-0278-3.
- 8. Armstrong, A.W.; Harskamp, C.T.; Dhillon, J.S.; Armstrong, E.J. Psoriasis and smoking: a systematic
 review and meta-analysis. Br. J. Dermatol. 2014, 170, 304–314, doi:10.1111/bjd.12670.
- 9. Brenaut, E.; Horreau, C.; Pouplard, C.; Barnetche, T.; Paul, C.; Richard, M.-A.; Joly, P.; Le Maître,
 M.; Aractingi, S.; Aubin, F.; et al. Alcohol consumption and psoriasis: a systematic literature review. J.
 Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 2013, 27 Suppl 3, 30–35, doi:10.1111/jdv.12164.
- 10. Zink, A.; Herrmann, M.; Fischer, T.; Lauffer, F.; Garzorz-Stark, N.; Böhner, A.; Spinner, C.D.;
 Biedermann, T.; Eyerich, K. Addiction: an underestimated problem in psoriasis health care. J. Eur. Acad.
 Dermatol. Venereol. 2017, 31, 1308–1315, doi:10.1111/jdv.14204.
- Schielein, M.C.; Tizek, L.; Knobloch, L.; Maaßen, D.; Biedermann, T.; Zink, A. Psoriasis and
 addictions: assessing mental health in a cross-sectional study across Germany; [under review].
- Schielein, M.C.; Tizek, L.; Schuster, B.; Ziehfreund, S.; Liebram, C.; Eyerich, K.; Zink, A. Always
 Online? Internet Addiction and Social Impairment in Psoriasis across Germany. J. Clin. Med. 2020, 9,
 doi:10.3390/jcm9061818.
- 13. Mihajlov M, Vejmelka L. Internet Addiction: A Review of the First Twenty Years. Psychiatr Danub
 2017; 29(3):260–72.
- 14. Young KS. The evolution of Internet addiction. Addict Behav 2017; 64:229–30.
- Gordon, K.B.; Armstrong, A.W.; Han, C.; Foley, P.; Song, M.; Wasfi, Y.; You, Y.; Shen, Y.K.; Reich, K. Anxiety and depression in patients with moderate-to-severe psoriasis and comparison of
 change from baseline after treatment with guselkumab vs. adalimumab: results from the Phase 3
- 337 VOYAGE 2 study. J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 2018, 32, 1940–1949, doi:10.1111/jdv.15012.

- 338 16. Mrowietz, U.; Kragballe, K.; Reich, K.; Spuls, P.; Griffiths, C.E.M.; Nast, A.; Franke, J.; Antoniou,
- C.; Arenberger, P.; Balieva, F.; et al. Definition of treatment goals for moderate to severe psoriasis: a
 European consensus. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 2011, 303, 1–10, doi:10.1007/s00403-010-1080-1.
- 17. Eissing, L.; Radtke, M.A.; Zander, N.; Augustin, M. Barriers to guideline-compliant psoriasis care:
 analyses and concepts. J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 2016, 30, 569–575, doi:10.1111/jdv.13452.
- 18. Schielein, M.C.; Tizek, L.; Rotter, M.; Konstantinow, A.; Biedermann, T.; Zink, A. Guidelinecompliant prescription of biologicals and possible barriers in dermatological practices in Bavaria. J. Eur.
 Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 2018, 32, 978–984, doi:10.1111/jdv.14811.
- Schielein, M.C.; Tizek, L.; Seifert, F.; Biedermann, T.; Zink, A. Versorgung von chronisch
 entzündlichen Hauterkrankungen : Gehen Betroffene zum niedergelassenen Dermatologen? Hautarzt
 2019, 70, 875–882, doi:10.1007/s00105-019-04481-6.
- 2019, 70, 875–882, doi:10.1007/800105-019-04481-0.
- Starfield, B. Is patient-centered care the same as person-focused care? Perm. J. 2011, 15, 63–69,
 doi:10.7812/tpp/10-148.
- 351 21. World, H.O. Changing mindsets: strategy on health policy and systems research. Geneva: WHO352 2012.
- 22. Sheikh, K.; George, A.; Gilson, L. People-centred science: strengthening the practice of health policy
 and systems research. Health Res. Policy Syst. 2014, 12, 19, doi:10.1186/1478-4505-12-19.
- Tizek, L.; Schielein, M.C.; Rüth, M.; Szeimies, R.-M.; Philipp-Dormston, W.G.; Braun, S.A.;
 Hecker, C.; Eberlein, B.; Biedermann, T.; Zink, A. Interest in Skin Cancer in Urban Populations: A
 Retrospective Analysis of Google Search Terms in Nine Large German Cities. Acta Derm. Venereol.
 2019, 99, 797–804, doi:10.2340/00015555-3214.
- 24. Wehner, M.R.; Nead, K.T.; Linos, E. Correlation Among Cancer Incidence and Mortality Rates and
 Internet Searches in the United States. JAMA Dermatol. 2017, 153, 911–914,
 doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2017.1870.
- 362 23. Tan, S.S.-L.; Goonawardene, N. Internet Health Information Seeking and the Patient-Physician
 363 Relationship: A Systematic Review. J. Med. Internet Res. 2017, 19, e9, doi:10.2196/jmir.5729.
- 24. Ebel M.-D.; Stellamanns J.; Keinki C.; Rudolph I.; Huebner J. Cancer Patients and the Internet: a
 Survey Among German Cancer Patients. J Cancer Educ. 2017, 32, 503-508, doi:10.1007/s13187-0150945-6.
- 25. Zink, A.; Schuster, B.; Rüth, M.; Pereira, M.P.; Philipp-Dormston, W.G.; Biedermann, T.; Ständer,
 S. Medical needs and major complaints related to pruritus in Germany: a 4-year retrospective analysis
 using Google AdWords Keyword Planner. J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 2019, 33, 151–156,
 doi:10.1111/jdv.15200.
- 26. Arafa, A.E.; Anzengruber, F.; Mostafa, A.M.; Navarini, A.A. Perspectives of online surveys in
 dermatology. J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 2019, 33, 511–520, doi:10.1111/jdv.15283.
- 27. Whooley, M.A.; Avins, A.L.; Miranda, J.; Browner, W.S. Case-finding instruments for depression.
 Two questions are as good as many. J. Gen. Intern. Med. 1997, 12, 439–445, doi:10.1046/j.15251497.1997.00076.x.
- 28. Besser, B.; Rumpf, H.-J.; Bischof, A.; Meerkerk, G.-J.; Higuchi, S.; Bischof, G. Internet-Related
 Disorders: Development of the Short Compulsive Internet Use Scale. Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.
 2017 20, 700, 717, doi:10.1080/crth.or.2017.0260
- 378 2017, 20, 709–717, doi:10.1089/cyber.2017.0260.
- 29. Meerkerk, G.-J.; van den Eijnden, R.J.J.M.; Vermulst, A.A.; Garretsen, H.F.L. The Compulsive

Internet Use Scale (CIUS): some psychometric properties. Cyberpsychol. Behav. 2009, 12, 1–6,
 doi:10.1089/cpb.2008.0181.

30. Dommasch, E.D.; Shin, D.B.; Troxel, A.B.; Margolis, D.J.; Gelfand, J.M. Reliability, validity and responsiveness to change of the Patient Report of Extent of Psoriasis Involvement (PREPI) for measuring body surface area affected by psoriasis. Br. J. Dermatol. 2010, 162, 835–842, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2009.09589.x.

386 31. Weller, K.; Groffik, A.; Church, M.K.; Hawro, T.; Krause, K.; Metz, M.; Martus, P.; Casale, T.B.;
Staubach, P.; Maurer, M. Development and validation of the Urticaria Control Test: a patient-reported
outcome instrument for assessing urticaria control. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2014, 133, 1365-72,
1372.e1-6, doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013.12.1076.

32. Maurer, M.; Staubach, P.; Raap, U.; Richter-Huhn, G.; Baier-Ebert, M.; Chapman-Rothe, N.
ATTENTUS, a German online survey of patients with chronic urticaria highlighting the burden of
disease, unmet needs and real-life clinical practice. Br. J. Dermatol. 2016, 174, 892–894,
doi:10.1111/bjd.14203.

33. Baumann, E.; Czerwinski, F.; Reifegerste, D. Gender-Specific Determinants and Patterns of Online
Health Information Seeking: Results From a Representative German Health Survey. J. Med. Internet
Res. 2017, 19, e92, doi:10.2196/jmir.6668.

34. Hämeen-Anttila, K.; Pietilä, K.; Pylkkänen, L.; Pohjanoksa-Mäntylä, M. Internet as a source of
medicines information (MI) among frequent internet users. Res. Social Adm. Pharm. 2018, 14, 758–
764, doi:10.1016/j.sapharm.2017.09.007.

400 35. Escoffery, C. Gender Similarities and Differences for e-Health Behaviors Among U.S. Adults.
401 Telemed. J. E Health 2018, 24, 335–343, doi:10.1089/tmj.2017.0136.

402 36. Müller, K.W.; Wölfling, K. Pathologische Computerspiel-und Internetnutzung–Wissenschaftliche
403 Erkenntnisse zu Phänomenologie, Epidemiologie, Diagnostik und Komorbidität. Suchtmedizin 2010,
404 12, 45–55.

405 37. Eichenberg, C.; Schott, M.; Decker, O.; Sindelar, B. Attachment Style and Internet Addiction: An
406 Online Survey. J. Med. Internet Res. 2017, 19, e170, doi:10.2196/jmir.6694.

38. Rumpf, H.-J.; Vermulst, A.A.; Bischof, A.; Kastirke, N.; Gürtler, D.; Bischof, G.; Meerkerk, G.-J.;
John, U.; Meyer, C. Occurence of internet addiction in a general population sample: a latent class
analysis. Eur. Addict. Res. 2014, 20, 159–166, doi:10.1159/000354321.

39. Bahmer, J.A.; Kuhl, J.; Bahmer, F.A. How do personality systems interact in patients with psoriasis,
atopic dermatitis and urticaria? Acta Derm. Venereol. 2007, 87, 317–324, doi:10.2340/00015555-0246.

40. Ko, C.H.; Yen, J.Y.; Yen, C.F.; Chen, C.S.; Chen, C.C. The association between Internet addiction and psychiatric disorder: a review of the literature. Eur. Psychiatry 2012, 27, 1–8, doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2010.04.011.

415 41. Karacic, S.; Oreskovic, S. Internet Addiction and Mental Health Status of Adolescents in Croatia
416 and Germany. Psychiatr. Danub. 2017, 29, 313–321, doi:10.24869/psyd.2017.313.

417 42. Zuberbier, T.; Aberer, W.; Asero, R.; Abdul Latiff, A.H.; Baker, D.; Ballmer-Weber, B.; Bernstein,
418 J.A.; Bindslev-Jensen, C.; Brzoza, Z.; Buense Bedrikow, R.; et al. The EAACI/GA²LEN/EDF/WAO
419 guideline for the definition, classification, diagnosis and management of urticaria. Allergy 2018, 73,
420 1393–1414, doi:10.1111/all.13397.

421 43. Beck, L.A.; Bernstein, J.A.; Maurer, M. A Review of International Recommendations for the 422 Diagnosis and Management of Chronic Urticaria. Acta Derm. Venereol. 2017, 97, 149–158,

423 doi:10.2340/00015555-2496.

- 424 46. Maurer, M.; Raap, U.; Staubach, P.; Richter-Huhn, G.; Bauer, A.; Oppel, E.M.; Hillen, U.; Baeumer,
- 425 D.; Reinhardt, M.; Chapman-Rothe, N. Antihistamine-resistant chronic spontaneous urticaria: 1-year
- 426 data from the AWARE study. Clin. Exp. Allergy 2019, 49, 655–662, doi:10.1111/cea.13309.
- 427 47. Taber, J.M.; Leyva, B.; Persoskie, A. Why do people avoid medical care? A qualitative study using 428 national data. J. Gen. Intern. Med. 2015, 30, 290–297, doi:10.1007/s11606-014-3089-1.
- 429 48. Maurer, M.; Abuzakouk, M.; Bérard, F.; Canonica, W.; Oude Elberink, H.; Giménez-Arnau, A.;
- 430 Grattan, C.; Hollis, K.; Knulst, A.; Lacour, J.-P.; et al. The burden of chronic spontaneous urticaria is
- 431 substantial: Real-world evidence from ASSURE-CSU. Allergy 2017, 72, 2005-2016,
- 432 doi:10.1111/all.13209.
- 433 49. Teitcher, J.E.F.; Bockting, W.O.; Baumeister J.A.; Hoefer, C.J.; Miner, M.H.; Kitzman, R.L.
- 434 Detecting, Preventing, and Responding to "Fraudsters" in Internet Research: Ethics and Tradeoffs. J
 435 Law Med Ethics. 2015, 43(1): 116–133. doi: 10.1111/jlme.12200
- 436 50. Ballard, A.M.; Cardwell, T.; Young, A.M. Fraud Detection Protocol for Web-Based Research
- 437 Among Men Who Have Sex With Men: Development and Descriptive Evaluation. JMIR Public Health
- 438 Surveill 2019, 5(1): e12344. doi: 10.2196/12344

439 Legends for Figures

- 440 Figure 1: Flow chart of participant recruitment and exclusions in both study arms.
- 441 Figure 2: Prevalence of positive screenings for Internet addiction (results of the short form of the Compulsive 442 Internet Using Scale; cut-off \geq 9) stratified by disease and utilization of medical care. CU = chronic urticarial;
- 443 CIUS=short form of the Compulsive Internet Using Scale.
- 444 Figure 3: Results of the multiple regression that showed associated factors with the positive screening on
- 445 compulsive Internet use. A) including all participants; B) Stratified by disease. aOR = adjusted odds ratio; Age in
- 446 years; PHQ-D = short version of the patient health questionnaire.







447 Tables

			T ()	Participants	stratified by disease	
			1 otal (n=1,686)	Psoriasis (n=649)	Chronic Urticaria (n=1,037)	P-value
Age [Mean	± SD]		36.9±12.9	42.5±13.7	33.4±10.9	< 0.001
Condex Fra (female	1248 (74.0)	323 (49.8)	925 (89.2)	<0.001
Gender [n (⁷ 0)]	male	438 (26.0)	326 (50.2)	112 (10.8)	- <0.001
	$[\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}]$		NA	6.1±8.0	NA	
DCA		mild	NA	539 (83.6)	NA	-
BSA	[n (%)]	moderate / severe	NA	106 (16.4)	NA	-
		missing	NA	4	NA	NA
	[Mean \pm SD]		NA	NA	7.9±3.9	_
UCT	5 (0/)]	controlled	NA	NA	212 (20.4)	-
	[n (%)]	Poorly controlled	NA	NA	825 (79.6)	-
	[Mean ± SD; years]		13.0±11.4	18.1±12.7	10.0±9.3	< 0.001
Disease	[(0/)]	≤ 10 years	871 (53.8)	216 (35.3)	655 (65.1)	<0.001
durution	[n (%)]	> 10 years	747 (46.2)	396 (64.7)	351 (34.9)	- <0.001
Disease consulting a SD; years]	duration before physician [Mean ±		5.7±7.3	3.6±5.4	7.0±7.9	< 0.001
Coursettania		Yes	763 (45.3)	351 (54.1)	412 (39.7)	<0.001
Currently in	medical care [n (%)]	No	923 (54.7)	298 (45.9)	625 (60.3)	- <0.001
		full-time	812 (48.2)	348 (53.6)	464 (44.7)	_
Drofossion [n(9/1)	part-time	322 (19.1)	91 (14.0)	231 (22.3)	- <0.001
		other	472 (28.0)	174 (26.8)	298 (28.7)	<0.001
		unemployed	80 (4.7)	36 (5.5)	44 (4.2)	
		0	503 (29.8)	213 (32.8)	290 (28.0)	-
PHQ-D-Sco	re [n (%)]	1	333 (19.8)	118 (18.2)	215 (20.7)	0.087
		2	850 (50.4)	318 (49.0)	532 (51.3)	
In a relation	ship [p (9/)]	Yes	1,273 (75.5)	485 (74.7)	788 (76.0)	0.550
	sinh [ii (\20)]	No	413 (24.5)	164 (25.3)	249 (24.0)	0.559
CIUS Score	$[\text{Mean}\pm\text{SD}]$		4.6±3.6	4.4±3.5	4.7±3.7	0.157
Commentati	Internet sec. [(0/)]	Yes	431 (25.6)	154 (23.7)	277 (26.7)	0.172
Compulsive	Internet use [n (%)]	No	1255 (74.4)	495 (76.3)	760 (73.3)	0.1/2

448 *Table 1: General characteristics of study population stratified by disease.*

449 Differences were compared using unpaired t-test and Chi square test. SD=Standard deviation; NA=Not applicable;

450 BSA=Body surface area (self-stated); UCT=Urticaria Control Test; PHQ-D= short version of the patient health

451 questionnaire; CIUS=short form of the Compulsive Internet Using Scale. Significant results printed bold.

e 2: General characteristics of participants stratified by utilization of health care system and disease.	
le 2	
Tabi	
452	

		Total (n=1,686)	_	P-value	Psoriasis (n=649)		P-value	Chronic Urticari (n=1,037)	a	P-value
		In medical care (n=763)	Not in medical care (n=923)		In medical care (n=351)	Not in medical care (n=298)		In medical care (n=412)	Not in medical care (n=625)	
Age [Mean ± SD]		38.5±13.2	35.6±12.5	<0.001	43.7±13.7	41.0±13.7	0.013	34.0 ±10.9	33.0±10.9	0.159
	Female	539 (70.6)	709 (76.8)	100.0	172 (49.0)	151 (50.7)	CL7 ()	367 (89.1)	558 (89.3)	0.010
f(or) n1 vac	Male	224 (29.4)	214 (23.2)	+00.0	179 (51.0)	147 (49.3)	7/0.0	45 (10.9)	67 (10.7)	016.0
$BSA \ [Mean \pm SD]$		6.4±8.0	5.7±8.1	0.261	6.4 ±8.0	5.7±8.1	0.261	NA	NA	NA
$UCT [Mean \pm SD]$		6.9±3.9	8.5±3.8	<0.001	NA	NA	NA	6.9 ± 3.9	8.5±3.8	<0.001
Disease duration [Mean \pm SD; years]		12.3±11.5	13.6±11.3	0.026	16.9±12.7	19.5±12.6	0.014	8.5±8.7	10.9±9.5	<0.001
Disease duration before consulting a physician [Mean ± SD; years]		4.8 ±6.6	6.4±7.7	<0.001	3.5±5.3	3.7±5.6	0.669	5.9±7.3	7.7±8.2	<0.001
	0	199 (26.1)	304 (32.9)		112 (31.9)	101 (33.9)		87 (21.1)	203 (32.5)	
$PHQ-D-Score \left[n \left(\% ight) ight]$	1	163 (21.4)	170 (18.4)	0.008	67 (19.1)	51 (17.1)	0.764	96 (23.3)	119 (19.0)	<0.001
	2	401 (52.6)	499 (48.6)		172 (49.0)	146 (49.0)		229 (55.6)	303 (48.5)	
Hours per week spent on the Internet for leisure [Mean $\pm SD$]	в	19.9±18.8	21.4±20.2	0.130	19.3±18.8	22.1±21.7	0.077	20.5±18.7	21.1±19.4	0.654
CIUS Score [Mean ± SD]		4.3±3.5	4.8±3.7	<0.001	4.3±3.5	4.5±3.6	0.444	4.2±3.6	5.0±3.8	0.001
Committeeine Intermet und [n (0, 1]	Yes	172 (22.5)	259 (28.1)	0.010	79 (22.5)	75 (25.2)		93 (22.6)	184 (29.4)	0.014
Computer thermet use [n (70)]	No	591 (77.5)	664 (71.9)	010.0	272 (77.5)	223 (74.8)	0.421	319 (77.4)	441 (70.6)	+10.0
Differences were compared usi Test: PHO-D=short version of t	ng unpaired the patient he	t-test and Chi square calth questionnaire; (test. SD=Standard	I deviation f the Comp	; NA=Not applicabl ulsive Internet Usin	le; BSA=Body surfa 12 Scale: Significan	ace area (s t results pr	elf-stated); UCT=U inted bold	rticaria Control	

Supplementary Tables 455

456 457 Table S1: Associated factors with the occurrence of Internet addiction in individual logistic regressions and in a multiple logistic regression model for all participants and stratified by disease.

Dependent variable	Independer (refer	nt variables rence)	Crude OR (95% CI)	Adjusted OR (95% CI)
	Age [years]		0.97 (0.96-0.98)	0.97 (0.96-0.98)
	Gender (female))	1.05 (0.82-1.35)	-
	Disease (psorias	sis)	1.17 (0.93-1.47)	-
Internet addiction	Disease duration	n [years]	0.99 (0.99-1.00)	-
(CIUS cut-off: $\geq /$)	Disease before of physician [years	consulting a 5]	1.01 (0.99-1.02)	-
n = 1010	In medical care	(yes)	1.34 (1.07-1.67)	1.30 (1.03-1.63)
		1	1.57 (1.11-2.22)	1.51 (1.06-2.14)
	PHQ-D (0)	2	2.34 (1.78-3.09)	2.35 (1.78-3.11)
	In a relationship	(yes)	1.42 (1.11-1.81)	1.32 (1.02-1.70)
	Age [years]		0.98 (0.97-0.99)	0.98 (0.97-0.99)
	Gender (female))	1.06 (0.74-1.52)	-
Internet addiction	BSA		1.01 (0.99-1.04)	-
(CIUS cut-off: ≥ 7 ;	Disease duration	n [years]	1.00 (0.98-1.01)	-
psoriasis)	Disease before of physician [years	consulting a 5]	1.02 (0.99-1.06)	-
n = 609	In medical care	(yes)	1.16 (0.81-1.66)	-
		1	1.86 (1.07-3.24)	1.82 (1.03-3.23)
	PHQ-D (0)	2	2.19 (1.40-3.41)	2.13 (1.35-3.38)
	In a relationship	(yes)	1.30 (0.87-1.95)	-
	Age [years]		0.95 (0.94-0.97)	0.95 (0.94-0.97)
	Gender (female)		1.34 (0.88-2.05)	-
Internet addiction (CIUS cut-off: ≥7; CU)	UCT-score		0.98 (0.94-1.01)	-
	Disease duration [years]		1.00 (0.98-1.01)	-
	Disease before of physician [years	consulting a 5]	1.00 (0.98-1.02)	-
n = 1,006	In medical care	(yes)	1.43 (1.07-1.91)	1.49 (1.10-2.02)
		1	1.42 (0.91-2.20)	1.39 (0.88-2.20)
	гнү-р (0)	2	2.41 (1.69-3.44)	2.63 (1.82-3.80)
	In a relationship	(yes)	1.49 (1.10-2.04)	-

458 OR = odds ratio; CIUS = short version of the Compulsive Internet Using Scale; PHQ-D = short version of the patient health questionnaire; CU = chronic urticaria; BSA=Body surface area (self-stated); UCT=Urticaria Control

459 460 Test. Significant results printed bold.

		Age [years]	Gender (female)	Disease (psoriasis)	Disease duration [years]	Disease before consulting a physician [years]	In medical care (yes)	рно-р	In a relationship (no)
,	rs	1.000	0.173	-0.328	0.323	0.013	0.112	-0.017	0.050
Age [years]	p-value		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.596	<0.001	0.475	0.040
	rs		1.000	-0.438	0.134	-0.164	0.070	-0.086	-0.059
Gender (Jemale)	p-value			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.004	<0.001	0.016
Disease	rs			1.000	-0.351	0.318	-0.140	0.037	0.014
(psoriasis)	p-value				<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.128	0.559
Disease duration	rs				1.000	0.461	-0.084	-0.068	-0.011
[years]	p-value					<0.001	0.001	0.006	0.669
Disease before consulting a	rs					1.000	-0.144	-0.017	0.011
physician [years]	p-value						<0.001	0.494	0.661
In medical care	$r_{\rm s}$						1.000	0.058	0.022
(yes)	p-value							0.017	0.369
	rs							1.000	-0.060
п-рну	p-value								0.014
In a relationship	rs								1.000
(yes)	p-value								
CIUS = short ve	rsion of the Con	npulsive Internet	Using Scale; PF	IQ-D = short vertical vectors of the second secon	rsion of the patie	ant health questic	onnaire; Significa	ant results printe	d bold.

Table S2: Spearman correlations for variables entered in the multiple regression model.

Von:	JDE Editorial Office
An:	Schielein, Maximilian; Tizek, Linda; daniel.baeumer@novartis.com; elena.hillmann@novartis.com;
	<u>katrin.romer@novartis.com;</u> <u>Nicola.Wagner@uk-erlangen.de;</u> <u>Zink, Alexander</u>
Cc:	jd@dermatol.or.jp
Betreff:	The Journal of Dermatology - Decision on Manuscript ID JDE-2020-1528.R1 [email ref: DL-RW-1-a]
Datum:	Sonntag, 6. Dezember 2020 19:17:39

06-Dec-2020

Dear Mr. Schielein:

It is a pleasure to accept your manuscript entitled "People-centered care for Psoriasis and Urticaria: Are we overlooking Internet Addiction while only considering Patients and Physician settings?" in its current form for publication in The Journal of Dermatology. The comments of the reviewer(s) who reviewed your manuscript are included at the foot of this letter.

Please note although the manuscript is accepted the files will now be checked to ensure that everything is ready for publication, and you may be contacted if final versions of files for publication are required.

Your article cannot be published until the publisher has received the appropriate signed license agreement. Once your article has been received by Wiley for production the corresponding author will receive an email from Wiley's Author Services system which will ask them to log in and will present them with the appropriate license for completion.

Extra Information

We would like to take this opportunity to explain functions to assist authors with tracking their manuscripts through the production process.

[Option for OnlineOpen]

If you wish your paper to be OnlineOpen* you are required to complete the OnlineOpen Order Form available from our website at: <u>https://authorservices.wiley.com/bauthor/onlineopen_order.asp</u>

The publication fee is charged on acceptance of the article and should be paid within 30 days by the author, funding agency or institution. Payment must be received in full for the article to be published as OnlineOpen.

[*What is OnlineOpen?]

OnlineOpen is a pay-to-publish service from Wiley Blackwell that offers authors whose papers are accepted for publication the opportunity to pay up-front for their manuscript to become open access (i.e. free for all to view and download) via the Wiley Online Library (WOL) website. Each OnlineOpen article will be subject to a one-off fee of US\$3,000 to be met by or on behalf of the Author in advance of publication. Upon online publication, the article (both full-text and PDF versions) will be available to all for viewing and download free of charge. For the full list of terms and conditions, see below:

http://wileyonlinelibrary.com/onlineopen#OnlineOpen_Terms

Thank you for your fine contribution. On behalf of the Editors of The Journal of Dermatology, we look forward to your continued contributions to the Journal.

Sincerely, Prof. Masutaka Furue Editor in Chief, The Journal of Dermatology E-mail: jd@dermatol.or.jp

P.S. – You can help your research get the attention it deserves! Wiley Editing Services offers professional video abstract and infographic creation to help you promote your research at www.wileyauthors.com/eeo/promotion. And, check out Wiley's free Promotion Guide for best-practice recommendations for promoting your work at www.wileyauthors.com/eeo/guide.
Editor-in-Chief Comments to Author: Your article is now accepted for publication in J Dermatol.

Section Editor Comments to the Author: (There are no comments.)

Reviewer(s)' Comments to Author:

Reviewer: 1

Comments to the Author Authors provided clear responses to my questions. I think that this revised paper is acceptable for the publication.

Reviewer: 2

Comments to the Author

The problems which I pointed out were almost cleared. Accordingly, I think that this paper is now acceptable for the publication.

Publication IV: Genital psoriasis and associated factors of sexual avoidance – a people-centered cross-sectional study in Germany

Schielein MC, Tizek L, Schuster B, Ziehfreund S, Biedermann T, Zink A. Genital Psoriasis and Associated Factors of Sexual Avoidance - A People-centered Cross-sectional Study in Germany. Acta Derm Venereol 2020; 100(10):adv00151.

Acta Dermato-Venereologica ISI Journal Citation Reports 2019 Impact Factor: 4.016 Ranking: 7/68 (Dermatology)

CLINICAL REPORT

Genital Psoriasis and Associated Factors of Sexual Avoidance – A People-centered Cross-sectional Study in Germany

Maximilian Christian SCHIELEIN^{1,2}, Linda TIZEK^{1,2}, Barbara SCHUSTER^{1,2}, Stefanie ZIEHFREUND¹, Tilo BIEDERMANN¹ and Alexander ZINK¹

¹Technical University of Munich, School of Medicine, Department of Dermatology and Allergy, and ²Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich Medical Research School, Munich, Germany

Patients with genital psoriasis show poorer outcomes regarding quality of life and sexual distress than those without. This study aimed to assess the occurrence of genital psoriasis and to determine factors associated with the avoidance of sexual activities due to psoriasis in a non-clinical setting. A cross-sectional, person-centered, and online-based nationwide survey was conducted in Germany between March and June 2019. A multiple logistic regression model was used to analyze the data. Furthermore, free-text answers were provided. Overall, 344 individuals with psoriasis participated. Of these, 198 (57.6%) reported having genital psoriasis and 261 (75.9%) currently received medical care. Duration of psoriasis, subjective overall severity, and pain during sex were associated with the avoidance of sexual activities. Most prevalent reasons to avoid sexual activities were 'shame,' 'pain,' and 'fear of rejection.' Sexual distress was high in this sample and a person-centered care approach needs to be further promoted.

Key words: genital psoriasis; sexual behavior; sexual health; avoidance; people-centered; person-centered.

Accepted May 4, 2020; Epub ahead of print xx

Acta Derm Venereol

Corr: Alexander Zink, MD, MPH, PhD, Department of Dermatology and Allergy, School of Medicine, Technical University of Munich, Biedersteiner Str. 29, DE-80802 Munich, Germany. E-mail: alexander.zink@tum.de

Psoriasis affects approximately 2% of individuals in Europe, with an enormous psychosocial component among affected individuals and their families (1–4). Psoriasis can affect all parts of the body, including the genital area (3). The reported exam-based point prevalence of genital psoriasis ranges from 12 to 42% in patients with psoriasis. However, definitions of genital psoriasis vary between the studies (5). With growing knowledge about psoriasis (6, 7), its treatment is constantly progressing, and availability of highly effective treatment is increasing (8–10). When appropriately recognized, genital psoriasis can be treated specifically and sufficiently (11, 12).

Psoriasis is associated with many comorbidities, such as depression and anxiety (1, 13, 14). Additionally, mental health might be impaired due to negative influences on sexual health (15). According to the World Health Organization (WHO), the reduction of mental health comorbidities is important to improve people's overall

SIGNIFICANCE

Patients with genital psoriasis have a poorer quality of life and more sexual distress. Therefore, we conducted an online-based nationwide survey across Germany addressing persons living with psoriasis. Overall, we had 344 participants. Of these, 198 (57.6%) stated to have genital psoriasis and 83 (24.1%) did not see a doctor at the moment. Most prevalent reasons to avoid sexual activities were 'shame,' 'pain,' and 'fear of rejection.' Avoidance of sexual contact is high in individuals reached via this online-survey and needs to be further addressed. Furthermore, the approach of reaching out for persons, not patients could represent a great asset for future health care.

health (16, 17). Particularly, psoriasis patients whose genital area is affected showed an increased mental burden, poorer disease-specific quality of life, and higher sexual distress when compared to psoriasis patients without genital involvement (18-20). Although it is important that physicians assess the occurrence of genital psoriasis to prevent possible impairment of patients' sexual heath (19,20), genital involvement often remains unnoticed (20). Another problem is that not all affected individuals seek medical healthcare from a physician (21–24). Therefore, the WHO encourages the concept of peoplecentered care, not patient-centered care, in order to broaden the scope of research and promote public health (21, 25). Additionally, the link between genital psoriasis and the avoidance of sexual activities has not been addressed sufficiently in the existing literature (19, 26, 27).

The aims of this study were (*i*) to assess the occurrence of genital psoriasis in a non-clinical setting, and (*ii*) to determine factors associated with the avoidance of sexual activities due to psoriasis from the perspective of affected individuals.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design

This cross-sectional study was designed as an online survey and carried out among individuals with psoriasis across Germany between March 2019 and June 2019. The survey was promoted on different channels (social media channels, webpages, and newsletters) by patient organizations, including "Psoriasis-Netz," "Farbenhaut," and a campaign of the Association of the German Dermatologists (BVDD), with different frequency of promotion

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license. www.medicaljournals.se/acta Journal Compilation © 2020 Acta Dermato-Venereologica.

2/9 M. C. Schielein et al.

and timespan of recruitment by each organization. Most people participated via "Psoriasis-Netz," which is a patient organization website providing relevant and up-to-date information for individuals affected by psoriasis or interested in psoriasis treatment. The survey was shared within their monthly e-mail newsletter, which reaches up to 2,296 registered individuals across Germany. Additionally, they shared the link for the questionnaire on their webpage and social media accounts. "Farbenhaut" and the BVDD shared the link to the questionnaire on their social media pages one month before the survey was closed. Inclusion criteria were self-reported psoriasis diagnosed by a physician (all sub-types of psoriasis) and age at time of participation of 18 years or older. The only exclusion criterion was inability to fill out a German questionnaire. Prior to participation, all individuals provided electronic informed consent. Only individuals reported having a diagnosis of psoriasis made by a physician were included in the analysis. Entries with non-plausible values or with < 80% of questions answered were excluded. After completing the questionnaire, participants were directed to a page with web links that provided information about psoriasis, its comorbidities, and treatment options, as well as links to several local self-help groups across Germany. The study was approved by the local ethical committee of the Medical Faculty of Technical University of Munich (Reference: 25/19 S).

Questionnaire

The questionnaire was developed at the Technical University of Munich. Detailed information can be found in Appendix S1¹.

Statistical analysis

Data were collected using SoSci survey online tool (Version 3.2.02-i) (28). Descriptive statistics were provided for all variables. Differences between participants with or without genital psoriasis were analyzed using an unpaired *t*-test for continuous variables and a chi-square test for categorical variables. To assess factors influencing participants' tendency to avoid sexual contact due to their psoriasis, univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyses were performed. First, the role of participant characteristics (age, sex, duration of psoriasis, severity of psoriasis in general and at time point of interrogation) and specific characteristics of participants' sexual life (occurrence of genital psoriasis, relationship status, pain during sexual activities due to psoriasis) for the tendency to avoid sexual contact were tested. Second, all factors showing a significant association in univariate regression were included in the multivariate backward selection model. Odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated for both models. To avoid multicollinearity, correlations of all variables were calculated using Spearman correlations (rs) before inclusion in the multivariate model. Data management and analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 25 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). The level of significance (pvalue) was set at 0.05.

Free text answers

To analyze, paraphrase, and categorize free-text answers to the question, why sexual contact was avoided, an inductive analyzing procedure using MAXQDA Analytics Pro software, version 18.0.0 (VERBI Software GmbH, Berlin, Germany) was conducted. Reasons given were subsequently categorized using an inductive approach, and categories were described quantitatively. Additionally, word counts were given for all specific words in this context, excluding non-specific words such as "the," "and," or "I."

RESULTS

Study population

A total of 351 individuals with psoriasis completed the survey and 344 were included in the presented data (Fig. S1¹). The response rate of the institution including the most participants ("Psoriasis-Netz") was 13.9%, when considering their e-mail newsletter. The participants' mean age was 44.6 ± 13.2 years, and 59.3% of participants were women (**Table I**). Overall, 261 of 344 (75.9%) stated that they currently saw a physician due to psoriasis.

Genital psoriasis and impact on sexual activities

More than half of the participants (n=198; 57.6%) stated that their genital area was affected by psoriasis. Genital psoriasis was more prevalent in men than in women (65.0% vs. 52.5%; p=0.021), and individuals with genital psoriasis were less likely to report subjectively mild psoriasis at the time point of participation (15.2% vs. 28.1%; p=0.007). Overall, individuals reported an increased avoidance of sexual activities after onset of psoriasis (29.4% vs. 65.1%; Table I). No significant difference was observed between participants who later were or were not affected by genital psoriasis prior to psoriasis onset (31.8% vs. 26.0%; *p*=0.238); however, more individuals with genital involvement tended to avoid sexual activities after psoriasis onset (74.2% vs. 52.7%; p < 0.001; Table I). The proportion of individuals stating that the question on avoidance was not applicable decreased after onset of psoriasis (23.8% vs. 9.3%). Of those participants avoiding sexual activities due to psoriasis, those with genital involvement more frequently reported to have changed their behavior from non-avoiding to avoiding (40.0% vs. 31.2%; Fig. 1). Of those reporting not to avoid sex due to psoriasis, most did not avoid sexual activities prior to onset either, regardless of the genital involvement (78.8-80.6%; Fig. 1). Individuals with genital psoriasis stated more often to "always" avoid sexual contact (13.6% vs. 5.5%, p=0.001). Furthermore, participants with genital psoriasis more frequently expressed dissatisfaction with their sex life (73.2% vs. 57.5%; p < 0.001). More than half of all participants (n=184; 53.3%) stated that psoriasis influenced their choice of partner, but no significant differences were observed between the sub-groups regarding genital psoriasis.

Overall, 201 participants (71.8%) reported to avoid sexual contact at least sometimes due to their psoriasis. Correlation analysis showed fair correlations between higher age and longer duration of disease (rs 0.39; p < 0.001) as well as between genital involvement and pain during sex (rs 0.33; p < 0.001; Table S1¹). Univariate analyses revealed several factors that were significantly associated with avoidance. For example, people with a longer history of psoriasis were less likely (OR 0.98,

¹https://www.medicaljournals.se/acta/content/abstract/10.2340/00015555-3509

www.medicaljournals.se/acta

Table I. Baseline characteristics of total study population	ion (n=344) and stratified by psoriasis involvement of genital a	rea
-------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------	-----

		Genital area affected b	oy psoriasis	
Variables	Overall (n = 344)	Yes (n = 198; 57.6%)	No (n=146; 42.4%)	<i>p</i> -value
Age, mean±SD	44.6±13.2	43.6±13.1	45.9±13.2	0.171
Sex, n (%)				
Women	204 (59.3)	107 (52.5)	97 (47.5)	0.021*
Men	140 (40.7)	91 (65.0)	49 (35.0)	
Do you receive medical care due to psoriasis? n (%)				
Yes	261 (75.9)	153 (77.3)	108 (74.0)	0.480
No	83 (24.1)	45 (22.7)	38 (26.0)	
Duration of psoriasis, mean ± SD	20.3 ± 14.2	19.4 ± 13.1	21.6 ± 15.4	0.159
Age of mean onset of psoriasis, mean ± SD	24.2 ± 14.3	24.2 ± 13.1	24.3 ± 15.8	0.985
Subjective overall severity of psoriasis, n (%)				
Mild	28 (8.1)	13 (6.6)	15 (10.3)	0.299
Moderate	193 (56.1)	109 (55.1)	84 (57.5)	
Severe	123 (35.8)	76 (38.4)	47 (32.2)	
Subjective severity of psoriasis at the time point of participation, n (%)				
Mild	71 (20.6)	30 (15.2)	41 (28.1)	0.007*
Moderate	193 (56.1)	123 (62.1)	70 (47.9)	
Severe	80 (23.3)	45 (22.7)	35 (24.0)	
Are you in a relationship? n (%)				
Yes	235 (68.3)	140 (70.7)	95 (65.1)	0.267
No	109 (31.7)	58 (29.3)	51 (34.9)	
Do you suffer from pain during sexual activities due to your psoriasis? n (%)				
Yes	154 (44.8)	116 (58.6)	38 (26.0)	< 0.001*
No	135 (39.2)	59 (29.8)	76 (52.1)	
Not applicable	54 (15.7)	22 (11.1)	32 (21.9)	
Missing	1 (0.3)	1 (0.5%)	-	
Did you avoid sexual contact prior to onset of psoriasis? n (%)				
Yes	101 (29.4)	63 (31.8)	38 (26.0)	0.238
No	159 (46.2)	92 (46.5)	67 (45.9)	
Not applicable	82 (23.8)	41 (20.7)	41 (28.1)	
Missing	2 (0.6)	2 (1.0)	-	
Do you avoid sexual contact due to your psoriasis? n (%)				
Yes	224 (65.1	147 (74.2)	77 (52.7)	< 0.001*
No	88 (25.6%)	36 (18.2)	52 (35.6)	
Not applicable	32 (9.3%)	15 (7.6)	17 (11.6)	
Missing	-	-	-	
Do you feel dissatisfied with your sex life due to psoriasis? n (%)				
Yes	229 (66.6)	154 (73.2)	84 (57.5)	< 0.001*
No	112 (32.6)	52 (26.3)	60 (41.1)	
Missing	3 (0.9)	1 (0.5)	2 (1.4)	
Do you think your psoriasis has influenced your choice of partner? n (%)	. ,	. ,		
Yes	184 (53.3)	107 (54.0)	77 (52.7)	0.811
No	160 (46.4)	91 (46.0)	69 (47.3)	
Missing	-	-	_	

SD: standard deviation.





Acta Derm Venereol 2020

Table II. Factors associated with avoidance	e of sexual contact due to	psoriasis in 312 study	participants
Tuble III Tuccorb ubbocluced with utoludite	s of sexual contact due to	poor abio in ore orady	Juicipulito

	Univariate logistic regi	ression	Multiple logistic regres	sion ^a
Independent variable (reference category)	OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	aOR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	0.98 (0.96, 1.00)	0.059		
Sex (male)	0.82 (0.50, 1.35)	0.437		
Duration of psoriasis (years)	0.98 (0.96, 0.99)	0.030	0.97 (0.95, 0.99)	0.012
subjective overall severity (mild)	1	< 0.001	1	0.010
Moderate	3.52 (1.53, 8.12)	0.003	3.49 (1.35, 9.04)	0.001
Severe	6.08 (2.48, 14.93)	< 0.001	5.35 (1.93, 14.79)	< 0.001
Severity at time of study participation (mild)	1	0.144		
Moderate	1.53 (0.85, 2.79)	0.160		
Severe	2.07 (0.99, 4.35)	0.054		
Receiving medical care (yes)	1.85 (1.07, 3.20)	0.028		
Genital area affected by psoriasis (no)	2.76 (1.66, 4.58)	< 0.001		
In a relationship (yes)	1.75 (0.99, 3.09)	0.055		
Pain during sexual activities due to psoriasis (no)	4.18 (2.38, 7.34)	< 0.001	3.41 (1.90, 6.13)	< 0.001

^an = 280; bold values showed significance at alpha 0.05. OR: odds ratio; CI: confidence interval; aOR: adjusted odds ratio.

95% CI 0.96–0.99), whereas individuals with genital psoriasis (OR 2.76, 95% CI 1.66–4.58) or individuals who did not receive medical care (OR 1.85, 95% CI 1.07–3.20) were more likely to avoid sexual contact due to psoriasis. After using backward selection in the multiple logistic regression model, the remaining factors for the avoidance of sexual activities due to psoriasis were duration of psoriasis (OR 0.97, 95% CI 0.95–0.99), subjective overall moderate (OR 3.49, 95% CI 1.35–9.04) or severe psoriasis (OR 5.35, 95% CI 1.93–14.79), and pain during sexual activities due to psoriasis (OR 3.41, 95% CI 1.90–6.13) (**Table II**).

Reasons to avoid sexual activities

Overall, approximately half of the participants stating to avoid sexual activities gave a reason for doing so as free-text answers (135 of 244; 55.3%). Categorization of reasons resulted in 180 classifications within 10 categories. Double categorization was possible in cases such as "Dandruff that falls out of the hair, itchiness." Most prevalent categories were 'Shame' (n=54; e.g., "Sometimes I don't feel comfortable in my skin" or "I feel ashamed"); 'Pain' (n=35; e.g., "The painful open wounds around the genital area" or in many cases just "Pain"); 'Fear of rejection' (n=20; e.g., "I believe that my psoriasis is repulsive for others" or "I don't want



Fig. 2. Free text answers of affected individuals regarding the question for personal reasons for avoidance of sexual contact due to psoriasis. Font size in proportion to frequency of entries (actual font size equals square root of proportion times largest font size). (a) categories of reasons individuals mentioned as a reason to avoid sexual activities due to their psoriasis. Maximal mentioning: Shame, n = 54. (b) quantitative visualization of 20 most common words individuals mentioned during giving a reason to avoid sexual activities due to their psoriasis. Maximal mentioning: Psoriasis, n = 28.

to see other people's disgusted/deterred facial expressions"); and 'Genital psoriasis' (n=14; e.g., "My penis really hurts when my skin cracks from the psoriasis," and "Ashamed due to severe attack of the genital area", **Fig. 2**a). Furthermore, statements were made on stigmatization during youth (e.g., "I believe that the exclusion due to psoriasis in my childhood still negatively impacts my body image or at least negatively impacted it for a while.") and the need to explain the disease repeatedly (e.g., "The need to constantly explain my disease"). Most prevalent words used were "psoriasis" (n=28), "shame" (n=25), and "pain" (n=24; Fig. 2b).

DISCUSSION

The aims of the study were to assess the occurrence of genital psoriasis in a non-clinic setting and to determine factors influencing the avoidance of sexual activities due to psoriasis from the perspective of affected individuals. Of 344 participants with psoriasis, 198 had genital involvement. Individuals with genital psoriasis more frequently reported pain and avoidance of sexual activities due to their psoriasis than those without genital involvement. Furthermore, a shorter duration of psoriasis, an overall more severe psoriasis, and pain during sex were associated with the avoidance of sexual

> activities, which further led to sexual distress. Additional reasons included shame, pain, and the fear of rejection.

The occurrence of genital involvement was 57.6%, which is considerably higher than the rates reported previously (between 7% and 42%) (29–32). The high prevalence rate underlines the recommendation by Meeuwis et al. (19) that physicians should check for genital involvement in patients with psoriasis and pay attention to the impact of psoriasis on psychosocial aspects and sexual health. On one hand, prior studies conducted in medical settings may have underestimated the preva-

ActaDV

dvances in dermatology and venereology

lence, as they did not include individuals who are not seeing a physician for the treatment of their psoriasis, which might be due to shame caused by genital involvement. Alternatively, the high prevalence in this study could stem from selection bias, as affected individuals might be more interested in taking part in a study about genital psoriasis. Nonetheless, in line with previous studies that have shown a prevalence of up to 42%, the prevalence in the present study may also indicate a vulnerable subgroup of individuals identified through patient organizations and non-healthcare professional settings. Additionally, the present results are in line with previous studies that report that men are more likely to develop genital psoriasis than women (20). These findings are important for dermatologists, as therapy can be optimized if knowledge of involvement of this hard-to-treat area is present. Therefore, communication with the patient about this topic is essential and barriers need to be minimized. Possible first approaches could include an improvement of physician-patient relationships or patient information on the frequency of genital psoriasis.

When considering the avoidance of sex before and after psoriasis onset, a clear change in participants' behavior occurred (Fig. 1). Interestingly, the opinion that the question on avoidance of sexual activities was not applicable decreased after the onset of psoriasis. The reason for this might include individuals not having a partner before the onset of psoriasis, or participants not thinking of avoidance before onset and therefore, stating that they could not recall. Since these are interesting points, qualitative interviews or patient journey mapping could help to better understand these highly personal transitions.

An association between disease duration and the avoidance of sexual contact was found in this study, which is contrary to the findings of Zalewska et al., who did not find this association (33). This result indicates specific coping mechanisms that may have developed during the course of disease. The implications of such mechanisms should be further investigated.

Another important point regarding avoidance of sexual activities was the perceived pain during sexual activities, which was significantly correlated with genital involvement of psoriasis. Thus, genital psoriasis could be an important indicator of sexual avoidance, even when excluded due to backward selection (34). In a previous study, Ryan et al. also showed that people with genital involvement showed impaired quality of life and sexual health (29).

Interestingly, we found that the severity of psoriasis in general was significantly associated with the avoidance of sex, while the severity at the time of study participation was not. This indicates that participants might have interpreted the question "Do you avoid sexual contact due to psoriasis?" as a general tendency rather than a current behavior; this may be why there is an association with general disease severity, but not with current disease severity. Accordingly, the avoidance of sexual contact might be a coping mechanism applied by psoriasis patients (especially those with genital involvement) which helps them to avoid feeling shame or having to explain the disease to a sexual partner (which were reasons for the avoidance of sex mentioned in free text). However, it might also indicate the importance of people's course of disease and the personal burden due to high severity, even though therapy may reduce visible symptoms. Accordingly, an additional measure of disease severity proposed by Zink et al., the lifetime highest Psoriasis Area and Severity Index (PeakPASI), may allow for more effective treatment (35). To evaluate the potential effect of this measure, more detailed and broader studies are necessary.

Free-text reasons given for the avoidance of sexual activities due to psoriasis were in line with the reasons previously reported in literature (19, 29, 36). Prior qualitatively gathered reasons like "Definitely the embarrassment... I've had one boyfriend make a comment, is that, what's this?" or "The stinging during sex, it is just a terrible feeling" seem to be confirmed by aggregated data (36). However, the inclusion of 'shame' as the most prevalent category represents the importance of internal and external stigmatization in the context of visible skin conditions (2, 37).

Study limitations and strengths

When considering generalizability of study findings, several factors should be considered. One main limitation might be a potential selection bias, including a selfselection bias. Mainly individuals who actively searched for health information regarding psoriasis, or received a newsletter or updates on social media by multiplier institutions might have participated in this survey. Additionally, a self-selection bias could have occurred as individuals with an impairment of sex life or those with genital psoriasis could react more frequently to a survey on this topic. Furthermore, study promotion via patient organization web-pages, social media accounts, and mailing systems could have led to a highly vulnerable sub-group of individuals with psoriasis. This approach might increase diversity in individuals being described in the literature as accessibility of different populations can be challenging (23). To achieve high acceptance and unbiased free-text answers, we did not use validated and extensive questionnaires to measure sexual avoidance. This might have reduced comparability and generalizability. Additionally, the response rate of the most prevalent multiplier institution was only 13.9%, when considering all individuals receiving the monthly newsletter of the patient organization, which led the most individuals to participate. This response rate seems considerably low and could have been improved by directly addressing 6/9 M. C. Schielein et al.

affected individuals, instead of only mentioning it on web pages, social media, or e-mail newsletters (38). However, it is unclear how many newsletter recipients fulfilled criteria for inclusion since subscribers also include minors, significant others or people with general interest in psoriasis. Therefore, interpretation of the response rate remains rather vague and should be considered with caution.

Furthermore, as the study was conducted online and participants stated to be diagnosed with psoriasis without control of this information, some individuals could have made incorrect statements. Even though statements were checked for plausibility by logical and time-wise criteria, the possibility of incorrect statements cannot be excluded with certainty but has to be accepted to widen the public health related horizon of populations with psoriasis. However, potential social desirability bias could have been minimized by the anonymous nature of this study. In the context of sexual content, the direct contact to a physician could have impeded participants' willingness to answer questions freely out of shame or fear to feel judged or exposed (39). Therefore, the use of an anonymous online tool might have been highly beneficial. For comparison, German individuals frequently searched for "anal itch" as a localization for occurring pruritus (20% of search queries on localized pruritus) on Google. This online search for help or information seems to be due to social norms and does not reflect patient presentations in daily clinical routine (40). Additionally, 25% of participants are highly unlikely to have been reported in literature, as they do not see a physician for their psoriasis. This result is promising and could broaden the spectrum of epidemiological descriptions.

Conclusion

The occurrence of genital psoriasis was considerably higher in this potential vulnerably subgroup of individuals with psoriasis compared to other studies, and avoidance of sex due to self-given reasons like shame, pain and fear of rejection was high. This emphasizes the importance of patient organizations when reaching out for highly vulnerable groups and individuals who do not seek medical help. Furthermore, the subjective overall severity of psoriasis was significantly associated with the avoidance of sexual activities and the inclusion of PeakPASI could be a promising influencing factor for assessing the individuals' mental impact or sexual impairment of psoriasis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We want to thank all participants for their contribution. Furthermore, we want to acknowledge the role of Psoriasis-Netz (namely C. Liebram and R. Blaga) in the conceptual design of the study questionnaire and all help provided within the whole process of study implementation. Furthermore, we want to thank Psoriasis-

www.medicaljournals.se/acta

Netz, Farbenhaut, and "Bitte Berühren", a campaign of the Association of the German Dermatologists (BVDD), for sharing the link to the study questionnaire within their communities. We also want to thank S. Windels for bilingual translations of quotes given in the free text answers.

Conflict of interest: MCS received speaker's honoraria and/or was financially supported for the presentation of scientific posters by Janssen-Cilag, Novartis. LT, BS and SZ were financially supported for the presentation of scientific posters by Novartis Pharma GmbH. TB provided advice to or received an honorarium for talks or research grant from the following companies: Celgene, Novartis, Lilly. AZ was an advisor and/or received speaker's honoraria and/or received grants and/or participated in clinical trials of the following companies: AbbVie, Almirall, Celgene, Eli Lilly, Janssen-Cilag and Novartis.

REFERENCES

- Shah K, Mellars L, Changolkar A, Feldman SR. Real-world burden of comorbidities in US patients with psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2017; 77: 287–292.e4.
- Sommer R, Augustin M, Mrowietz U, Topp J, Schäfer I, Spreckelsen R von. Stigmatisierungserleben bei Psoriasis – qualitative Analyse aus Sicht von Betroffenen, Angehörigen und Versorgern. Hautarzt 2019; 70: 520–526.
- 3. Boehncke W-H, Schön MP. Psoriasis. Lancet 2015; 386: 983–994.
- Egeberg A, Andersen YMF, Gislason GH, Thyssen JP, Skov L. Differential disease burden and treatment patterns among adults with psoriasis and atopic dermatitis seen in hospital vs. private clinics. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2018; 32: e23–e25.
- Meeuwis KAP, Potts Bleakman A, van de Kerkhof PCM, Dutronc Y, Henneges C, Kornberg LJ et al. Prevalence of genital psoriasis in patients with psoriasis. J Dermatolog Treat 2018; 29: 754–760.
- Zweegers J, Otero ME, van den Reek JMPA, van Lümig PP, Driessen RJ, Kievit W et al. Effectiveness of Biologic and Conventional Systemic Therapies in Adults with Chronic Plaque Psoriasis in Daily Practice: A Systematic Review. Acta Derm Venereol 2016; 96: 453–458.
- Garzorz-Stark N, Eyerich K. Psoriasis pathogenesis: keratinocytes are back in the spotlight. J Invest Dermatol 2019; 139: 995–996.
- Armstrong AW, Foster SA, Comer BS, Lin C-Y, Malatestinic W, Burge R et al. Real-world health outcomes in adults with moderate-to-severe psoriasis in the United States: a population study using electronic health records to examine patientperceived treatment effectiveness, medication use, and healthcare resource utilization. BMC Dermatol 2018; 18: 4.
- Schielein MC, Tizek L, Rotter M, Konstantinow A, Biedermann T, Zink A. Guideline-compliant prescription of biologicals and possible barriers in dermatological practices in Bavaria. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2018; 32: 978–984.
- Armstrong A, Jarvis S, Boehncke W-H, Rajagopalan M, Fernández-Peñas P, Romiti R et al. Patient perceptions of clear/ almost clear skin in moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis: results of the Clear About Psoriasis worldwide survey. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2018; 32: 2200–2207.
- Meeuwis KAP, Hullu JA de, IntHout J, Hendriks IMP, Sparreboom EE, Massuger LFAG et al. Genital psoriasis awareness program: physical and psychological care for patients with genital psoriasis. Acta Derm Venereol 2015; 95: 211–216.
- Beck KM, Yang EJ, Sanchez IM, Liao W. Treatment of Genital Psoriasis: A Systematic Review. Dermatol Ther (Heidelb) 2018; 8: 509–525.
- Fleming P, Bai JW, Pratt M, Sibbald C, Lynde C, Gulliver WP. The prevalence of anxiety in patients with psoriasis: a systematic review of observational studies and clinical trials. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2017; 31: 798–807.
- 14. Greb JE, Goldminz AM, Elder JT, Lebwohl MG, Gladman DD,

ActaDV

ActaDV

vances in dermatology and venereology

Wu JJ et al. Psoriasis. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2016; 2: 16082. 15. Satcher D. Hook EW. Coleman E. Sexual Health in America:

- IS. Satcher D, Hook EW, Coleman E. Sexual Health in America: Improving Patient Care and Public Health. JAMA 2015; 314: 765–766.
- 16. Michalek IM, Loring B, John SM. Global report on psoriasis. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 17. La santé Omd. Global report on psoriasis 2016. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2016.
- Yang EJ, Beck KM, Sanchez IM, Koo J, Liao W. The impact of genital psoriasis on quality of life: a systematic review. Psoriasis (Auckl) 2018; 8: 41–47.
- Meeuwis KAP, Hullu JA de, van de Nieuwenhof HP, Evers AWM, Massuger LFAG, van de Kerkhof PCM et al. Quality of life and sexual health in patients with genital psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 2011; 164: 1247–1255.
- Larsabal M, Ly S, Sbidian E, Moyal-Barracco M, Dauendorffer J-N, Dupin N et al. GENIPSO: a French prospective study assessing instantaneous prevalence, clinical features and impact on quality of life of genital psoriasis among patients consulting for psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 2019; 180: 647–656.
- 21. Starfield B. Is patient-centered care the same as personfocused care? Perm J 2011; 15: 63–69.
- Tizek L, Schielein MC, Rüth M, Szeimies R-M, Philipp-Dormston WG, Braun SA et al. Interest in skin cancer in urban populations: a retrospective analysis of google search terms in nine large German cities. Acta Derm Venereol 2019; 99: 797–804.
- Zink AGS, Rüth M, Watzele R, Nigg CR, Rehfuess EA. Failure of a print media sun safety campaign to reach high-risk occupational groups. Acta Derm Venereol 2018; 98: 811–812.
- Schielein MC, Tizek L. Seifert F, Biedermann T, Zink A. Versorgung von chronisch entzündlichen Hauterkrankungen: Gehen Betroffene zum niedergelassenen Dermatologen? Hautarzt 2019; 70: 875–882
- Sheikh K, George A, Gilson L. People-centred science: strengthening the practice of health policy and systems research. Health Res Policy Syst 2014; 12: 19.
- Meeuwis KAP, Hullu JA de, Jager MEA de, Massuger LFAG, van de Kerkhof PCM, van Rossum MM. Genital psoriasis: a questionnaire-based survey on a concealed skin disease in the Netherlands. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2010; 24: 1425–1430.
- 27. Yosipovitch G, Foley P, Ryan C, Cather JC, Meeuwis KA, Burge R et al. Ixekizumab improved patient-reported genital psoriasis symptoms and impact of symptoms on sexual activity vs placebo in a randomized, double-blind study. J Sex Med 2018; 15: 1645–1652.

- Leiner D. J. SoSci Survey (Version 3.2.02-i); 2019. Available from: http: //www.soscisurvey.com.
- Ryan C, Sadlier M, Vol E de, Patel M, Lloyd AA, Day A et al. Genital psoriasis is associated with significant impairment in quality of life and sexual functioning. J Am Acad Dermatol 2015; 72: 978–983.
- Maaty ASHA, Gomaa AHA, Mohammed GFA, Youssef IM, Eyada MMK. Assessment of female sexual function in patients with psoriasis. J Sex Med 2013; 10: 1545–1548.
- Mahajan R, Kumaran MS, Narang T, Handa S, Dogra S. Genital psoriasis among Indians: a prospective cross-sectional study. Australas J Dermatol 2015; 56: e18–20.
- 32. Lebwohl MG, Bachelez H, Barker J, Girolomoni G, Kavanaugh A, Langley RG et al. Patient perspectives in the management of psoriasis: results from the population-based Multinational Assessment of Psoriasis and Psoriatic Arthritis Survey. J Am Acad Dermatol 2014; 70: 871–881.e1–30.
- Zalewska A, Miniszewska J, Chodkiewicz J, Narbutt J. Acceptance of chronic illness in psoriasis vulgaris patients. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2007; 21: 235–242.
- Hosmer DW, Lemesbow S. Goodness of fit tests for the multiple logistic regression model. Commun Stats Theory Methods 1980; 9: 1043–1069.
- Zink A, Herrmann M, Fischer T, Lauffer F, Garzorz-Stark N, Böhner A et al. Addiction: an underestimated problem in psoriasis health care. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2017; 31: 1308–1315.
- Cather JC, Ryan C, Meeuwis K, Potts Bleakman AJ, Naegeli AN, Edson-Heredia E et al. Patients' perspectives on the impact of genital psoriasis: a qualitative study. Dermatol Ther 2017; 7: 447–461.
- Alpsoy E, Polat M, FettahlioGlu-Karaman B, Karadag AS, Kartal-Durmazlar P, YalCin B et al. Internalized stigma in psoriasis: A multicenter study. J Dermatol 2017; 44: 885–891.
- Ebert JF, Huibers L, Christensen B, Christensen MB. Paper- or web-based questionnaire invitations as a method for data collection: cross-sectional comparative study of differences in response rate, completeness of data, and financial cost. J Med Internet Res 2018; 20: e24.
- Ryan C. Genital psoriasis: the failure of dermatologists to identify genital involvement. Br J Dermatol 2019; 180: 460-461.
- 40. Zink A, Schuster B, Rüth M, Pereira MP, Philipp-Dormston WG, Biedermann T et al. Medical needs and major complaints related to pruritus in Germany: a 4-year retrospective analysis using Google AdWords Keyword Planner. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019; 33: 151–156.

Acta Derm Venereol 2020

ActaDV

Supplementary material to article by M. C. Schielein et al. "Genital Psoriasis and Associated Factors of Sexual Avoidance – A People-centered Cross-sectional Study in Germany"

Appendix S1

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL AND METHODS

Development of the questionnaire

The questionnaire was developed at the Technical University of Munich and by a team of three epidemiologists and one dermatologist; pre-tested by three researchers and three individuals with psoriasis; and subsequently adapted to their comments. In order to minimize dropouts due to too excessive questioning on sexuality, and especially to reach unbiased qualitative reasons for the avoidance of sexual contact in the context of psoriasis, the usage of a non-validated, one-question item was chosen to determine avoidance of sexual avoidance due to psoriasis ('Do you avoid sexual contact due to your psoriasis?').

General information

Baseline characteristics of all participants were collected, which included age, sex, treating physician (general practitioner, dermatologist, rheumatologist, no current treatment), duration of psoriasis, and subjective disease severity at the time point of study participation, as well as subjective overall disease severity. Overall severity did not ask for participant's worst condition since onset of psoriasis, but for the subjective general severity over a longer time span. The term was not specified in order to leave the interpretation of this multi-dimensional construct up to the respondent, which includes visible manifestations and also quality of life aspects. Furthermore, the presence of genital involvement was measured using the question 'Is your genital area currently affected by psoriasis?'. We did not specify whether only genitals, genital and anal area, or anal area as well as groin area were affected, but left it to the interpretation of the participant.

Intimacy and avoidance of sexual contact

Furthermore, participants were provided with a questionnaire on intimacy including questions like "Do you feel pain due to your psoriasis during sexual activities? (Always–Never; 5-point scale)," or "Do you think that your psoriasis has influenced your partner search or your choice of partner?" (yes, a lot–no, 4-point scale). Participants were also asked to declare whether they avoided sexual contact since onset of psoriasis (Always–Never; 5-point scale). If they reported this as at least "sometimes," they were asked to provide a reason or reasons as free text answers on a voluntary basis. For the regression analysis, these variables were dichotomized with 'never' resulting in 'no,' and 'seldom' to 'always' resulting in 'yes'. While this might have led to a loss of information, the aim of this approach was to facilitate statistical analysis, and improve clarity and understandability of the results.

Table SI. Correlations between variables entered in the multiple regression model.

		Age	Sex	Duration of psoriasis	Subjective overall severity	Severity at time of study participation	Receiving medical care	Genital area affected by psoriasis	In a relationship	Pain during sexual activities due to psoriasis
	r,	1.00	0.10	0.39	0.08	0.09	-0.02	-0.08	-0.08	0.07
Age	<i>p</i> -value		0.054	<0.001	0.130	0.103	0.778	0.122	0.141	0.233
	r,		1.00	0.06	0.08	0.01	0.06	0.13	0.08	0.02
Sex	<i>p</i> -value			0.290	0.132	0.844	0.280	0.021	0.118	0.763
Duration of psoriasis	r,			1.00	0.08	0.02	0.11	-0.05	0.05	0.19
	<i>p</i> -value				0.164	0.699	0.036	0.340	0.384	0.001
Subjective overall	r,				1.00	0.21	-0.17	0.08	0.14	-0.16
severity	<i>p</i> -value					<0.001	0.002	0.147	0.010	0.007
Severity at time of	r,					1.000	073	0.09	0.03	-0.04
study participation	<i>p</i> -value					•	.174	0.114	0.571	0.528
Receiving medical care	r,						1.000	-0.04	-0.02	0.14
	<i>p</i> -value							0.481	0.726	0.016
Genital area affected	r,							1.000	-0.06	-0.33
by psoriasis	<i>p</i> -value								0.268	<0.001
In a relationship	r,								1.000	0.11
	<i>p</i> -value									0.053
Pain during sexual	r,									1.000
activities due to psoriasis	<i>p</i> -value									•

r_s=Spearman correlation coefficient.

www.medicaljournals.se/acta

Supplementary material to article by M. C. Schielein et al." Genital Psoriasis and Associated Factors of Sexual Avoidance - A People-centered Cross-sectional Study in Germany"



Fig. S1. Exclusion flow chart of participants before analyses.

Acta Derm Venereol 2020

Appendix I: Psoriasis and addictions: assessing mental health in a crosssectional study across Germany

Schielein MC, Tizek L, Knobloch L, Maaßen D, Bidermann T, Zink A. Psoriasis and addictions: assessing mental health in a cross-sectional study across Germany; [under review]

1	Psoriasis and Addictions: Assessing Mental Health in a Cross-Sectional Study in Germany
2	Psoriasis and Addictions
3 4	Maximilian Christian Schielein ^{1,2} , Linda Tizek ^{1,2} , Lisanne Knobloch ³ , Dirk Maaßen ⁴ , Tilo Biedermann ¹ , Alexander Zink ¹
5 6	¹ Technical University of Munich, School of Medicine, Department of Dermatology and Allergy, Munich, Germany
7 8	² Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich, Department of Medical Informatics, Biometry and Epidemiology (IBE), Munich, Germany
9	³ Benedictus Hospital, Department of Neurology, Tutzing, Germany
10	⁴ Psoriasis Pratice Network South-West, Maxdorf, Germany

11 *Corresponding author:*

- 12 PD Dr. Dr. med. Alexander Zink, MPH
- 13 Department of Dermatology and Allergy, School of Medicine
- 14 Technical University of Munich
- 15 Biedersteiner Str. 29, 80802 Munich, Germany
- 16 Tel: +49 89 4140 3176
- 17 Fax: +49 89 4140 3572
- 18 E-Mail: alexander.zink@tum.de
- 19 Manuscript word count: 2,578
- 20 Abstract word count: 217
- 21 **Table Count:** 2
- 22 **Figure Count:** 2
- 23 Supplementary Tables: 1
- 24 Supplementary Texts: 1
- 25 **References:** 38

26 Abstract

27 Background

Psoriasis is a chronic skin disease with a high mental burden. Well-known comorbidities include depression, anxiety, as well as alcohol and tobacco addiction, but there is nearly no evidence on other addictions.

31 *Objectives*

The aims of this study were to estimate the prevalence of the six most common addictions among psoriasis patients in Germany and to determine associated clinical factors.

34 Material & Methods

35 Dermatologists working in four dermatological clinics and thirty-two practices across Germany

36 recruited patients between September 2018 and November 2019. This cross-sectional study contained

37 questionnaires on six addictions, depression, anxiety, and the Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI).

38 In addition, Psoriasis Area and Severity Index (PASI) was obtained by the physicians.

39 Results

40 Overall, 502 patients (43.4% women; mean age: 49.7 ± 14.6 years) were included. Positive screenings

41 for addictions were found in 30.3% of patients for daily smoking, 8.6% for alcohol, 1.2% for gambling,

42 3.8% for Internet, 3.6% for food, and 6.0% for drugs. Younger age was associated with a higher chance

- 43 of a positive screening for all addictions except for alcohol dependency. The PASI was only significantly
- 44 associated with smoking.
- 45 Conclusions

46 Addictions seem to be common among psoriasis patients. Further research should include

47 comprehensive data and control groups. Furthermore, standardised screenings and early referrals could

48 represent first steps to improve people-centred healthcare in psoriasis.

49 Keywords

50 Addiction Medicine, Comorbidity, Epidemiology, Mental Health, Psoriasis

51 **INTRODUCTION**

Psoriasis is a chronic inflammatory systemic skin disease associated with typical cutaneous 52 manifestations, affecting 0.5-11.4% of the global population and 2.1% of the German population [1]. It 53 54 is often accompanied by comorbidities such as cardiovascular, rheumatoid, and mental diseases [2]. Mental diseases are particularly significant in psoriasis, as psoriasis lesions often affect visible body 55 areas or the genital area, causing stigmatisation [3, 4] and impairment of patients' quality of life, 56 happiness, and sexual life [5-7]. Comorbid mental diseases include depression, anxiety, suicidality, and 57 various addictions [8-13]. Addictions such as alcohol consumption and smoking are commonly 58 59 investigated [10, 11], whereas data on other addictions like gambling and drug abuse are rare [12].

To improve patients' quality of life, early detection of these comorbidities is essential. However, 60 comorbidities often remain unrecognised [14-16]. Consequently, there is a great need for improvement 61 62 to reach the goals outlined in the 'Global report on psoriasis' issued by the World Health Organisation (WHO) in 2016 [17]. This report emphasised the need for people-centred care and multidisciplinary 63 approaches in order to minimise the burden that individuals suffer due to psoriasis. When psoriasis is 64 treated sufficiently, a reduction of disease severity has been shown to be associated with an improvement 65 66 in guality of life and reduction of depressive symptoms [8, 18–20]. Since patient-physician time is limited and limited information on risk factors for mental comorbidities is available, screening for 67 mental comorbidities is promoted in the literature [20, 21]. While some clinical risk factors for 68 depression and anxiety are available [20-23], currently there is no evidence on risk factors for 69 addictions. 70

Therefore, the aims of this study were to estimate the prevalence of the six most common addictions in Germany in patients with psoriasis and to determine clinical factors associated with the occurrence of each addiction, respectively.

74 MATERIALS AND METHODS

75 Study population

For this cross-sectional, paper-based, non-interventional study, participants were recruited from 32 dermatological practices and 4 dermatological clinics across Germany between September 2018 and November 2019. Dermatologists were invited using data from the German psoriasis physician network 79 'Psoriasis Praxisnetz Süd-West e.V.'. If physicians agreed to participate, they received material to include up to ten patients. Additional patient sets for inclusion were provided on demand. For study 80 81 participation, patients had to fulfil the following inclusion criteria: aged ≥ 18 years, diagnosed with psoriasis, able to give written informed consent, and able to answer a German questionnaire. To 82 minimise selection bias, dermatologists were asked to include either (1) the first ten psoriasis patients 83 84 willing to participate after start of recruitment or (2) patients who visited within the last two months retrospectively and consecutively. Informed consent was obtained from every participant prior to 85 inclusion. The study and all procedures were reviewed and approved by the local ethical committee of 86 87 the medical faculty of Technical University of Munich (Reference 485/17 S).

88 Questionnaire

Participants received a questionnaire consisting of the German versions of nine well-established questionnaires for the assessment of mental-health status. A detailed description of each measuring instrument can be found in Appendix S1 and in Table 1. Dermatologists additionally documented patient characteristics including age, sex, body mass index (BMI), and disease severity measured by the Psoriasis Area and Severity Index (PASI).

94 Statistics and data management

Study size was limited by a patient recruitment time of one year to reduce potential seasonal influences. 95 Descriptive data were generated for general patient characteristics and prevalence of mental disorders. 96 97 Mental health outcomes for prevalence estimation and further analyses were defined by thresholds listed 98 in Table 1. To test differences between sex, t-test, chi-squared test, or Fisher's exact test were used. 99 Furthermore, logistic regression models were calculated to determine personal and clinical factors (age, 100 sex, BMI, Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI), PASI, and positive screenings for depression and anxiety) that were associated with the occurrence of one of the six addictions. Variables were added to 101 multivariate regression models using backward stepwise selection to minimise multicollinearity. Odds 102 ratios (OR) and adjusted OR (aOR) were calculated with the respective 95% confidence intervals (CI). 103 104 Global alpha was set at 0.05. To improve the quality of the regression models, multiple imputations were conducted. Therefore, a fully conditional specification method was used to impute missing data. 105 In total, five imputations were generated to calculate missing data (n=193; 3.0%). Afterwards, a 106

107 sensitivity analysis was performed to compare the results of the multiple imputation analysis with those 108 of the complete cases (i.e., only cases without any missing data; Table S1). All data were entered twice 109 and compared with each other to detect discrepancies. In case of error, source data were accessed and 110 datasets were corrected. IBM SPSS Statistics (Version 25, IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA) was 111 used for all analyses.

112 **RESULTS**

113 Patient characteristics

114 A total of 502 participants were included in this study. The mean age was 49.7 years (± 14.6 years) and 115 218 (43.4%) were women. The mean BMI was 28.1 (\pm 5.4) and the mean PASI was 7.3 (\pm 7.6). Mean DLQI was 7.5 (\pm 7.1), with a significantly higher impairment in women than in men (8.4 \pm 7.3 vs. 6.8 \pm 7.0, 116 p=0.020). Nearly half of all patients (44.8%) reported no or a small effect of psoriasis on their daily life, 117 whereas 27.1% reported a large or extremely large impact. Overall, 29.5% of individuals screened 118 119 positive for depression, with 11.4% indicating major depression. Anxiety was found in 48.8% of 120 patients, with 17.5% having signs for an anxiety disorder (Figure 1). Women were more likely to have 121 a positive screening result for depression (35.8% vs. 24.7%, p=0.006) and anxiety disorder than men (20.1% vs. 14.8%; p<0.001, Table 2). 122

123 Prevalence of addictions

A total of 152 participants (30.3%) reported daily cigarette smoking, with no significant difference 124 between women and men (33.0% vs. 28.2%, p=0.216, Table 2). The mean duration of daily smoking 125 was 24.2 years (± 13.1 years). Of those who are smoking daily, 55.3% (n=84) stated that they smoked 126 127 less than a pack per day, 34.9% (n=53) one pack per day, and 9.9% (n=15) more than a pack per day. 128 Additionally, 8.6% (n=43) of all patients screened positive for alcoholism, with a higher proportion in 129 men than women (11.3% vs. 5.0%, p=0.020). A sex difference was also observed regarding gambling addiction as only men showed positive screening results (2.2% of men vs. 0% of women, p=0.039). For 130 all other addictions, no sex difference was found. Overall, 3.8% (n=19) of the patients showed 131 132 pathological Internet behaviour and 2.0% (n=10) had a borderline to pathological Internet consumption. Around 3.6% (n=18) of the patients screened positive for food addiction. Furthermore, 15.0% (n=75) 133 displayed at least a low level of abusive behaviour regarding drugs, with a positive screening of 6.0% 134

(n=30) for drug abuse (Figure 1). When considering any addiction, 36.9% (n=185) of patients screened
positive for at least one addiction, with no significant differences in sex (women: 37.6% vs. men: 36.2%,
p=0.200). However, when examining the number of addictions, women were more likely to have one
addiction (30.7% vs. 24.3%), while men were more like to have two or more addictions (11.9% vs.
6.9%, p=0.013; Table 2).

140 Associated factors for addictions

Expect for alcohol dependency, younger age was associated with a higher chance for a positive screening 141 for each addiction. Thereby, age had the strongest influence on pathological gambling ($OR_{MI} = 0.93$, 142 143 95% CI 0.87-1.00) and drug addiction (OR_{MI} = 0.94, 95% CI 0.92-0.97, Figure 1). Additionally, the PASI was positive associated with smoking ($OR_{MI} = 1.04, 95\%$ CI 1.01–1.07). For example, a ten-point 144 increase in PASI was associated with a 40% increase in the chance of smoking. Furthermore, depression 145 was significantly associated with alcohol ($OR_{MI} = 2.66, 95\%$ CI 1.40-5.01) and drug addiction (ORMI 146 = 2.66, 95% CI 1.23-5.77), whereas chances for Internet (OR_{MI} = 7.66, 95% CI 2.92-19.98) and food 147 148 addiction ($OR_{MI} = 3.03, 95\%$ CI 1.10-8.36) were higher in patients with a positive screening for an anxiety disorder (Table S1). 149

150 **DISCUSSION**

The aim of this study was to provide evidence on the estimated prevalence of six addictions in patients with psoriasis as well as to identify associated clinical factors. Overall, mental burden was high in patients with psoriasis and there was a high prevalence of addiction with nearly half of the patients reporting signs for at least one addiction. Especially, Internet addiction was surprisingly high in the study population. Younger age was associated with a higher chance for the occurrence of most addictions.

157 *Comparison to the general population*

158 The study's finding indicated that psoriasis patients have a greater likelihood of several addictions

159 compared to representative samples of the German general population, including daily smoking (30.3%

- 160 vs. 15.1%) [24], alcohol dependency (8.6% vs. 3.1%) [24], pathological gambling (1.2% vs. 0.2%) [25],
- and legal or illegal drugs abuse (6.0% vs. 3.2%-5.2%) [24]. The increased mental burden due to skin
- diseases and social withdrawl might play important roles in this association [13, 26]. Despite the higher

BMI in this sample compared to the general population (28.1 vs. 26.7), food addiction was found to be less prevalent among patients with psoriasis (3.6% vs. 7.9%) [27], although the logistic regression revealed a positive association with the BMI. This difference could indicate either a reason other than excessive eating for weight gain in psoriasis patients or the presence of a social desirability bias.

Internet addiction is reported to decrease with rising age [28, 29], however, pathological Internet use 167 168 was higher in this study (3.8%), where the patients' mean age was 49.7 years, than in a study including a representative sample of German adolescents with a mean age of 14.9 years (3.2%) [30]. Another 169 170 study performed by Rumpf et al. assessed the Internet addiction among more than 8,130 German 171 individuals, who had a mean age of 39.9 years and used the Internet regularly [28]. When adjusted to 172 the cut-off used by Rumpf et al., the prevalence for Internet addiction was equal in both studies (1.5%), although this study population was older. Accordingly, the study's findings might indicate an association 173 174 of Internet addiction with psoriasis, which requires further investigation.

175 Comparison to other studies on individuals with psoriasis

176 The proportion of psoriasis patients that currently smoke varies widely in the literature, ranging from 14.0% 177 to 51.3% [10]. Although the prevalence detected in this study was within this range, it was lower compared to that reported in another German study among psoriasis patients (30.8% vs. 41.0%) [12]. In a systematic 178 179 review, the prevalence of alcohol addiction was reported to be between 11.1% and 28.0% in psoriasis patients [11], which is higher than that reported in this study. One study that also used the CAGE score to assess 180 alcohol addiction reported a prevalence of 18.3% among psoriasis patients [31]. A reason for that 181 considerable higher prevalence might be the fact that only 60 patients with psoriasis were investigated. 182 183 Another study including psoriasis patients from a dermatological clinic and also assessing alcohol 184 dependency via the CAGE questionnaire reported an estimated prevalence of 13.5% [12]. Although the 185 prevalence of alcohol addiction was lower in this study compared to most of the previous studies, the prevalence I exceeded the rate found within the German general population (3.1% [24]). 186

In comparison to the general population, the prevalence of Internet addiction was higher among the included psoriasis patients, however the prevalence was lower in comparison to another study including individuals with psoriasis reached via online self-help groups (8.5%) [26]. As the prevalence was even higher in people with psoriasis than in patients with psoriasis, the results underline the importance of a people-centred care as demanded by the WHO [17]. When considering compulsive gambling, food addiction, and drug abuse, reported data on individuals with psoriasis are limited to one study performed by Zink et al., which included 102 patients from a university hospital [12]. While compulsive gambling was higher than in the present sample (2.0% vs. 1.2%), food addiction (3.1% vs. 3.6%) and drug addiction (1.0% vs. 2.4%; threshold adapted to Zink et al.) were lower than in this sample. As there were no considerable differences regarding age and severity of psoriasis, the different findings emphasise the need for further clarification and research potentially including data extracted from health insurances.

Although patients included in this study had lower values for PASI and DLQI compared to a study by Lamb et al. [18], the prevalence found for depression and anxiety were higher than in the other study, who found that 9.9% of their psoriasis patients were likely to have major depression and 13.1% a generalised anxiety disorder. Another study by Delgard et al. [32] found a comparable prevalence of 13.8% for depression, but a higher prevalence for anxiety (22.7%). Interestingly, Delgard et al. reported depression and anxiety to exhibit aORs of 3.0 and 2.9 in patients with psoriasis when compared with healthy controls, which emphasises the mental impairment caused by psoriasis [32].

206 Associated factors for addictions

There was no previous study that investigated individual and clinical factors associated with all the six 207 addictions. The multiple regression models revealed that for most of the addictions, younger age had a 208 significantly influence. Although age is discussed highly controversial in terms of addiction within the 209 210 current literature [33, 34], it stands out that for all addictions, expect for alcohol addiction, the chance of being screened positive significantly decreased with rising age. While being controlled via backward 211 212 selection, only daily smoking was associated with a higher PASI. This might either indicate the absence of a classical dose-response relationship or that conventional strategies to classify disease severity in a 213 cross-sectional manner might not comprehensively reflect the individual burden experienced by patients 214 215 [35]. Furthermore, all addictions apart from smoking and gambling were associated with depression or anxiety, which is in accordance with the literature [36]. These findings strengthen the reliability of the 216 217 study results. However, no certain clinical factor can be identified as potential predictor and reported prevalence remain higher than those reported within the general population. Therefore, the findings also 218 emphasise the need for further research and standardized screenings. 219

220 Strengths and limitations

A major strength of this study is the large number of patients and a strict set of rules for consecutive 221 222 inclusion of patients was applied to reduce selection bias. Additionally, recruitment was carried out in 36 medical settings throughout Germany. There are some study limitations, however. First, there is a 223 potential for selection bias as participation for dermatologists was voluntary and this can lead to a self-224 225 selected subgroup of dermatologists. Second, screening for addictions was performed using standardised questionnaires without a corresponding control group, so that comparisons are only indirect. Although 226 227 the questionnaires are validated and all showed acceptable results for specificity and sensitivity [3], it 228 has to be taken into account that these findings do not represent diagnoses but rather estimate the 229 respective outcomes. Third, a certain degree of social and desirability bias needs to be considered. Patients are not always willing to disclose information regarding sensitive and potentially stigmatising 230 231 data [37, 38].

232 *Conclusion*

233 In conclusion, the prevalence of addictions, especially Internet addiction, was high among patients with psoriasis. To verify the association between the prevalence and psoriasis, future research should also 234 include a suitable control group or claims data. The study findings underline the importance of 235 implementing a routine, not too time-consuming assessments of psychological comorbidities when 236 assessing psoriasis severity, which could be easily implemented in psoriasis care [21–23]. As different 237 clinical variables were associated with the occurrence of different addictions, a possible first step could 238 include routine and standardised screening as well as referral for early detection and treatment of these 239 psychological disturbances to improve the quality of people-centred care. 240

241 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Financial support: Parts of this study were supported by an unrestricted research grant byNovartis Pharma GmbH.

Conflict of Interest: MCS received speaker's honoraria and/or were financially supported for the presentation of scientific posters by Janssen-Cilag, Novartis. LT was financially supported for the presentation of scientific posters by Novartis Pharma GmbH. LK has no conflict of

247	interest to declare. DM has served as a consultant and/or paid speaker for and/or has received
248	honoraria for consulting and/or got travel expenses reimbursed and/or participated in clinical
249	trials sponsored by companies that manufacture drugs used for the treatment of psoriasis
250	including AbbVie, Almirall, Amgen, Biogen (Biogen Idec), Celgene, Eli Lilly, Janssen-Cilag,
251	Leo, Medac, MSD (formerly Essex, Schering-Plough), Mundipharma, Novartis, Pfizer
252	(formerly Wyeth), USB. TB gave advice to or got an honorarium for talks or research grant
253	from the following companies: Celgene, Novartis, Lilly. AZ has been an advisor and/or
254	received speaker's honoraria and/or received grants and/or participated in clinical trials of the
255	following companies: AbbVie, Almirall, Celgene, Eli Lilly, Janssen-Cilag, Novartis.

256 **<u>REFERENCES</u>**

- 1 Michalek IM, Loring B, John SM. A systematic review of worldwide epidemiology of psoriasis. J Eur Acad
 Dermatol Venereol 2017;31(2):205–12.
- 2 Takeshita J, Grewal S, Langan SM, et al. Psoriasis and comorbid diseases: Epidemiology. J Am Acad Dermatol
 2017;76(3):377–90.
- 3 Topp J, Andrees V, Weinberger NA, et al. Strategies to reduce stigma related to visible chronic skin diseases: a
 systematic review. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019;33(11):2029–38.
- 4 Pearl RL, Wan MT, Takeshita J, et al. Stigmatizing attitudes toward persons with psoriasis among laypersons
 and medical students. J Am Acad Dermatol 2019;80(6):1556–63.
- Sampogna F, Abeni D, Gieler U, et al. Impairment of Sexual Life in 3,485 Dermatological Outpatients From a
 Multicentre Study in 13 European Countries. Acta Derm Venereol 2017;97(4):478–82.
- 267 6 Schielein MC, Tizek L, Schuster B, et al. Genital psoriasis and the influence on sexual distress a people 268 centered cross-sectional study in Germany // Genital Psoriasis and Associated Factors of Sexual Avoidance A
 269 People-centered Cross-sectional Study in Germany. Acta Derm Venereol 2020;100(10):adv00151.
- 270 7 Schuster B, Ziehfreund S, Albrecht H, et al. Happiness in Dermatology: a Holistic Evaluation of the Mental
 271 Burden of Skin Diseases. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019.
- 8 Koo J, Marangell LB, Nakamura M, et al. Depression and suicidality in psoriasis: review of the literature
 including the cytokine theory of depression. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2017;31(12):1999–2009.
- 9 Matterne U, Baumeister SE, Apfelbacher CJ. Suicidality and risk of suicidality in psoriasis: a critical appraisal
 of two systematic reviews and meta-analyses. Br J Dermatol 2019;181(4):717–21.
- 10 Armstrong AW, Harskamp CT, Dhillon JS, et al. Psoriasis and smoking: a systematic review and meta-analysis.
 Br J Dermatol 2014;170(2):304–14.
- 11 Brenaut E, Horreau C, Pouplard C, et al. Alcohol consumption and psoriasis: a systematic literature review. J
 Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2013;27 Suppl 3:30–35.
- 12 Zink A, Herrmann M, Fischer T, et al. Addiction: an underestimated problem in psoriasis health care. J Eur
 Acad Dermatol Venereol 2017;31(8):1308–15.
- 13 Egeberg A, Thyssen JP, Wu JJ, et al. Risk of first-time and recurrent depression in patients with psoriasis: a
 population-based cohort study. Br J Dermatol 2019;180(1):116–21.
- 14 Dauden E, Blasco AJ, Bonanad C, et al. Position statement for the management of comorbidities in psoriasis. J
 Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2018;32(12):2058–73.
- 15 Strohal R, Kirby B, Puig L, et al. Psoriasis beyond the skin: an expert group consensus on the management of
 psoriatic arthritis and common co-morbidities in patients with moderate-to-severe psoriasis. J Eur Acad Dermatol
 Venereol 2014;28(12):1661–69.
- 16 Radtke MA, Mrowietz U, Feuerhahn J, et al. Early detection of comorbidity in psoriasis: recommendations of
 the National Conference on Healthcare in Psoriasis. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 2015;13(7):674–90.
- 17 Michalek IM, Loring B, John SM. Global report on psoriasis. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization
 2016.
- 18 Lamb RC, Matcham F, Turner MA, et al. Screening for anxiety and depression in people with psoriasis: a cross sectional study in a tertiary referral setting. Br J Dermatol 2017;176(4):1028–34.
- 19 Papp KA, Reich K, Paul C, et al. A prospective phase III, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study
 of brodalumab in patients with moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 2016;175(2):273–86.

- 20 Nicholas MN, Gooderham M. Psoriasis, Depression, and Suicidality. Skin Therapy Lett 2017;22(3):1–4.
- 21 Lesner K, Reich A, Szepietowski JC, et al. Determinants of Psychosocial Health in Psoriatic Patients: A Multi national Study. Acta Derm Venereol 2017;97(10):1182–88.
- 300 22 Kimball AB, Jacobson C, Weiss S, et al. The psychosocial burden of psoriasis. Am J Clin Dermatol 2005;6(6):383–92.
- 302 23 Scharloo M, Kaptein AA, Weinman J, et al. Patients' illness perceptions and coping as predictors of functional
 303 status in psoriasis: a 1-year follow-up. Br J Dermatol 2000;142(5):899–907.
- 24 Atzendorf J, Rauschert C, Seitz N-N, et al. The Use of Alcohol, Tobacco, Illegal Drugs and Medicines. Dtsch
 Arztebl Int 2019;116(35-36):577–84.
- 25 Erbas B, Buchner UG. Pathological gambling: prevalence, diagnosis, comorbidity, and intervention in
 Germany. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2012;109(10):173–79.
- 26 Schielein MC, Tizek L, Schuster B, et al. Always Online? Internet Addiction and Social Impairment in Psoriasis
 across Germany. J Clin Med 2020;9(6).
- 310 27 Hauck C, Weiß A, Schulte EM, et al. Prevalence of 'Food Addiction' as Measured with the Yale Food Addiction
- Scale 2.0 in a Representative German Sample and Its Association with Sex, Age and Weight Categories. Obes
 Facts 2017;10(1):12–24.
- 28 Rumpf H-J, Vermulst AA, Bischof A, et al. Occurence of internet addiction in a general population sample: a
 latent class analysis. Eur Addict Res 2014;20(4):159–66.
- 29 Carli V, Durkee T, Wasserman D, et al. The association between pathological internet use and comorbid
 psychopathology: a systematic review. Psychopathology 2013;46(1):1–13.
- 30 Wartberg L, Kriston L, Kammerl R, et al. Prevalence of pathological internet use in a representative German
 sample of adolescents: results of a latent profile analysis. Psychopathology 2015;48(1):25–30.
- 319 31 Buchsbaum DG, Buchanan RG, Centor RM, et al. Screening for alcohol abuse using CAGE scores and
 320 likelihood ratios. Ann Intern Med 1991;115(10):774–77.
- 321 32 Dalgard FJ, Gieler U, Tomas-Aragones L, et al. The psychological burden of skin diseases: a cross-sectional
 multicenter study among dermatological out-patients in 13 European countries. J Invest Dermatol
 2015;135(4):984–91.
- 324 33 Koechl B, Unger A, Fischer G. Age-related aspects of addiction. Gerontology 2012;58(6):540–44.
- 34 Argyriou E, Um M, Carron C, et al. Age and impulsive behavior in drug addiction: A review of past research
 and future directions. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2018;164:106–17.
- 327 35 Tizek L, Schielein MC, Zink A. PeakPASI: A new measurement tool in psoriasis care. J Am Acad Dermatol
 328 2020.
- 329 36 Vondráčková P, Gabrhelík R. Prevention of Internet addiction: A systematic review. J Behav Addict
 330 2016;5(4):568-79.
- 37 Schnyder N, Panczak R, Groth N, et al. Association between mental health-related stigma and active help seeking: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 2017;210(4):261–68.

38 Zink A, Schuster B, Rüth M, et al. Medical needs and major complaints related to pruritus in Germany: a 4 year retrospective analysis using Google AdWords Keyword Planner. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol
 2019;33(1):151–56.



Figure 1: Prevalence of positive screenings for depression, anxiety and the six most common addictions in Germany (smoking, alcohol, gambling, Internet, food, drugs). Results overall and stratified by gender.



Figure 2: Personal and clinical factors associated with the positive of each least one addiction. BMI=Body-Mass-Index; DLQI=Dermatology Life Quality Index; PASI = Psoriasis Area and Severity Index; WHO5=WHO-Five Well-Being Index; GAD-7=Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item. 340 341



Associated factors of the respective addictions

TABLES	
343	

344 Table 1: Standardised questionnaires included in study questionnaire.

		Inumber				
Questionnaire	Abbreviation	of	Scale	Possible answers (value)	Range	Classifications
		questions				
				[] very much (3)		[0-1] no effect at all on patient's life
				[] a lot (2)		[2-5] small effect on patient's life
Dermatology Life Quality Index	DLQI	10	ordinal ^a	[] a little (1)	0-30	[6-10] moderate effect on patient's life
				[] not at all (0)		[11-20] very large effect on patient's life
				[] not relevant (0)		[21-30] extremely large effect on patient's life
				[] at no time (0)		
				[] some of the time (1)		[100-51] good wellbeing
WHO-Five Well-Being Index	WHO5	v	ordinal	[] less than half of the time (2)	0-100	[50-29] depressive tendency/depression*
)		[] more than half of the time (3)	0-1-0	[30-27] uppedate tenuciro/uppedator
				[] most of the time (4)		[20-0] potentiany inajoi depression
				[] all of the time (5)		
				[] not at all (0)		[0-4] good wellbeing
Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-		ſ	11	[] several days (1)	5	[5-9] mild anxiety
item	/-MAD	_	OFULLIAL	[] over half the days (2)	17-0	[10-14] moderate anxiety*
				[]nearly every day (3)		[15-21] severe anxiety*
		V	lonimonid	[] yes (1)	K O	[0-1] no drinking problem
	CAUE	t	UIIIUIIIIIai	[] no (0)	+	[2-4] alcohol use disorder*
Conchron A monthly of the Conchronic	000	00	lonimonid	[] yes (1)		[0-6] no gambling problem
California Autolitymous 20 Questions	2017	07	UIIIUIIIIIaI	[] no (0)	07-0	[7-20] compulsive gambling*
				[] never (0)		
				[] seldom (1)		[0-17] not problematic
Compulsive Internet Using Scale	CIUS	14	ordinal	[] sometimes (2)	0-56	[18-20] borderline
				[] often (3)		[21-56] pathological internet use*
				[] very often (4)		

Modified Yale food addiction scale 2.0	mYFAS 2.0	13	ordinal	 [] never (0) [] less than 1 time a month (1) [] once a month (2) [] 2-3 times per month (3) [] 2-3 times per week (5) [] 4-6 times per week (6) [] daily (7) 	0-11 ^b	 [0-1] no eating disorder [2-3]^c mild eating disorder[*] [4-5]^c moderate eating disorder[*] [6-11]^c severe eating disorder[*] 	
Drug Abuse Screening Test	DAST-10	10	binominal	[] yes (1) [] no (0)	0-10	 [0] no problem indicated [1-2] low level [3-5] moderate level* [6-8] substantial level* [9-10] severe level* 	
*Concidered alinianly cignifican	•						1

345 *Considered clinically significant
346 ^a Question seven differs and is a co
347 ^b Each item has an individual class
348 ^c Plus impairment or distress items

^a Question seven differs and is a combination of binominal and ordinal scales.

^b Each item has an individual classification of being present (1) or not (0). Range over all items for being present (1) is from [2-7] to [5-7], respectively. ° Plus impairment or distress items which were fulfilled if being present at least 2-3 times per week. Table 2: General characteristics of participants stratified by sex. Differences were compared using unpaired t-test and Chi square test. SD=Standard deviation; BMI=Body-Mass-Index;

350 unparted test and em square test. 3D-standard deviation, Bivi-Body-Mass-index,
 351 DLQI=Dermatology Life Quality Index; PASI=Psoriasis Area and Severity Index. Significant results

352 printed bold.

		Τα	otal	Wa	men	Μ	len	
		(n=	502)	(n=	218)	(n=	284)	P-value
		[n (%)]	Mean ± SD	[n (%)]	Mean ± SD	[n (%)]	Mean ± SD	
Age			49.7 ± 14.6		50.7 ± 14.8		48.9 ± 14.4	0.164
BMI			28.1 ± 5.4		28.3 ±6.5		28.0 ± 4.3	0.594
PASI			7.3 ± 7.6		6.7 ± 6.8		7.8 ± 8.1	0.098
DLQI			7.5 ± 7.1		8.4 ± 7.3		6.8 ±7.0	0.020
	No	351 (69.9)		139 (63.8)		212 (75.2)		
Danrassion	General	91 (18.1)		43 (19.7)		48 (17.0)		0.006
Depression	Major	57 (11.4)		35 (16.1)		22 (7.7)		0.000
-	Missing	3 (0.6)		1 (0.5)		2 (0.7)		
	No	248 (49.4)		84 (38.5)		164 (57.7)		
-	Mild	157 (31.3)		83 (38.1)		74 (26.1)		
Anxiety	Moderate	68 (13.5)		36 (16.5)		32 (11.3)		< 0.001
-	Severe	20 (4.0)		10 (4.6)		10 (3.5)		
-	Missing	9 (1.8)		5 (2.3)		4 (1.4)		
Daily	Yes	152 (30.3)		72 (33.0)		80 (28.2)		
smoking	No	343 (68.3)		142 (65.1)		201 (70.8)		0.216
-	Missing	7 (1.4)		4 (1.8)		3 (1.1)		
Years of			24 2 + 13 1		253+133		23 3 + 12 9	0 355
smoking			21.2 - 13.1		20.0 - 10.0		23.3 - 12.9	0.555
	Yes	43 (8.6)		11 (5.0)		32 (11.3)		
Alcohol	No	444 (88.4)		195 (89.4)		249 (87.7)		0.020
-	Missing	15 (3.0)		12 (5.5)		3 (1.1)		

	Yes	6 (1.2)	0 (0.0)	6 (2.1)	
Gambling	No	481 (95.8)	210 (96.3)	271 (95.4)	0.039*
	Missing	15 (3.0)	8 (3.7)	7 (2.5)	
Internet	No	449 (89.4)	195 (89.4)	254 (89.4)	
	Borderline	10 (2.0)	4 (1.8)	6 (2.1)	0.582
	Pathological	19 (3.8)	6 (2.8)	13 (4.6)	0.383
	Missing	24 (4.8)	13 (6.0)	11 (3.9)	
	No	475 (94.6)	205 (94.0)	270 (95.1)	
	Mild	7 (1.4)	5 (2.3)	2 (0.7)	
Food	Moderate	4 (0.8)	1 (0.5)	3 (1.1)	0.423
	Severe	7 (1.4)	3 (1.4)	4 (1.4)	
	Missing	9 (1.8)	4 (1.8)	5 (1.8)	
Drugs	No	406 (80.9)	174 (79.8)	232 (81.7)	
	Low level	45 (9.0)	22 (10.1)	23 (8.1)	
	Moderate	18 (3.6)	5 (2.3)	13 (4.6)	0.484
	Severe level	8 (1.6)	2 (0.9)	6 (2.1)	
	Substantial	4 (0.8)	2 (0.9)	2 (0.7)	
	Missing	21 (4.2)	13 (6.0)	8 (2.8)	
	None	250 (49.8)	95 (43.6)	155 (54.6)	
	One	136 (27.1)	67 (30.7)	69 (24.3)	
Addictions	Two	36 (7.2)	14 (6.4)	22 (7.7)	0.013
Autons	Three or more	13 (2.6)	1 (0.5)	12 (4.2)	0.015
	Missing	67 (13.3)	41 (18.8)	26 (9.2)	

353 *Fisher's exact test was used as requirements for Chi square test were not fulfilled.

RIAL	
MATE	
TARY	
EMEN	
SUPPLI	
354	

Table S1: Results of the complete-case analysis compared to the multiple imputation analysis assessing clinical factors associated with the positive screening for depression, anxiety or addictions. 356

Dependent variable	Independent variables (reference)	Crude OR _{CC}	Adjusted OR _{CC} (95% CI)	Adjusted OR _M m = 5 (95% CI)	Change in ß-Coefficient
	Age	(0.96-0.99)	0.98 (0.96-0.99)	0.97 (0.96-0.99)	0.12
	Gender (male)	1.27 (0.87-1.87)			
Dailv smoking	BMI	0.98 (0.94-1.02)			
$N_{\rm CC} = 418$	DLQI	1.04 (1.01 - 1.07)			
$N_{MI} = 502$	PASI	1.03(1.01-1.06)	1.03 (1.01-1.06)	1.04 (1.01-1.07)	0.18
	Depression	1.72 (1.15-2.59)			
	Anxiety	1.38 (0.85-2.24)			
	Age	0.99 (0.97-1.01)			
	Gender (male)	$0.44\ (0.22-0.89)$	$0.41 \ (0.19-0.90)$	0.39 (0.19-0.79)	0.07
Alcohol denendencv	BMI	0.99 (0.93-1.06)			
$N_{\rm CC} = 413$	DLQI	1.01 (0.97-1.06)			
$N_{MI} = 502$	PASI	1.03 (0.99-1.07)			
	Depression	2.30 (1.22-4.34)	3.06 (1.51-6.20)	2.66 (1.40-5.01)	-0.12
	Anxiety	1.93 (0.95-3.94)			
	Age	$0.94\ (0.87-1.00)$	$0.91 \ (0.84 - 0.99)$	$0.93 \ (0.87 - 1.00)$	-0.26
Pathological gambling	Gender (male)	N/A			
$N_{\rm CC} = 414$	BMI	0.84 (0.47-1.05)			
$N_{MI} = 502$	DLQI	1.05 (0.95-1.16)			
	PASI	1.00 (0.91-1.11)			

	Depression	1.23 (0.22-6.80)			
	Anxiety	4.70 (0.93-23.69)			
	Age	$0.95\ (0.91-0.98)$	0.95 (0.91-0.99)	0.95 (0.91-0.98)	0.06
	Gender (male)	0.60 (0.23-1.61)			
Internet addiction	BMI	1.02 (0.94-1.11)			
$N_{ m CC}=404$	DLQI	1.04 (0.98-1-11)			
$N_{MI} = 502$	PASI	0.99 (0.92-1.06)			
	Depression	2.22 (0.88-5.58)			
	Anxiety	6.88 (2.68-17.67)	4.81 (1.71-13.50)	7.63 (2.92-19.98)	0.29
	Age	0.96 (0.92-0.99)	$0.94\ (0.90-0.98)$	0.95 (0.91-0.99)	0.19
	Gender (male)	1.32 (0.51-3.38)			
Food addiction	BMI	1.14 (1.06-1.22)	1.13 (1.05-1.21)	1.14 (1.06-1.22)	0.04
$N_{CC} = 414$	DLQI	1.07 (1.01-1.13)			
$N_{MI} = 502$	PASI	1.02 (0.96-1.07)			
	Depression	1.22 (0.45-3.32)			
	Anxiety	3.92 (1.50-10.24)	3.74 (1.28-10.94)	3.03 (1.10-8.36)	-0.16
	Age	0.94 (0.91-0.97)	0.94 (0.91-0.97)	0.94 (0.92-0.97)	-0.12
	Gender (male)	0.56 (0.25-1.24)			
Drug addiction	BMI	$0.91\ (0.83-0.99)$	$0.92\ (0.84-1.00)$	$0.91\ (0.84-0.99)$	0.07
$N_{CC} = 411$	DLQI	1.07 (1.02-1.12)			
$N_{M} = 502$	PASI	1.04(1.00-1.09)			
	Depression	2.56 (1.21-5.38)		2.66 (1.23-5.77)	N/A
	Anxiety	2.42 (1.09-5.38)	3.81 (1.54-9.42)		N/A
$\overline{OR} = odds ratio, CI = confid$	ence interval; $CC = c$	complete-case (cases with 1	missing values were exclude	ed); MI = multiple imputation	i; m = number of imputatic

BMI = Body-Mass-Index; DLQI=Dermatology Life Quality Index; PASI = Psoriasis Area and Severity Index. N/A = Not applicable Significant results printed bold.

359 Appendix S1. Supplementary information on questionnaire methodology

Dermatology Life Quality Index 360 Disease-specific quality of life was measured using the Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI; 361 Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.75-0.92$) [1–3]. It is a commonly used questionnaire including 10 questions such as 362 363 'Over the last week, how itchy, sore, painful, or stinging has your skin been?' and 'Over the last week, 364 how much has your skin created problems with your partner or any of your close friends or relatives?'. 365 Questions can be answered on a scale ranging from 'not at all' (0) to 'very much' (3) and the scale ranges from a minimum of 0 to a maximum of 30. Overall, the range from 0 to 1 indicates 'no effect at 366 all on patient's life', while 2 to 5 indicates a mild, 6 to 10 a moderate, 11 to 20 a large, and 21 to 30 an 367 368 extremely large effect on the patient's life [1]. World Health Organization (WHO)-Five Well-Being Index 369 370 Depression was assessed using the International Classification of Diseases (ICD)-10-based WHO-Five Well-Being Index (WHO5, Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.88$) [4–6]. It is a validated, standardised, and widely used 371 372 questionnaire consisting of five questions on an individual's wellbeing like 'I have felt calm and relaxed' or 'My daily life has been filled with things that interest me'. Answers range from 'All of the time' (5) 373 to 'At no time' (0), and all answers are multiplied by 4 to reach a score between 0 and 100. Lower values 374 375 indicate a poorer outcome for the individual's well-being. When used as a screening tool for depression, it yields a sensitivity of 0.86 and a specificity of 0.81 at a cut-off value of \leq 50 for depression [4] and a 376 377 sensitivity of 0.94 and a specificity of 0.83 for a cut-off value of ≤ 28 for major depression [7]. Therefore, estimations for both cut-offs were calculated. 378

379 Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item Assessment 380 The Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item (GAD-7, Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.89$) scale was used for the assessment of anxiety [8, 9]. It contains seven questions considering the Diagnostic and Statistical 381 Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM)-IV criteria containing questions on topics like having trouble 382 relaxing and becoming easily annoyed or irritable. Each question is ranked on a 4-point Likert scale 383 ranging from 'Not at all' (0) to 'Nearly every day' (3). Accordingly, the score ranges between 0 and 21. 384 It distinguishes between mild (5-9), moderate (10-14), and severe (15-21) anxiety. For further analyses, 385 a cut-off point of 10 or higher was defined to determine the presence of a generalised anxiety disorder. 386 This cut-off value previously showed a sensitivity of 89% and a specificity of 82% [9]. 387

388 CAGE-questionnaire

- 389 A possible alcohol use disorder was determined using the DSM-based CAGE-questionnaire (CAGE, r = 0.89 at presented cut-off) [10, 11]. The letters in CAGE refer to the initial letters of the 4 respective 390 391 questions. The questionnaire addresses an individual's drinking behaviour, focusing on 'Cutting down', 392 'Annoyed by criticism', 'Guilt about drinking', and alcohol as an 'Eye-opener' in the morning. If at least two of these questions were answered with 'yes', the patient was considered as potentially having an 393 394 alcohol use disorder. The questionnaire yields an average sensitivity of 0.71 and specificity of 0.90 [12]. 395 Smoking Smoking was assessed by the question 'Do you smoke?'. Participants were subsequently asked to 396 397 declare whether they smoked 'seldom', 'daily, less than a pack, 'daily, one pack of cigarettes', 'daily, 1.5 packs of cigarettes', or 'daily, more than 2 packs of cigarettes'. A pack of cigarettes was predefined 398 399 as 20 cigarettes. Participants with daily smoking habits were considered as smokers for further analyses. 400 All participants who smoke were additionally asked to declare for how many years they have been smoking. 401
- 402

Gamblers Anonymous 20 Questions

The occurrence of a pathological gambling behaviour was determined using the Gamblers Anonymous 20 Questions (20Q, Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.84$ -0.94) [13, 14]. This questionnaire is comparable to the DSM-IV diagnostic criteria and contains 20 questions on an individual's gambling habits. Answers are dichotomous and add up to a score ranging from 0 (all questions answered no) to 20 (all questions answered yes). The cut-off for this instrument was set to \geq 7 as proposed in the literature [14]. Subsequently, individuals answering seven or more questions with yes were considered addicted to gambling.

410

Compulsive Internet Use Scale

Pathologic behaviour regarding Internet use was quantified by the Compulsive Internet Use Scale (CIUS; Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.93$) [15, 16]. The questionnaire contains 14 questions in the subcategories 'loss of control', 'preoccupation (including behavioural and mental factors)', 'withdrawal symptoms', 'coping or mood modification', and 'conflict'. Answers were given on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 'never' (0) to 'very often' (4). The scale ranges from 0 to 56 and the cut-offs for borderline use and pathological Internet use were ≥ 18 and ≥ 21 , respectively. Higher values indicate higher addiction to the Internet. 418

Modified Yale Food Addiction Scale 2.0

419 For the occurrence of any food addiction or eating disorder, the abbreviated version of the Yale Food Addiction Scale 2.0 (mYFAS 2.0, Kuder–Richardson $\alpha = 0.86$) was used [17]. It contains questions 420 focusing on relevant DSM-V criteria such as 'I ate to the point where I felt physically ill' and 'I tried 421 422 and failed to cut down on or stop eating certain foods'. It describes 11 symptoms, and two items survey impairment and distress. Items are answered using a 7-point scale ranging from 'Never' (0) to 'Daily' 423 424 (7) and classification for relevance differs between items. Therefore, some items are deemed relevant if they are answered with (2) to (7) (e.g. items 6 and 12), while others are deemed relevant if answered 425 with (4) to (7) (e.g. items 4 and 8) or (5) to (7) (e.g. items 2 and 5). The computed score of symptoms 426 ranges from 0 to 11. If at least one item describing impairment or distress was present at least 2 to 3 427 times per week, a score of 2 to 3 could be considered as a mild, a score of 4 to 5 as a moderate, and a 428 429 score of 6 to 11 as a severe eating disorder. For further analyses, the combination of impairment or distress plus a score of 2 or higher was considered 'diagnostic' for a food addiction [17, 18]. 430

431 Drug Abuse Screening Test

The Drug Abuse Screening Test (DAST-10, Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.86-0.94$) was used to screen for drug 432 abuse [19–21]. The DAST-10 contains questions like 'Have you used drugs other than those required 433 434 for medical reasons?' and 'Have you engaged in illegal activities in order to obtain drugs?' and is based 435 on DSM-III criteria. Questions are answered with either yes or no. Item number 3 ('Are you always able 436 to stop using drugs when you want to?') was coded reverse. If participants indicated not using illegal drugs, but responded 'no' to that question, the answer was not counted. Subsequently, no positive answer 437 indicated no problem, whereas 1 to 2 positive answers indicated a low, 3 to 5 a moderate, 6 to 8 a 438 439 substantial, and 9 to 10 a severe problem [19, 20]. For further analyses, a cut-off value of 3 or more positive answers was considered as a positive screening result [20, 21]. 440

441 **<u>REFERENCES</u>**

- 442 1. Finlay AY, Khan GK. Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI)--a simple practical measure for routine clinical
 443 use. Clinical and experimental dermatology 1994; 19: 210–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2230.1994.tb01167.x.
- 444 2. Finlay AY. Current severe psoriasis and the rule of tens. The British journal of dermatology 2005; 152: 861–7.
 445 doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2005.06502.x.
- 3. Basra MKA, Fenech R, Gatt RM, et al. The Dermatology Life Quality Index 1994-2007: a comprehensive
 review of validation data and clinical results. The British journal of dermatology 2008; 159: 997–1035. doi:
 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008.08832.x.
- 449 4. Topp CW, Østergaard SD, Søndergaard S, Bech P. The WHO-5 Well-Being Index: A Systematic Review of the
 450 Literature. Psychother Psychosom 2015; 84: 167–76. doi: 10.1159/000376585.
- 451 5. World Health Organization (WHO). Wellbeing Measures in Primary Health Care: The DepCare Project.; 1998.
- Available at: http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/130750/E60246.pdf (accessed December 3rd, 2019).
- 454 6. Zierau F, Bille A, Rutz W, Bech P. The Gotland Male Depression Scale: A validity study in patients with alcohol
 455 use disorder. Nordic Journal of Psychiatry 2002; 56: 265–71. doi: 10.1080/08039480260242750.
- 456 7. Löwe B. Comparative validity of three screening questionnaires for DSM-IV depressive disorders and 457 physicians? diagnoses. Journal of Affective Disorders 2004; 78: 131–40. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(02)00237-9.
- 8. Löwe B, Decker O, Müller S, et al. Validation and standardization of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder Screener
 (GAD-7) in the general population. Medical care 2008; 46: 266–74. doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e318160d093.
- 9. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder:
 the GAD-7. Archives of internal medicine 2006; 166: 1092–7. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092.
- Mayfield D, McLeod G, Hall P. The CAGE questionnaire: validation of a new alcoholism screening
 instrument. The American journal of psychiatry 1974; 131: 1121–3. doi: 10.1176/ajp.131.10.1121.
- 464 11. Buchsbaum DG, Buchanan RG, Centor RM, et al. Screening for alcohol abuse using CAGE scores and
 465 likelihood ratios. Annals of internal medicine 1991; 115: 774–7. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-115-10-774.
- 466 12. Dhalla S, Kopec JA. The CAGE questionnaire for alcohol misuse: a review of reliability and validity studies.
 467 Clinical and investigative medicine. Medecine clinique et experimentale 2007; 30: 33–41. doi: 10.25011/cim.v30i1.447.
- 469 13. Ursua MP, Uribelarrea LL. 20 Questions of Gamblers Anonymous: A Psychometric Study with Population of
 470 Spain. Journal of gambling studies 1998; 14: 3–15. doi: 10.1023/a:1023033924960.
- 471 14. Toneatto T. Reliability and Validity of the Gamblers Anonymous Twenty Questions. J Psychopathol Behav
 472 Assess 2008; 30: 71–8. doi: 10.1007/s10862-007-9070-0.
- 473 15. Guertler D, Rumpf H-J, Bischof A, et al. Assessment of problematic internet use by the Compulsive Internet
 474 Use Scale and the Internet Addiction Test: a sample of problematic and pathological gamblers. European addiction
 475 research 2014; 20: 75–81. doi: 10.1159/000355076.
- 476 16. Wartberg L, Petersen K-U, Kammerl R, et al. Psychometric validation of a German version of the compulsive
 477 Internet use scale. Cyberpsychology, behavior and social networking 2014; 17: 99–103. doi:
 478 10.1089/cyber.2012.0689.
- 479 17. Schulte EM, Gearhardt AN. Development of the Modified Yale Food Addiction Scale Version 2.0. European
 480 eating disorders review : the journal of the Eating Disorders Association 2017; 25: 302–8. doi: 10.1002/erv.2515.
- 18. Meule A, Müller A, Gearhardt AN, Blechert J. German version of the Yale Food Addiction Scale 2.0:
 Prevalence and correlates of 'food addiction' in students and obese individuals. Appetite 2017; 115: 54–61. doi:
- 483 10.1016/j.appet.2016.10.003.
- 484 19. Skinner HA. The drug abuse screening test. Addictive Behaviors 1982; 7: 363-71. doi: 10.1016/0306485 4603(82)90005-3.
- 20. Yudko E, Lozhkina O, Fouts A. A comprehensive review of the psychometric properties of the Drug Abuse
 Screening Test. Journal of substance abuse treatment 2007; 32: 189–98. doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2006.08.002.
- 488 21. Carey KB, Carey MP, Chandra PS. Psychometric Evaluation of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test
- and Short Drug Abuse Screening Test with Psychiatric Patients in India. The Journal of clinical psychiatry 2003;
- 490 <u>64</u>: 767–74.

Appendix II: Stigmatization caused by hair loss – a systematic literature review

Schielein MC, Tizek, L, Ziehfreund S, Sommer R, Biedermann T, Zink, A. Stigmatization caused by hair loss – a systematic literature review. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges. 2020

Journal der Deutschen Dermatologischen GesellschaftISI Journal Citation Reports 2019Impact Factor: 3.664Ranking: 13/68 (Dermatology)

Review Article



DOI: 10.1111/ddg.14234

Stigmatization caused by hair loss – a systematic literature review

Summary

Maximilian Christian Schielein¹, Linda Tizek¹, Stefanie Ziehfreund¹, Rachel Sommer², Tilo Biedermann¹, Alexander Zink¹

Submitted: 13.8.2019

Accepted: 7.4.2020 Conflict of interest

None.

(1) Department of Dermatology and Allergology, Faculty of Medicine, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany
(2) Institute for Health Services Research in Dermatology and Nursing
(IVDP), University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf (UKE), Hamburg, Germany Hair loss is a symptom that can cause stigmatization and severe impairment of quality of life. The aim of this systematic review was to evaluate the literature on stigmatization of hair loss. Using predefined MeSH terms and keywords, a systematic search was performed in the databases MEDLINE (PubMed), EMBASE, PsycINFO and PsycNET. No time restriction was chosen (last update: May 07, 2019; PROSPERO registration number: CRD42019122966). A total of 98 studies were identified, of which eleven were selected for inclusion in this work. The Hairdex, a questionnaire on disease-specific quality of life, was the most frequently used instrument for the quantitative assessment of stigma. The studies were highly heterogeneous and values for stigmatization of androgenetic alopecia varied widely. However, regardless of the pathogenesis, patients with hair loss often suffer from stigmatization which limits their quality of life. Stigmatization of people with visible skin lesions has often been neglected in clinical practice and in daily contact with affected individuals. Studies that specifically address the stigma of hair loss are rare. Further studies are needed to achieve comparability within pathogeneses as well as with other visible dermatoses in order to better understand the enormous psychosocial burden of hair loss.

Background

Hair loss is, irrespective of its pathogenesis or severity, a cause of distress for affected individuals that is often underestimated by outside parties [1-3]. Pathogeneses vary and include androgenetic alopecia, alopecia areata, diffuse alopecia, and therapy-induced hair loss [4, 5]. While modern therapies are on the advance [6-8], affected individuals often suffer from internalized and external stigmatization in addition to a reduced quality of life and a large number of psychological comorbidities due to their changed appearance [4, 9]. Stigmatization describes a phenomenon that excludes affected individuals from complete social acceptance. This phenomenon may be triggered by the patients themselves (internalized stigma), or it may be induced by their environment (external stigma) [10]. Given the heavy burden on affected individuals, stigmatization may then result in psychological diseases [4] and severely impair the quality of life [11]. Dermatological disorders are common [12], and because of stigmatization in case of visible skin changes and its impact on the life of many affected individuals, the German Federal Ministry of Health (BMG) initiated

the project initiative "In meiner Haut" (in my skin) for the destigmatization of people with visible skin alterations [13]. In this context, an expert panel consisting of patient representatives, scientists and physicians currently develops and scientifically evaluates various formats of intervention in order to reduce stigmatization due to visible skin diseases. For an evidence-based approach, it is essential to obtain an overview of the existing literature to determine the need and plan for interventions, where necessary. Accordingly, it is the aim of this systematic review to compile a structured summary of the literature on internalized and external stigmatization due to hair loss.

Material and Methods

This systematic review was conducted according to the guidelines of *Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses* (PRISMA) [14] and *Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology* (MOOSE) [15]. Prior to execution, the underlying protocol was registered in the PROSPERO database for systematic reviews (registration number: CRD42019122966) [16].

© 2020 The Authors. Journal der Deutschen Dermatologischen Gesellschaft published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Deutsche Dermatologische Gesellschaft. | JDDG | 1610-0379/2020 This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

Search strategy and selection process

The databases MEDLINE (PubMed), EMBASE, PsycIN-FO, and PsycNET were searched systematically by means of predefined search terms consisting of *Medical Subject Headings (MeSH-terms)* terms and other selected keywords. The following search terms were used: "*alopecia*", "*stigma*", and "*humans*", as well as corresponding alternative terms (Table 1). In addition, the source references of the full publications in the last stage of the selection process were manually searched for additional suitable publications. No time restriction was chosen (last update: May 07, 2019). All identified articles were assessed by two independent reviewers (MS and LT; both MPH and PhD students). In phase I of the selection process, titles and abstracts were read and evaluated based on predefined criteria. In phase II, the full texts of those studies assessed as relevant during phase I were evaluated and reviewed with respect to inclusion and exclusion criteria (Figure 1). Discrepancies were discussed and, in case of disagreement, a consensus was reached in consultation with a third reviewer (AZ; PD Dr. Dr. med., MPH; senior physician). If the full text was not available, the corresponding author was contacted by e-mail.

 Table 1
 Conception of the used search term according to respective guidelines.

Core concepts	Concept 1	Concept 2	Concept 3	Concept 4
	Participants	Exposure	Outcome	Language
Keywords and MeSH terms used for search	 Adolescent Adult Aged Child Female Humans Male Middle Aged Young Adult 	 Alopecia Alopecia Areata Alopecia Areata totalis Alopecia Areata universalis Alopecia Areata/epidemiology Alopecia Areata/epidemiology* Alopecia Areata/mental health* Alopecia Areata/psychology* Alopecia areolaris syphilitica Alopecia/chemically induced* Alopecia/psychology* Alopecia/rehabilitation* Androgenetic Alopecia Bald Effluvium Frontal fibrosing alopecia Hair Loss Ophiasis Postmenopausal frontal fibrosing alopecia Telogen effluvium Trichotillomania 	 Internalised Stigma Internalized Stigma Perceived stigma Self-Stigma Social Stigma* Stereotyping Stigma Stigma, social Stigmata Stigmatisation Stigmatization Stigmatize 	– English – German
Combined search term	(Adolescent OR Adult OR Adult) AND (Internalised Stigma* OR Stereotyping OR Stigmatisation OR Sti cia areata universalis OR areata/ psychology* OR a induced* OR alopecia/ p head OR bald OR effluvio tal fibrosing alopecia OR	Aged OR Child OR Female OR Humar Stigma OR Internalized Stigma OR Per OR Stigma OR Stigma, social OR Stig gmatize) AND (alopecia OR alopecia a alopecia areata/epidemiology OR alop alopecia areata/ therapy* OR alopecia sychology* OR alopecia/ rehabilitatior um OR frontal fibrosing alopecia OR ha telogen effluvium OR Trichotillomania	ns OR Male OR Middle Age rceived stigma OR Self-Stig mata OR Stigmatising OR S reata OR alopecia areata to becia areata/mental health areolar syphilitic OR alope of OR androgenetic alopec air loss OR ophiasis postme a) AND ((english [language	d OR Young Ima OR Social Stigmatization otalis OR alope- * OR alopecia cia/chemically ia OR bald enopausal fron- e]) OR (german

2 © 2020 The Authors. Journal der Deutschen Dermatologischen Gesellschaft published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Deutsche Dermatologische Gesellschaft. | JDDG | 1610-0379/2020



Figure 1 Flowchart with counts of the literature used at any time during the literature search.

Inclusion criteria

All study designs (quantitative and qualitative studies) were considered for this review. Studies were assessed as relevant during phase I and phase II if they (i) addressed external or internalized stigmatization of individuals with hair loss, or (ii) included health-related stigma due to hair loss as dependent or independent variable.

Exclusion criteria

Studies were excluded in phase II if they (i) were not available in the English or German language, (ii) consisted of an editorial, comment, or study protocol, (iii) did not present any own data, or (iv) addressed exclusively stigma not attributed to hair loss (for example, stigmatization due to gender, sexuality, or ethnic group).

Data collection and quality assessment

The data extraction and study assessment described below was performed independently by both MS and LT. Where present, the following data were extracted from each study: title, last name of first author, year of publication, type of article (full publication/abstract), study design, methodology and instruments of data acquisition, patient number, and collected outcome variables.

All included cross-sectional studies were assessed by two authors (MS, LT) with the checklist *Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology* (STROBE) [17]. Qualitative studies were assessed with the checklist *Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research* (COREQ) [18]. The development version of the STROBE checklist for conference abstracts was used to assess publications only available as abstracts [17].

The quality of a study was assessed based on the proportion of described subitems considered relevant and reported in the corresponding checklist: A (very good) > 80 %, B (good) 80-50 % and C (too inaccurate) < 50 % [19]. In case of discrepancy, the two quality assessments were discussed and, if no consensus was reached, AZ was included in the final decision. The *interrater* reliability between MS and LT was 54.5 %, and any disagreement could be resolved without assistance by AZ. Exclusion due to inferior quality of articles was not predefined.

Results

The systematic literature search in the four databases identified 98 publications. After exclusion of publications based on titles and abstracts, 16 articles remained for examination of the full texts. Another study was identified by manual search of the reference lists in the inspected full publications. After evaluation of the full texts, eleven studies were included in this review (Figure 1).

The characteristics of the included studies and their associated authors are described in Table 2. The majority of the articles came from Europe (5/11) and Turkey (3/11) and were predominantly published in dermatological (5/11) and psychological (3/11) journals. The average number of authors per publication was 5.5, and most first authors were affiliated with a dermatological or psychological institution (36.4 % each). The median impact factor of the included scientific journals was 3.117 with a range from 0.884 to 8.017. The articles were published in ten different journals. Two of the identified articles were published in the *International Journal of Trichology* (Table 2). The included publications comprised two poster abstracts [20, 21], three qualitative studies [22–24], five quantitative cross-sectional surveys [25–29], and

General characteri	stics of the included articles		n (%)
Authors	Number of authors	1-3	3 (27.3)
		4-6	4 (36.4)
		> 6	4 (36.4)
	Countries of institutions of the respective first authors	Europe	5 (45.5)
		Germany	1 (9.1)
		France	1 (9.1)
		Netherlands	1 (9.1)
		Italy	1 (9.1)
		United Kingdom	1 (9.1)
		India	1 (9.1)
		Tunisia	1 (9.1)
		Turkey	3 (27.3)
		USA	1 (9.1)
Scientific journals	Topics of scientific journals	Dermatology	5 (45.5)
		Psychology	3 (27.3)
		Oncology	2 (18.2)
		Patient-centered medicine	1 (9.1)
	Titles of scientific journals	International Journal of Trichology	2 (18.2)
		Anais Brasileiros De Dermatologia	1 (9.1)
		British Journal of Dermatology	1 (9.1)
		Cancer Nursing	1 (9.1)
		European Journal of Cancer	1 (9.1)
		European Psychiatry	1 (9.1)
		Health Psychology	1 (9.1)
		JAMA Dermatology	1 (9.1)
		Journal of Investigative Dermatology	1 (9.1)
		Patient Education and Counseling	1 (9.1)
	Impact factor 2017 (median, range)		3.177 (0.884–8.107)

Table 2 Overview over the characteristics of included articles and authors (n = 11).

one retrospective cohort study, which, however, presented only a cross-sectional report on stigmatization [30]. Subdivided according to the pathogenesis underlying hair loss, five studies focused on therapy-induced hair loss (chemotherapy or endocrine therapy) [20, 22–24, 30], four on androgenetic alopecia [25, 27–29], three on alopecia areata [21, 25, 29], and one on diffuse alopecia [28] (Table 3).

Measuring instruments

The Hairdex [11] was used in four of the eight quantitative studies and thus the most frequently utilized instrument [25, 27, 28, 30]. It consists of 48 questions, such as "The condition of my hair impairs my societal and social life" or "The condition of my hair makes it more difficult for me to achieve as much as usual", and is specifically concerned with the impairment of the quality of life due to hair loss. The factor of stigmatization is evaluated with a subscale consisting of eight questions (Cronbach's α of 0.68 [11]). For each question, affected individuals assess on a five-step Likert scale to what degree statements such as "The condition of my hair is disfiguring me" apply to them. Subsequently, the achieved scores for both total scale and individual subscales are linearly transformed into a value range from 0–100 with higher values indicating more severe impairment.

Only three studies used measuring instruments specifically developed for measuring stigma. Specifically, the *Internalized Stigma Scale* (ISS, Cronbach's α for psoriasis: 0.65–0.78) [21], the *Feelings of Stigmatization Questionnaire* (Cronbach's α for alopecia areata: 0.93) [26], and a combination consisting of a modified Stroop test and two approach-avoidance tasks [29] were used. In one poster abstract, the measuring instrument used for the determination of stigmatization was not comprehensible [20]. The categorization of the measuring instruments with respect to assessment of internalized and external stigma is depicted in Table 4.

Alopecia areata and androgenetic alopecia

A study by Temel et al. [21] showed a significant correlation between stigmatization due to alopecia areata and both the *Dermatology Life Quality Index* (DLQI; r = 0.508) and general mental health measured with the *General Health Questionnaire* (GHQ; r = 0.329). The scores for internalized stigmatization measured with the ISS [31] were comparable to the scores of patients with acne vulgaris and higher than those of patients with vitiligo (59.5 vs. 59.5 vs. 51.7) [21].

In another study, patients with various forms of hair loss (54 % alopecia universalis, 18 % alopecia totalis, 26 % alopecia areata, 2 % androgenetic alopecia) and their partners were examined by a combination of a modified Stroop test and two approach-avoidance tasks to quantify internalized and external stigma. The results of this study indicate that patients with hair loss are affected more by internalized stigmatization while patients with psoriasis rather react to stimuli that imply external stigma [29].

A third study compared alopecia areata and androgenetic alopecia [25]. Although, based on the Hairdex, patients with alopecia areata report a lower impairment of their quality of life (57.0 vs. 68.4; p = 0.025), no statistically significant difference was found on the stigmatization subscale (4.7 vs. 5.6; p = 0.372). Overall, there was a correlation between disease duration of alopecia areata and a higher impairment of the quality of life due to stigmatization (r = 0.54; p = 0.001). In both groups, women seem to experience more stigmatization, although this finding was not significant [25]. Moreover, when directly compared to patients with psychiatric diseases, such as depression or anxiety disorders, patients with alopecia areata showed a higher degree of stigmatization (74.1 \pm 23.5 vs. 52.0 \pm 24.3; p < 0.01) [26].

According to a study by Sawant et al. [27] that addressed androgenetic alopecia exclusively in men, younger and less severely affected men were less impaired by stigmatization [Hairdex subscale: 13.2 vs. 13.9 and 13.0 vs. 13.9] [27]. Another study on women with diffuse or androgenetic alopecia showed that patients with a highly visible form of diffuse alopecia were more severely affected by stigmatization than those with mild alopecia (37.8 vs. 16). The perceived stigmatization of affected patients increased steadily with increasing severity of androgenetic alopecia (20.1 to 26.9) [28].

Therapy-induced alopecia

Approximately half of the studies (5/11) addressed hair loss induced either by preceding chemotherapy for various tumors [20, 22–24] or endocrine therapy for breast cancer [30]. The quantitative assessments showed that 30.4 % of the patients considered hair loss as the most distressing side effect and that loss of hair resulted in stigmatization with impaired social interactions in 45.8 % of the patients [20]. Moreover, Freites-Martinez et al. [30] observed a mean Hairdex score of 14.6 (± 17.0) on the subscale for stigmatization while the score for the total Hairdex was 25.6 (± 14.5). Quantitative studies indicated psychological stress due to stigmatization, too. For example, patients were cited with statements such as "I think the worst thing that bothered me was people used to look at me and be sort of "aah." And then they sort of say, "for the grace of God it's not me" ... " (female patient, 61 years, England) [23]. The experienced stigmatization was also described by statements such as "Our cultural environment extremely values women's [healthy] looks and it doesn't allow us to show ourselves as we are ... " (female patient, 59 years, Italy) [24]. Affected individuals often try to hide the occurring hair loss [22]. This was often done by

First author, year of publication, quality*	Reference	Study design		Subjects			Methods a	nd results
			Number of participants (n)	Type of hair loss	Percentage of female subjects	Mean age in years (range)	Measuring instruments'	Relevant results ²
Baati et al. 2010 B	[20]	Quantitative cross-sectional study, questi- onnaire-based	24 participants	Chemotherapy- induced alopecia	44.8 %	45.9	 Rosenberg's Self- Esteem scale Bruchon-Schweit- Zer's Body-Image Questionnaire (QIC) Hospital Anxiety and Depression scale (HAD) Brief cope 	45.8% of the affected individuals suffered from stigma due to hair loss impairing their so- cial interactions. 30.4 % of the patients specified alopecia as the most distressing side effect of chemotherapy.
Freites-Marti- nez et al. 2017 C	[30]	Quantitative lon- gitudinal study, only cross-sectio- nal acquisition of stigmatization, questionnaire-ba- sed	112 participants (52 with infor- mation about stigmatization)	Alopecia induced by endocrine therapy	100 %	59.8 (34–90)	 classification of alopecia according to severity Folliscope 2.8 hair density Hairdex response to therapy 	The mean score on the Hairdex scale was $25.6 (\pm 14.5)$. The score on the stigmatizati- on subscale was $14.6 (\pm 17.0)$.
Gonul et al. 2018 B	[25]	Quantitative cross-sectional study, questi- onnaire-based	138 participants	Alopecia areata (n = 56) Androgenetic alopecia (n = 82)	44.6 % 63.4 %	30.1	 Hairdex a Turkish instrument for quality of life (TLQ) 	No significant differen- ce was found for the stigmatization subscale [4.65 vs.5.60]. Women seemed to suffer more severely from stigma. Patients suffering from alopecia already for some time reported significantly higher stigmatization.

6

Table 3 Characteristics of included studies.

© 2020 The Authors. Journal der Deutschen Dermatologischen Gesellschaft published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Deutsche Dermatologische Gesellschaft. | JDDG | 1610-0379/2020

116

First author, year of publication, quality*	Reference	Study design		Subjects			Methods a	nd results
			Number of participants (n)	Type of hair loss	Percentage of female subjects	Mean age in years (range)	Measuring instruments'	Relevant results ²
Kacar et al. 2016 B	[26]	Quantitative cross-sectional study, questi- onnaire-based	82 participants, 40 with hair loss	Alopecia areata	35.0 %	28.4	 Feelings of Stigmati- zation Questionnaire by Ginsburg and Link 	Patients with alopecia areata seem to be affected more severely by stigmatization than patients with psychiatric diseases.
Rosman 2004 B	[22]	Qualitative study, guideline-based	35 participants	Chemotherapy- induced alopecia	74.3 %	2 groups: 51.5 and 58	 explorative study disease history signs of fatigue the topic of hair loss arose spontaneously 	Affected individuals report of hiding and concealing their hair loss to avoid stigma.
Sawant et al. 2010 B	[27]	Quantitative cross-sectional study, questi- onnaire-based	37 participants	Androgenetic alopecia	% 0	N/N	 lifestyle indices Hairdex Symptom Check List-90-R (SCL-90-R) Stressful Life Events Scale 	Young men (15 to 25 ye- ars) [13.17 vs. 13.90] and less affected men [12.99 vs. 13.94] seem to be less affected by stigma.
Schmidt et al. B	[28]	Quantitative cross-sectional study, questi- onnaire-based	50 participants (44 with infor- mation about stigmatization)	Diffuse or andro- genetic alopecia	100 %	42.3 (19–66)	 Hairdex Berne Coping Forms Short version of Social Support Questionnaire 	Increased perception of stigmatization in female patients with highly vi- sible compared to slight- ly visible diffuse alopecia [37.78 vs. 16.89]. In androgenetic alopecia, the perceived stigmati- zation is increasing with severity [20.08–26.89].

7

Table 3 Continu	ued.							
First author, year of publication, quality*	Reference	Study design		Subjects			Methods a	nd results
			Number of participants (n)	Type of hair loss	Percentage of female subjects	Mean age in years (range)	Measuring instruments'	Relevant results ²
Temel et al. B	[12]	Quantitative cross-sectional study, questi- onnaire-based	150 participants, 50 with hair loss	Alopecia areata	N/A	Υ/Υ Υ	 Internalized Stigma Scale (ISS) Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI) Perceived Health Status (PHS) General Health Questionnaire (GHQ) Acne Quality of Life Scale (AQOL) 	The mean score on the Internalized Stigma Scale (ISS) of patients with alopecia areata was comparable with that of acne vulgaris and higher than that of patients with vitiligo (59.46 vs. 59.48 vs. 51.68). For patients with alope- cia, a significant correla- tion was found between the scores on the ISS and both the disea- se-specific quality of life (DLQI: r = 0.508) and general health (GHQ; r = 0.329).
Trusson et al. 2016 C	[23]	Qualitative study, guideline-based	24 participants	Chemothera- py-induced alopecia	100 %	54 (42-80)	 effects of the cance- rous disease on the body and interperso- nal relationships statements on hair loss, wigs, and baldness narrative analysis sociological approach 	It seems that the visibi- lity of cancer, expressed by the occurrence of hair loss, affects the interpersonal contact.

8 © 2020 The Authors. Journal der Deutschen Dermatologischen Gesellschaft published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Deutsche Dermatologische Gesellschaft. | JDDG | 1610-0379/2020

First author, year of publication, quality*	Reference	Study design		Subjects			Methods a	nd results
			Number of participants (n)	Type of hair loss	Percentage of female subjects	Mean age in years (range)	Measuring instruments'	Relevant results ²
van Beugen et al. 2016 A Schmitt et al. B	[29]	Quantitative cross-sectional study Qualitative study, guideline-based	150 participants, 50 with hair loss and 47 partners of patients 20 participants	 54 % alopecia universalis 18 % alopecia totalis 26 % alopecia areata 2 % androge- netic alopecia Chemothera- py-induced 	84.0 %	52.2 53 (34-70)	 modified Stroop test (attention bias, internalized stigma) approach-avoidance tasks (behavioral bias, external bias, external stigma) pias, external astigma) pias, external bias, external bias, external bias, external categradiance program effects of hair loss internetative 	Individuals affected by alopecia seem to be preferentially affected by internalized stigma, while patients with pso- riasis rather responded to stimuli originating from other persons indi- cating external stigma. Therapy-accompanying programs supporting women in case of hair loss could help them
ALL- 11/0							phenomenological analysis	symptoms of hair loss.
Abbr.: N/A, not *Quality: A > 8 'Measuring inst	: available. 5 %, B 50–80 :ruments that	%, and C < 50 % of tl t address stigmatizati	he criteria of the re on are printed in b	spective guidelines old.	met.			
² All results rela aln this publica	ted to sugma tion, no meas	tization due to hair ic suring instrument for	oss were consigered detection of stigm	d as reievant. ia was identified.				

© 2020 The Authors. Journal der Deutschen Dermatologischen Gesellschaft published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Deutsche Dermatologische Gesellschaft. | JDDG | 1610-0379/2020

Instrument	Use	External stigmatization	Internalized stigmatization	Not clearly specified*
Hairdex	[25, 27, 28, 30]			Х
Feelings of Stigmatization Questionnaire	[26]	Х	х	
Internalized Stigma Scale (ISS)	[21]	Х	х	
Modified Stroop test	[29]		х	
Approach-avoidance tasks	[29]	X		

Table 4 Measuring instruments used for the quantitative depiction of stigma and their dimensions in relation to stigmatization.

*From the information provided in the literature, it is not possible to conclude whether internalized or external stigmatization is measured.

wearing a wig and was associated with positive statements such as "I'd had enough sort of that I did get a wig which was great." (Female patient, 61 years, England) [23]. In this context, an accompanying program for patients with therapy-induced alopecia was described as a potentially positive addendum for improving quality of life and minimizing internalized stigma [24].

Discussion

To our knowledge, this systematic review is the first work providing an overview of the evidence of stigmatization in individuals with hair loss. In the available literature, only eleven publications were assessed as relevant for this topic. Irrespective of the cause of hair loss, it is, however, evident that affected individuals frequently suffer from internalized and external stigmatization. With respect to internalized stigma, hair loss is comparable to acne vulgaris and psychiatric diseases, such as depression and anxiety disorders. Internalized stigma is, however, more pronounced than, for example, in vitiligo.

Due to the fact that hair loss may occur as a symptom of several diseases, based on various pathogeneses and with different severity, the identified studies were very heterogeneous [5]. When comparing the studies, it became evident that the reported diminished quality of life due to stigma, as measured by the Hairdex, varied not only between pathologies but also between study populations (alopecia areata: 4.7 [25]; diffuse alopecia: 16.9 to 37.8 [28]; androgenetic alopecia: 5.6 [25] to 20.1 and 26.9, respectively [28]). Based on these findings, patients with diffuse alopecia [28] and women [25] seem to suffer more severely from stigmatization. Furthermore, almost half of the studies addressed hair loss as consequence of an already existing and treated disease, that is, hair loss as side effect. Given that this aspect is important for interpretation of the study results, the corresponding results are discussed separately.

Measuring instruments

Most studies used the Hairdex developed by Fischer et al. (Table 3) [11]. Given that this is a scale for assessing the quality of life that measures stigmatization only as subscale, these results are difficult to compare with the Feelings of Stigmatization Questionnaire [26] or the ISS [21], which are specifically designed to assess stigmatization. While the overall construct of the Hairdex is validated by DLQI and GHQ, it should be taken into account that no comparable scale was used to measure stigmatization when interpreting the subscale for stigmatization. Furthermore, the Hairdex has only been validated in German, though it was also used in other languages. In addition, none of the included publications gave any information on the transformation of the scores for total scale or subscales to the value range of 0-100. The corresponding authors were contacted to clarify this aspect. Three of the four authors responded. One author confirmed transformation of the subscale [28], while two authors reported that they did not make any transformation [25, 27]. This reduces both the informative value and the comparability of the results, thus excluding direct comparison of the studies and adequate individual evaluation of the scores and in consequence immensely diminishing the informative value of this review. Furthermore, the statement "So far, I have not been taken seriously at all by my physician" within the stigmatization subscale implies a need of action with respect to recognition of the psychosocial burden by medical personnel. However, exact scores for this question were not reported.

With respect to the stigma-specific questionnaires, it should be noted that the ISS was developed for assessing stigmatization in psychiatric diseases and has not yet been validated in the field of dermatology. Within the present sample, however, it showed plausible scores and good internal consistency, in turn suggesting good reliability [21]. In addition, the *Feelings of Stigmatization Questionnaire* was utilized, a tool that has been used for skin diseases in the past. While its subscales have been validated for patients with psoriasis and show good consistency [32], they have no proven quality in the two study groups of psychiatric diseases and alopecia. This must be taken into account when interpreting the results. Another measuring instrument was the combination of a modified Stroop test and two approach-avoidance tasks. These instruments are embedded in psychological behavioral research and are well suited to assess stigmatization and its nature – internalized or external – without using a questionnaire [29]. In summary, measuring instruments for both external and internalized stigmatization are covered in the literature. However, these are either not validated or not easily comparable due to the heterogeneity of the studies.

Hair loss as symptom

Overall, the scores for the subscale of the Hairdex questionnaire [11] vary strongly between both the various pathogeneses and the various study populations. According to these results, patients with diffuse alopecia (16.9–37.8) [28] and women (androgenetic alopecia, women vs. men: 6.4 vs. 4.2; p = 0.078) [25] are more severely affected by stigmatization. The comparability of the studies is, however, limited, given that cultural influences, differences in gender distribution, and uncertain methodology regarding the use of the Hairdex may have affected the study outcomes. For example, only in Turkey was more than one of the relevant studies conducted and published. In general, however, the results underscore the psychosocial burden that can be triggered by hair loss [4, 9, 33].

Therapy-induced hair loss – hair loss as adverse event

Only one study used the Hairdex for the quantitative analysis of therapy-induced hair loss [30]. The corresponding score for stigmatization was comparable with the scores for androgenetic alopecia [27] or slightly visible diffuse alopecia [28]. While the heterogeneity of the populations and the use of a modified and non-validated form of the Hairdex have to be taken into account again, the qualitative studies underscore the findings indicating a high burden due to stigmatization [22– 24]. While qualitative studies also often indicate the perceived stigmatization due to stares of others, no quantitative studies on this aspect exist in the literature. Furthermore, there are no quantitative differentiations between tumor classes or strategies of how patients have dealt with stigmatization.

Limitations and integration into the general context

Possible limitations of this review are the low number of publications, a potential publication bias and the lack of

studies on minors, although it is well-known that hair loss may also occur at this vulnerable age [34]. Furthermore, the quality of the included studies varied strongly, which may have affected the informative value of this review. However, we decided against retrospective exclusion of qualitatively poor studies, given that also these studies have a certain informative value and the available data are already limited. Given that all studies have been evaluated by scientists working in related disciplines and published in peer-reviewed journals with impact factor that are listed in the common medical databases, reliability of the data and an adequate standard may be assumed. Another aspect is the frequent measurement of stigmatization by means of the Hairdex, a questionnaire addressing quality of life [11]. While this is validated as instrument overall and well-accepted based on the frequent use, the informative value of the individual subscales - such as stigmatization - is not guaranteed. Furthermore, methodological information, for example whether the scores for the subscales were transformed into the standardized range from 0-100, is largely missing in the existing literature. If this aspect is viewed in connection with the large differences regarding the scores for the stigmatization subscale between studies (4.7 [25] to 37.8 [28]), it can be assumed that these have no quantitative informative value, either compared with each other or separately. Due to the lacking methodological details, these scores can only be regarded as a trend. Given that this strong limitation applies to four of the eight included quantitative surveys, however, this impairs the generalization of the presented results. Furthermore, these are the only four studies using the same tool for quantification of stigmatization and might, therefore, be useful for quantitative comparison.

In conclusion, individuals with hair loss suffer, irrespective of the specific cause, from internalized and external stigmatization resulting in massive impairment of their quality of life. Despite the resulting high psychological burden for the affected individuals, stigmatization is currently assessed only as one of many factors limiting the quality of life. Specific studies on the topic of stigmatization due to hair loss are rare; longitudinal studies do not exist, although they are strongly recommended. Additionally, methodologically high-quality and reproducible studies are needed that allow comparison between pathogeneses and with other diseases with visible changes are required in order to better assess the stigmatization and the high psychosocial burden caused by hair loss.

Acknowledgements

Open access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

11

Correspondence to

Priv.-Doz. Dr. Dr. med. Alexander Zink, MPH Department of Dermatology and Allergology Technical University of Munich

Biedersteiner Straße 29

80802 Munich, Germany

E-mail: alexander.zink@tum.de

References

- 1 Kanti V, Röwert-Huber J, Vogt A, Blume-Peytavi U. Vernarbende Alopezien. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 2018; 16(4): 435–63.
- 2 Katoulis AC, Christodoulou C, Liakou AI et al. Quality of life and psychosocial impact of scarring and non-scarring alopecia in women. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 2015; 13(2): 137–42.
- 3 Seth D, Cheldize K, Brown D, Freeman EF. Global burden of skin disease: Inequities and innovations. Curr Dermatol Rep 2017; 6(3): 204–10.
- 4 Harth W. Psychosomatik der Kopfhaut. Hautarzt 2017; 68(6): 445–8.
- 5 Wolff H, Fischer TW, Blume-Peytavi U. The diagnosis and treatment of hair and scalp diseases. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2016; 113(21): 377–86.
- 6 Adil A, Godwin M. The effectiveness of treatments for androgenetic alopecia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2017; 77(1): 136–141.e5.
- 7 Blumeyer A, Tosti A, Messenger A et al. Evidence-based (S₃) guideline for the treatment of androgenetic alopecia in women and in men. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 2011; 9 (Suppl 6): S1–57.
- 8 Trüeb RM, Dias MFRG. Alopecia areata: a comprehensive review of pathogenesis and management. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2018; 54(1): 68–87.
- 9 Hunt N, McHale S. The psychological impact of alopecia. BMJ 2005; 331(7522): 951–3.
- 10 Goffman E. Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity. London: Penguin Books, 1963.
- 11 Fischer TW, Schmidt S, Strauss B, Elsner P. Hairdex. Hautarzt 2001; 52(3): 219–27.
- 12 Tizek L, Schielein MC, Seifert F et al. Skin diseases are more common than we think: screening results of an unreferred population at the Munich Oktoberfest. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019; 33(7):1421–8.
- 13 Augustin M, Sommer R, Topp J et al. Umsetzung der WHO Psoriasis-Resolution in die Öffentlichkeit: Ein bundesweites Programm gegen Stigmatisierung bei chronisch sichtbaren Hauterkrankungen. Available from https://www.egms.de/static/de/ meetings/dkvf2018/18dkvf411.shtml (Last accessed May 7, 2019).
- 14 Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 2009; 6(7): e1000097.
- 15 Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC et al. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA 2000; 283(15): 2008–12.
- 16 National Institute for Health Research (NHS). PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews.

Available form https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/ (Last accessed May 7, 2019).

- 17 vonElm E, Altman DG, Egger M et al. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. J Clin Epidemiol 2008; 61(4): 344–9.
- 18 Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007; 19(6): 349–57.
- 19 Ziehfreund S, Schuster B, Zink A. Primary prevention of keratinocyte carcinoma among outdoor workers, the general population and medical professionals: a systematic review updated for 2019. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019;33(8): 1477–95.
- 20 Baati I, Mnif L, Masmoudi J et al. Psychological impact of chemotherapy induced alopecia. Eur Psychiatry 2010; 25: 869.
- 21 Temel AB, Bozkurt S, Alpsoy E. Internalized stigma in acne vulgaris, vitiligo and alopecia areata. J Invest Dermatol 2017; 137(10): S197.
- 22 Rosman S. Cancer and stigma: experience of patients with chemotherapy-induced alopecia. Patient Educ Couns 2004; 52(3): 333–9.
- 23 Trusson D, Pilnick A. The role of hair loss in cancer identity: Perceptions of chemotherapy-induced alopecia among women treated for early-stage breast cancer or ductal carcinoma in situ. Cancer Nurs 2017; 40(2): E9–E16.
- 24 Zannini L, Verderame F, Cucchiara G et al. "My wig has been my journey's companion": perceived effects of an aesthetic care programme for Italian women suffering from chemotherapyinduced alopecia. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2012; 21(5): 650–60.
- 25 Gonul M, Cemil BC, Ayvaz HH et al. Comparison of quality of life in patients with androgenetic alopecia and alopecia areata. An Bras Dermatol 2018; 93(5): 651–8.
- 26 Kacar SD, Soyucok E, Bagcioglu E et al. The perceived stigma in patients with alopecia and mental disorder: a comparative study. Int J Trichology 2016; 8(3): 135–40.
- 27 Sawant N, Chikhalkar S, Mehta V et al. Androgenetic alopecia: quality-of-life and associated lifestyle patterns. Int J Trichology 2010; 2(2): 81–5.
- 28 Schmidt S, Fischer TW, Chren MM et al. Strategies of coping and quality of life in women with alopecia. Br J Dermatol 2001; 144(5): 1038–43.
- 29 van Beugen S, Maas J, van Laarhoven AIM et al. Implicit stigmatization-related biases in individuals with skin conditions and their significant others. Health Psychol 2016; 35(8): 861–5.
- 30 Freites-Martinez A, Shapiro J, Chan D et al. Endocrine therapyinduced alopecia in patients with breast cancer. JAMA Dermatol 2018; 154(6): 670–5.
- 31 Tanabe Y, Hayashi K, Ideno Y et al. The Internalized Stigma of Mental Illness (ISMI) scale: validation of the Japanese version. BMC Psychiatry 2016; 16.
- 32 Ginsburg IH, Link BG. Feelings of stigmatization in patients with psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol 1989; 20(1): 53–63.
- 33 Russo PM, Fino E, Mancini C et al. HrQoL in hair loss-affected patients with alopecia areata, androgenetic alopecia and telogen effluvium: the role of personality traits and psychosocial anxiety. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019; 33(3): 608–11.
- 34 Mandt N, Vogt A, Blume-Peytavi U. Differential diagnosis of hair loss in children. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 2004; 2(6): 399–411.

Acknowledgements

To quote Michael Jordan, one of the greatest men in sports history: 'Talent wins games, but teamwork and intelligence win championships.' I would like to therefore express my deepest gratitude to the great researchers and cooperations with various institutions that accompanied me on my journey towards my Ph.D.

First and foremost, I would like to thank PD Dr. Dr. med. Alexander Zink. Thank you for being an inspiring mentor, a role model in so many ways, and an amazing human being. Your open minded and enthusiastic nature is contagious and helped make every day a joy for working. It is truly impressive how you built your working group from scratch. I would like to simultaneously thank the members of my Ph.D. Thesis Advisory Committee who mentored me throughout the last years: Prof. Dr. Eva Grill and PD Dr. Carla Sabariego, who supervised me from the beginning of this thesis and provided valuable input on my research and study ideas, as well as Prof. Dr. Kilian Eyerich, who supervised me throughout the first half of my Ph.D.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Ulrich Mansmann for providing the opportunity to do my Ph.D. thesis at the IBE. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Magda Radermacher, Monika Darchinger, and Dr. Annette Hartmann for organizing the Ph.D. program and for helping with every one of my questions.

Furthermore, I would like to express gratitude to all members of the working group. I want to thank Linda, Barbara, and Stefanie for not only the opportunity to have worked with three intelligent and supportive friends, but also for the many moments where we lived and laughed together. Together with Alex, you made my Ph.D. studies an unforgettable experience, and all of you became not only unforgettable colleagues but most importantly my friends.

I would like to thank all coauthors and institutions for the valuable collaborations and their consent to use the presented publications as part of my Ph.D. thesis. Most prominently, I would like to thank the psoriasis online self-help group 'Psoriasis Netz' and the dermatology network 'Psoriasis-Praxisnetz Süd-West e.V.'.

I would like to use this last position as an opportunity to thank my friends and family. I want to express my deepest thanks to my parents, my grandmother, and my godparents, who all supported me throughout my life and especially in hard times. Finally, I would like to thank my dearest friends, near or far, and my girlfriend, whom I know I can always count on and to whom I am always grateful.

Scientific Publications

- **Schielein MC**, Tizek L, Ziehfreund S, Sommer R, Biedermann T, Zink A. Stigmatization caused by hair loss a systematic literature review. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 2020.
- Tizek L, Schielein MC, Zink A. PeakPASI: A new measurement tool in psoriasis care. J Am Acad Dermatol 2020.
- Tizek L, Schielein MC, Zink, A. PeakPASI: A new measurement tool in psoriasis care. J Am Acad Dermatol 2020;
- **Schielein MC**, Tizek L, Schuster B, Ziehfreund S, Liebram C, Eyerich K et al. Always Online? Internet Addiction and Social Impairment in Psoriasis across Germany. J Clin Med 2020; 9(6).
- Schielein MC, Tizek L, Schuster B, Ziehfreund S, Biedermann T, Zink A. Genital Psoriasis and Associated Factors of Sexual Avoidance - A People-centered Cross-sectional Study in Germany. Acta Derm Venereol 2020; 100(10):adv00151.
- Tizek L, Schielein MC, Berger U, Ege MJ, Schneider S, Zink A. Skin cancer risk and shade: comparing the risk of foresters with other outdoor workers. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2020.
- Tizek L, **Schielein MC**, Berger U, Seifert F, Biedermann T, Böhner A et al. Regional differences in medical needs and care for skin cancer across Bavaria: confronting the gap. Eur J Dermatol 2020.
- Tizek L, **Schielein MC**, Schuster B, Ziehfreund S, Biedermann T, Zink A. Effekte einer unkonventionellen Hautkrebs-Präventionskampagne : Auswirkungen auf das Sonnenschutzverhalten von Außenberufstätigen. Hautarzt 2020; 71(6):455–62.
- Frasheri L, **Schielein MC**, Tizek L, Mikschl P, Biedermann T, Zink A. Great green tea ingredient? A narrative literature review on epigallocatechin gallate and its biophysical properties for topical use in dermatology. Phytother Res 2020.
- Schielein MC, Tizek L, Seifert F, Biedermann T, Zink A. Versorgung von chronisch entzündlichen Hauterkrankungen : Gehen Betroffene zum niedergelassenen Dermatologen? Hautarzt 2019; 70(11):875–82.
- Tizek L, Schielein MC, Seifert F, Biedermann T, Böhner A, Zink A. Response to 'Letter to the editor' by Wienholtz et al. entitled 'The many faces of rosacea: liberal diagnostic criteria have

ramifications on disease prevalence and accuracy'. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019; 33(11):e428.

- Tizek L, **Schielein M**, Rüth M, Ständer S, Pereira MP, Eberlein B et al. Influence of Climate on Google Internet Searches for Pruritus Across 16 German Cities: Retrospective Analysis. J Med Internet Res 2019; 21(7):e13739.
- Tizek L, Schielein MC, Rüth M, Szeimies R-M, Philipp-Dormston WG, Braun SA et al. Interest in Skin Cancer in Urban Populations: A Retrospective Analysis of Google Search Terms in Nine Large German Cities. Acta Derm Venereol 2019; 99(9):797–804.
- Ring J, Zink A, Arents BWM, Seitz IA, Mensing U, Schielein MC et al. Atopic eczema: burden of disease and individual suffering - results from a large EU study in adults. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019; 33(7):1331–40.
- Tizek L, **Schielein M**, Spinner CD, Watzele R, Kratzer P, Böhner A et al. Neue Perspektiven zur Gesundheitsprävention : Prävalenz von Hypertonie, Hypakusis und Gleichgewichtsstörungen beim Münchner Oktoberfest. MMW Fortschr Med 2019; 161(Suppl 4):9–14.
- Tizek L, Schielein MC, Seifert F, Biedermann T, Böhner A, Zink A. Skin diseases are more common than we think: screening results of an unreferred population at the Munich Oktoberfest. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2019; 33(7):1421–8.
- Zink A, **Schielein M**, Wildner M, Rehfuess EA. 'Try to make good hay in the shade it won't work!' A qualitative interview study on the perspectives of Bavarian farmers regarding primary prevention of skin cancer. Br J Dermatol 2019; 180(6):1412–9.
- Zink A, Thomé F, Schielein M, Spinner CD, Biedermann T, Tizek L. Primary and secondary prevention of skin cancer in mountain guides: attitude and motivation for or against participation. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2018; 32(12):2153–61.
- Zink A, Tizek L, **Schielein M**, Böhner A, Biedermann T, Wildner M. Different outdoor professions have different risks - a cross-sectional study comparing non-melanoma skin cancer risk among farmers, gardeners and mountain guides. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2018; 32(10):1695–701.
- **Schielein MC**, Tizek L, Rotter M, Konstantinow A, Biedermann T, Zink A. Guideline-compliant prescription of biologicals and possible barriers in dermatological practices in Bavaria. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2018; 32(6):978–84.

Todorova A, Zink A, Spinner CD, **Schielein M**, Vogelmann R, Weirich G et al. Primary skin manifestation of plasmoblastic lymphoma in an AIDS patient with long-term survival. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2017; 31(10):e428-e429.